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Making health and care information accessible  

We are committed to following the NHS Accessible Information 

Standard. This publication can be made available in alternative 

formats, such as easy read or large print, Braille or audio and 

may be available in alternative languages, upon request. To 

find out more, please contact us:  

wsxccg.contactus-westsussexccg@nhs.net 
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Foreword from the Acting Lay Chair 
and Accountable Officer 
 

Welcome to the NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Annual Report for the 2019/20 financial year. The report gives an overview of what 
the organisation has done, its performance, the challenges faced, as well as a 
detailed analysis of the CCG’s activities and accounts.  It reports on our governance 
processes, assurance and accountability mechanisms, and how we are meeting the 
requirements of the NHS Oversight Framework for CCGs. 
 
Change was the key theme that ran throughout the year within our CCG. In January 
2019, the NHS Long Term Plan set into motion large transformational change within 
the landscape of the NHS. This period also saw the CCG in Coastal West Sussex 
working to understand what this overarching vision meant for our local patients and 
health and care system. At the beginning of 2019, the CCG worked collaboratively 
with patients and stakeholders to further define local need and understand priorities 
at a Sussex-wide and local level.  
 
With the clear vision of the NHS Long Term Plan defined, the CCG was well 
underway to understanding what this meant for local patients and the health and 
care system at the beginning of 2019/20.  
 
Responding to these expectations, during 2019/20 the CCG Governing Body and GP 
Practice membership agreed that the organisation would merge with NHS Crawley 
CCG and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG to form NHS West Sussex CCG. 
This fundamental shift in how future commissioning will be done allows for greater 
integration with local authorities and other partners to commission for improved 
population health outcomes and a reduction in health inequalities. 
 
NHS England (NHSE) recognised the significant improvement the CCG has made 
and in June 2019, the legal directions that have been in place since 2017 were lifted 
reflecting improvements in the governance, capability, capacity, and leadership of 
the organisation. NHSE praised the organisation for its “consistent and confident 
delivery over the past year.” 
 
The CCG has supported the formation of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) across 
Sussex this year and was pleased to be one of the first areas in the country to 
achieve full sign up by local GP practices, proving once again how committed the 
membership is to the ongoing improvement of the NHS for the benefit of local 
patients. These groups of GP practices and community teams are already working 
together to serve our communities. 
 
As with the rest of the health and social care system, the CCG has continued to face 
the challenge of rising demand. Despite the huge pressures placed on the system, 
the CCG has had a successful year in continuing to improve health outcomes and 
the quality of care provided through commissioning, and to make the best, most 
efficient use of the money available to spend on behalf of local populations. The past 
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year has seen commitments to improving mental health services in West Sussex 
with a public consultation on adult mental health and dementia services.  
 
The CCG has also worked with partners in the local authority and Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) to successfully implement a HomeFirst 
model enabling patients to go home earlier from hospital, or to their usual place of 
residence, through extended support from health and social care partners.   
 
Coastal West Sussex has continued to see a growing and ageing population, living 
longer with more complex health conditions. There is an increasingly diverse 
population and the CCG is committed to inclusive commissioning that promotes 
equality and equity of service for all.  
 
Throughout this past year, the CCG has had the privilege of witnessing the strong 
sense of community and partnership working in our patch. The CCG continues to 
take very seriously its duty to involve patients and the public by working 
collaboratively with stakeholders to examine how it can best continue to meet health 
and care needs through service redesign and implementation.  
 
The CCG has worked closely with our PCNs and District and Borough Councils 
through the Local Community Networks focusing on prevention, health and wellbeing 
for our local communities. The development of social prescribing services and a 
mental health project aimed at supporting young people in Worthing and Adur have 
been two positive outcomes of this work.  
 
The ongoing investment in the CCG as an employer is of key importance as we head 
into a new financial year as three CCGs (NHS Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS East 
Sussex CCG and NHS West Sussex CCG), working with a shared vision and 
strategic leadership across Sussex. We would like to take this opportunity to thank 
our staff and partners who have responded proactively as we reorganised ourselves 
internally to develop an operating model that will support new ways of working. We 
share the ambition of creating an inclusive and fair culture in which people feel 
engaged in their work and motivated to deliver the very best for the benefit of our 
population.  
 

 

 

 

 

 
Gill Galliano      Adam Doyle 
Acting Lay Chair     Accountable Officer 
NHS Coastal West Sussex  Chief Executive Officer 
Clinical Commissioning Group  Sussex NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Groups 
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Section 1:  Performance Report 
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Who we are and what we do 
This performance report provides a comprehensive overview of the work of NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 and an 
analysis of its performance during the year and its position at year-end. It also 
describes how the CCG has identified the risks and uncertainties facing it and how 
they have been managed. 
 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is responsible for planning and buying 
(“commissioning”) healthcare services for a population of more than 500,000 people. 
The CCG is a membership organisation made up of 46 GP practices, working across 
six geographical areas, or localities.  
 

 
 
The CCG has a leadership team of local doctors, hospital consultants, and nurses 
who are working alongside an experienced Local Management Team to make sure 
that local services are providing the best possible care for local people. Each year 
the CCG is allocated government money to spend on behalf of its population with the 
purpose of improving the health of the people living in Coastal West Sussex. 
 
The CCG has a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities across its local 
communities, and work is undertaken closely with its partners in order to achieve 
this. 
 
As well as commissioning services, the CCG also monitors the quality of many local 
NHS services. This includes the care and treatment you may need in hospital and in 
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the community such as prescribing, mental health services, and services for people 
living with learning disabilities. 
 
The CCG is committed to ensuring that its public, patients, and carers are at the 
heart of what it does. The CCG aims to be an organisation that takes account of all 
views and experiences and uses what it has heard to inform its plans and influences 
the commissioning of local health services.  
 
In 2019/20, the CCG worked under a shared leadership team in partnership with the 
other six CCGs in Sussex (and NHS East Surrey CCG until October 2019). In June 
2019, the Governing Body agreed that from April 2020 onwards, the CCG would 
merge with the other two CCGs in West Sussex (NHS Crawley CCG and NHS 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG). Across Sussex, the CCG will work in partnership 
with both NHS Brighton and Hove CCG and NHS East Sussex CCG under a single 
strategic commissioner management structure and supporting functions that form 
part of the Integrated Care System (ICS) for Sussex. 
 
These new ways of working will enable the CCG to commission in an integrated way 
with its local authorities. This will enable it to commission more effectively and 
efficiently for local populations across established and recognisable footprints, and to 
commission and plan strategically across a wider footprint. 
 

Our partnership working 

In 2019, the CCG supported the formation of PCNs. These are partnerships of GP 
practices and community teams working together to serve communities of around 
30,000 to 50,000 patients. They bring together multidisciplinary teams (MDTs) with a 
range of staff, such as GPs, pharmacists, district nurses, dementia workers, 
physiotherapists, social care and voluntary sector workers. 
 
The CCG is a key member of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), 
which leads on improving co-ordination of commissioning across the NHS, social 
care and public health services. The HWB brings together elected members, council 
directors, Healthwatch, the community and voluntary sectors to work together and 
support one another to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and 
reduce health inequalities. 
 
The CCG’s main provider organisations are: 
 

 Our member GP practices (Coastal West Sussex GPs and primary healthcare 
professionals) and the GP Federation, Innovations in Primary Care 

 Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) 

 Integrated Care 24 (IC24) 

 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SCAS) 

 South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb) 

 Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust (SCFT) 

 Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT) 

 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT) 

 West Sussex County Council (WSCC) 
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Sussex Health and Care Partnership 
Health and care organisations across the county have been working together as the 
Sussex Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) to ensure there is a joined up and 
consistent approach to the care for the population.  

The CCG has made significant progress with this collaborative way of working and 
the system was one of the most improved and best performing in the country during 
the year in the areas of financial stability, quality of provider services and urgent 
care. 
 
In November 2019, NHS East Surrey CCG transitioned into the Surrey Heartlands 
ICS. This shift allowed a greater focus on the Sussex populations, which is in line 
with the CCG’s commitment to focus on prevention and population health. 

Following the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019, the CCG 
spent time discussing with its stakeholders and public what the ambitions and 
priorities are for the system for the next five years. This led to the Sussex Health and 
Care Plan being developed collaboratively with local partners and stakeholders, 
which aims to improve lives, extend lives and save lives by focusing on keeping 
people healthier for longer and giving the populations the right care, in the right place 
at the right time. It represents the CCG’s response to the ever-changing local health 
and care needs of the populations and will be delivered through three local plans 
across Brighton and Hove, East Sussex and West Sussex.  

About our Partnership 
The SHCP is made up of health and social care organisations working together to 
meet the changing needs of the 1.7m people who live in the area. The partners 
include local authorities, health and care providers and CCGs and together, working 
as a partnership, the CCG has an opportunity to bring about significant 
improvements in health and care. The Partnership is not a statutory body, 
organisation, or a single separate plan. It is a way of working that allows 
organisations to work closer together to give the populations greater joined up care.  
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Becoming an Integrated Care System 
The SHCP was invited to join the national accelerator programme to become an ICS 
during 2019/20 in recognition of the progress that had been made across the Sussex 
system. A significant amount of work took place to submit an application to become 
an ICS from 1 April 2020, which included agreement of the system ‘architecture’, 
governance, ways of working and principles.  
 
The NHS Long Term Plan set the ambition for ICSs to be in place across the country 
by April 2021. An ICS builds on the collaborative working that has been taking place 
across systems over the last few years and will be a self-regulating partnership of 
health and care commissioners, providers and regulators that works together to 
support system-wide working. This way of working aims to improve strategic 
oversight of financial management, performance, system reform and regulation.  
 
NHSE and NHSI has announced that the SHCP has successfully met the criteria to 
become an ICS. 

Achieving ICS status reflects the hard work and significant progress that has been 
made across the system over the last few years. Working together partners have 
been able to improve the quality of care, bring greater integrated ways of working, 
stabilise the financial position, commission services in a more effective and 
consistent way, improve public engagement and develop plans at system and local 
levels.  

 

Looking forward to the year ahead 

 
In April 2020, the CCG took another step in the improvement and development of 
commissioning services across the Sussex system. The number of CCGs reduced 
from seven to three, when the CCG merged with NHS Crawley CCG and NHS 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG into a new NHS West Sussex CCG, and the merger 
of NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, 
and NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG into a new NHS East Sussex CCG. 
These two new statutory bodies will work in a consistent and joined up way with NHS 
Brighton and Hove CCG to ensure commissioning is carried out in a strategic and 
more effective way across Sussex.  
 
The three CCGs will work as ‘Sussex NHS Commissioners’, with a single operating 
model and leadership team. This will allow services to be commissioned and 
planned across the system, while delivery and partnership working is carried out at a 
local level through the statutory CCGs.  
 
The new way of working will support the development of the Sussex ICS and the 
expectations and ambitions of the NHS Long Term Plan. The focus for 2020/21 will 
be on building on this system transformation to change the way commissioning is 
carried out and strengthening the partnership working across more local 
geographical footprints.  
 
By working in this joined up way across Sussex, the CCGs aim to bring the following 
benefits for the populations:  
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 Access to extended hours at GP practices in the evening and at weekends  

 Access to integrated health and care records 

 Access to support from the health and care professional with the most 
appropriate skills for people’s specific needs 

 Better availability of non-clinical solutions – for example preventative care – to 
improve health and wellbeing 

 Easier interactions with health and care services through technology-based 
solutions 

 Enhanced support to people in care homes to ensure safe and high quality care 

 Health and care tailored in a more personalised way 

 Improved, equitable access to high quality, safe and joined up care 

 More integrated support for people with multiple health conditions 

 They will be empowered to improve their own health and wellbeing – to live well, 
age well and die well 

 
The CCG will be developing how it can better commission for ‘population health’ by 
focusing on prevention and improving outcomes. This will be done in partnership 
with the local authorities to address the wider determinants of health and better meet 
the changing needs of the populations.  
 
The CCG will also be working closely with its partner organisations to develop 
Integrated Care Partnerships across Brighton and Hove, East Sussex, and West 
Sussex. These partnerships will allow providers to work in a joined up way to deliver 
services for the populations they serve. A key part of these partnerships will be the 
further development of PCNs, which involve GP practices working closely with 
community services and the voluntary and community sector to deliver care across 
local communities.  
 

 

Sussex response to COVID-19 
At the time of preparing this annual report, the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) has 
declared a Major Incident for Sussex for the COVID-19 pandemic. The CCG and 
system has in place a robust governance structure to coordinate its response to this 
pandemic with other organisations across Sussex.  

As the CCG begins 2020/21, it will continue to prioritise its response to this fast 
moving situation and it is evident that a prolonged and intensive response will be 
required. The CCG is and will be working in very different ways and will continue to 
reprioritise as needed to ensure patients receive the care that they need during this 
time and beyond as it enters a period of recovery. The CCG will maintain flexibility 
and will adjust plans as necessary whilst supporting its workforce to meet the 
challenges ahead. 
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Our local population 
The CCG continues to see a growing and ever-increasingly diverse population, living 
longer with more complex health conditions. The graphic below shows some of the 
key top-level population data that local health commissioners use to plan services for 
our communities. This information is pulled from the latest available1 Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA), produced by the HWB, which analyses and identifies 
the current and future health and wellbeing needs of the local population. 

 

 

  

                                                           
1 2018 is the latest available JSNA 
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Performance overview:  
A year in the life of the CCG 
 

This section of the Annual Report provides our Chief Executive Officer’s 
perspective on the performance of the CCG over the last twelve months. It 
includes information about the CCG, our main objectives and strategies, the 
principal risks that we face, and how we have performed during the year. 

 
This past year has been a journey of transition for the CCG. Not only has the CCG 
redesigned the way it operates to move into 2020/21 working under a single strategic 
commissioner management structure, but the CCG has also taken great strides in 
transforming the health and care system across Sussex.  
 
The CCG has not done this alone. The collaboration of the SHCP has been vital, as 
has the engagement of the GP membership. NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
worked with the other Sussex CCGs to a single system-wide business plan during 
2019/20 and were awarded aspirant ICS status and selected for ICS Accelerator 
Programme. 
 
The 2018/19 annual assessment of the Sussex CCGs by NHSE - the Improvement 
and Assessment Framework (IAF)2– was published in July 2019 and was positive in 
all areas, with either stable or improving ratings in each of the indicator areas over 
the full year. This was accompanied by a positive assessment of both the financial 
management and leadership of the CCGs across Sussex. The CCG’s overall 
assessment by NHSE was ‘good’. 
 
Involving the local population and stakeholders collaboratively to improve and design 
health and care in Sussex is one of the CCG’s core priorities. This was recognised 
through the positive rating (green) in the Public and Patient Involvement IAF score 
(of 12 out of 15). 
 

A story of change 
Recognising that transformation was needed to commission more effectively and 
efficiently for the changing needs of the population, the CCG has worked closely with 
local people and the GP membership throughout 2019 to merge the seven CCGs in 
Sussex into three. New constitutions for each have been developed and agreed, 
reflecting a drive towards more consistency in how services are commissioned 
across Sussex, and reducing the unnecessary duplication in work by commissioning 
at scale when needed. By making these fundamental changes, the CCG has also 
been able to achieve the required reduction in running costs of 20 per cent by April 
2020.   
 
A single operating model has been approved across Sussex and was implemented 
during 2019/20. The aims of the operating model are to: 

                                                           
2 Assessment of CCGs  is via the NHS Oversight Framework from 2019/20 
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 Address the growing financial and operational pressures faced by the CCGs 

 Better utilise the existing workforce across the seven CCGs, improving efficiency 
and reducing duplication whilst continuing to delivery statutory duties 

 Develop the integration agenda with local authorities and meet the national target 
of achieving integration between health and social care by 2020 

 Empower the CCG places, ensuring local teams can deliver for their populations 
with the support and expertise from wider resources across Sussex 

 Enable and accelerate the development and implementation of new models of 
integrated care built from care communities of circa 30,000-50,000 people across 
Sussex 

 Improve outcomes for the population and to better engage residents in the co-
design of services 

 Support the SHCP to deliver its priorities and to strengthen the empowerment of 
each place 

 

Key issues and risks    

 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is committed to the active management of risk, 
recognising that risks need to be considered in terms of both opportunities and 
threats. No organisation operates without risk and the effective management of risk 
is a key function of the Local and Executive Management Teams.  
 
The CCG has had an integrated Risk Management strategy and system in place with 
the other Sussex CCGs since May 2019. This aligned the former strategies and risk 
register contents of all the Sussex CCGs and has taken into account learning from 
internal audit recommendations, and includes a common approach to risk appetite, 
and assessment and reporting of risks in relation to the CCGs’ shared corporate 
objectives. 
 
Scrutiny of the risk register is essential to ensure that appropriate controls and 
mitigating actions are in place, and to monitor progress made on reducing the 
likelihood of the risk occurring. The CCG has a centralised electronic risk register to 
record all risks to the achievement of the CCG’s corporate objectives. All risks on the 
register are updated by risk leads and reviewed by the Local Management Team on 
a monthly basis.  
 
The Committees of the CCG also review risks within their remit. For example, the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee reviews all risks relating to primary care 
and the Quality and Safety Committee reviews all risks relating to quality, patient 
safety and safeguarding. The Corporate Risk Register (all risks on the register with a 
current score of 12 or higher) is reviewed by the Audit and Assurance Committee on 
a quarterly basis, and the Governing Body reviews the Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) at each meeting.  
 
A number of corporate risks were identified during 2019/20.  A sample of these is 
summarised under each corporate goal below:  
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A. Improved population health outcomes and patient experience 

 The potential financial impact of the CCG not routinely reviewing patients 
eligible for NHS-funded Nursing Care, an expectation of the National 
Continuing Health C Framework 

 A potential limitation of the effectiveness of the organisation’s commissioning 
process and inability to ensure providers are completing their statutory duties 
if the CCG does not meet its own statutory duties in relation to the Equality 
Act and Health and Social Care Act 

 Limited improvement for mothers and babies within Sussex if the Better 
Births and Local Maternity System programme deliverables are not achieved  

 Poorer patient outcomes if the provision of stroke services does not meet the 
required quality standards and patients are not able to access the 
recommended treatment pathways 

 The risk to patients, staff and achievement of statutory duties if the CCG is 
not adequately prepared to mobilise its response to the Coronavirus 
Pandemic critical incident  

 
B. Improved quality of services, access and operational performance 

 Potential impact on patient flow due to fragility of domiciliary care market, 
resilience of GP out of hours provider, lack of system resilience, workforce 
demand and availability in providers and primary care, and the vulnerability of 
the health and social care system in Sussex which could impact on the 
quality of patient care and local healthcare system 

 The capacity and availability of specialist resources potentially impacting on 
the provision of and access to care for children and young people (CYP) with 
mental health or neuro developmental conditions 

 The impact of non-delivery of key constitutional standard improvement plans 
for providers (such as referral to treatment, 52 weeks, diagnostics, and 
cancer 62 day targets) on patient outcomes and agreed financial plans 

 The potential of patient harm, a rise in morbidity, mortality and impact on 
operational pressures if there is an increase in Gram Negative bloodstream 
infections  

 The effect on patient outcomes of non-compliance with initial health 
assessment timescales  

 The potential impact on provision of services and patient outcomes if the 
Sussex-wide service specification for Looked After Children commissioning 
arrangements is not agreed, funded and delivered 

 
C. Improved financial performance 

 The impact on the CCG’s ability to meet its Financial Recovery Plan if 
necessary reductions aren’t secured, recurrent level of Quality, Innovation, 
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) not delivered in 2019/20, and incentives 
and objectives are not aligned with providers  

 The potential for a deterioration in primary care estate, fewer GPs willing to 
become premises owning partners, patients receiving treatment from poor 
quality premises and impact on patient flow if a primary care estates plan is 
not in place to access funding to maintain and develop GP premises and 
increase capacity  
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 The risk of poor staff morale and lowered productivity if the estate in which 
CCG staff work has areas of poor quality (space, mobile reception, 
connectivity, facilities etc.) that are non-compliant with equalities legislation 
 

D. Delivering system reform 

 The possibility of financial and reputational damage to the CCGs if the 
memberships of the Sussex CCGs are not fully informed of the reasons and 
aims behind the proposed merger and vote without a clear understanding of 
the issues 

 The potential for non-delivery of effective governance arrangements, working 
at scale, system recovery and transformation, and the achievement of annual 
corporate objectives if the Sussex CCGs’ collaborative transformation 
governance arrangements are not fully developed 

 The potential impact to service delivery if the procurement process for new 
models of care is not robust 

 The risk to financial data integrity and the potential loss of legacy corporate 
memory if the proposed merger of the CCGs is not managed robustly 

 The threat to the achievement of plans for greater integration and 
collaboration and the existence and stability of the PCNs if GPs do not sign 
up to the Directed Enhanced Service  

 
E. Effective and well led organisation with an empowered and inclusive 

workforce 

 The possibility of an incident such as Pandemic ‘flu or severe weather and its 
impact on the healthcare system and its ability to manage business as usual 

 The potential disruption, including supply of medicines and staffing 
shortages, caused to the NHS if the UK should leave the European Union 
without an agreed onwards relationship 

 The potential impact of a Cyber Security incident on the CCG, providers and 
GP practices if IT systems are not kept up-to-date and protected with the 
latest anti-virus software 

 

Further detail about how the risks facing the CCG are managed can be found in the 
Annual Governance Statement section.  
 

Going concern 
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in published documents. 

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to 
be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining 
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. 
If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis. 
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The statement published by NHSE and NHS Improvement (NHSI) on 27 May 2020 
states that “the financial statements of all NHS providers and CCGs will be prepared 
on a going concern basis unless there are exceptional circumstances where the entity 
is being or is likely to be wound up without the provision of its services transferring to 
another entity in the public sector.”   

In relation to the COVID-19 emergency in March 2020 NHSE and NHSI announced 
revised arrangements for NHS contracting and payment to apply for the first four 
months of the 2020/21 year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The contracting 
arrangements for the rest of 2020/21 and beyond have not yet been definitively 
announced but it remains the case that the Government has issued a mandate to 
NHSE for the continued provision of health services in England in 2020/21 and CCG 
allocations have been set for the remainder of 2020/21 and 2021/22. The CCG does 
therefore continue to expect NHS funding to flow at similar levels to that previously 
provided where services are reasonably still expected to be commissioned. 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having joined with 
NHS Crawley CCG and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG to establish NHS West 
Sussex CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. This followed approval at the NHSE 
Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 14 October 2019. 

Whilst NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG ceased to exist on 31 March 2020, the 
underlying services became the responsibility of a successor CCG, NHS West Sussex 
CCG. Management is satisfied that the outgoing CCG should continue to prepare 
accounts on a ‘going concern’ basis because:  

 NHS West Sussex CCG has received notification of 2020/21 financial allocations 
from NHSE 

 A draft 2020/21 financial plan for NHS West Sussex CCG has been prepared and 
submitted to, and reviewed by, the Governing Body and NHSE and NHSI 

 This draft financial plan underscores the ongoing financial viability of NHS West 
Sussex CCG, noting constituent target efficiencies equivalent to 3.2% of allocation 

 The delivery of the merger transition plan is sufficiently advanced to assure the 
executive directors that NHS West Sussex CCG has the necessary management 
capacity to deliver its ongoing commissioning responsibilities from 1 April 2020 

 

Financial summary 
Our financial performance for 2019/20 is set out in the annual accounts. In summary, 
the CCG delivered a £252k surplus position compared to a plan of £240k surplus 
and met its running costs target for the year. 
 
The chart below shows how the CCG’s expenditure was shared across the services 
that the CCG commissioned in 2019/20. 
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There has been a greater focus on managing system risk at a wider footprint level 
which has supported each of the seven Sussex commissioners to achieve their 
2019/20 financial targets. It will also allow each CCG to deliver the running cost 
allocation reduction in 2020/21.  
 
The financial position of the CCG remains challenging. It delivered £25.4m of its 
£32.4 million savings target requirement and was able to manage risks and other in 
year cost pressures through controls on discretionary expenditure and the 
application of available contingencies and reserves. 
 
The CCG will continue to focus on identifying and delivering savings by only 
commissioning proven and cost-effective services. In developing our savings plans, 
we aim to: eliminate waste and duplication; ensure delivery of quality and innovation 
plans addressing demand and capacity; ensure our contracting process is efficient 
and effective and aligns incentives across the system.  
 
To support the transformation agenda, the CCG is implementing a different approach 
to contracting with its main providers by shifting the focus away from transactional 
Payment by Results towards a more collaborative approach to reducing overall 
system costs. Redesigning care around the delivery of outcomes requires a multi-
disciplinary approach to prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up, and an 
approach, which cuts across existing care settings in a way that is not supported by 
existing contractual models. 
 
A single provider of care is not able to deliver any given population outcome in 
isolation from other providers and merely strengthening existing contractual 
arrangements is very unlikely to achieve the integrated care which delivers improved 
outcomes because there are few levers or incentives to foster shared accountability. 
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Aligned Incentive Contracts underpin a more system-orientated approach to 
developing ICSs and Integrated Care Provider partnerships. 
 

In order to achieve this, the contracts will be aligned across the Sussex system with 
the aim of delivering care in line with the collective priorities of the ICS, to a robust 
‘one-system’ plan between providers to deliver the long-term plan potential benefits. 
Aligned Incentive Contracts will generate shared incentives for commissioners and 
providers to deliver the optimal level of care in the right place at the right time and 
shared financial responsibility through shared risk / gain shares across all providers 
for managing levels of hospital activity, reducing waste and cost. This is an 
alternative contracting and payment mechanism to Payment by Results recognising 
fixed payments to cover provider costs and fully funding the costs incurred by 
efficient providers. Aligned Incentive Contracts will connect providers to achieve a 
cumulative shared impact, deliver real system savings, ensuring all parties are 
working with one set of facts and information towards a single and shared set of 
goals and objectives and agreed individual and ‘one system’ performance metrics. 
Transactional burdens will be minimised, providing financial stability and barriers to 
service transformation will be reduced, supporting a more effective resource and 
capacity planning to improve quality of care and health outcomes. 

Ensuring Financial Recovery  
On the 1 April 2020, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Horsham and Mid 
Sussex CCG and NHS Crawley CCG merged to become NHS West Sussex CCG 
and are now a single statutory entity.  
 
The new organisation, NHS West Sussex CCG, has been notified of its 2020/21 
Finance Improvement Trajectory (FIT) by NHSE and NHSI. The FIT is a £34.1m in-
year deficit, representing a reduction of £36.6m from the combined deficits and 
surplus of the three CCGs in 2019/20 of £70.7m.  
 
As part of the response to the Long Term Plan, and to support a system wide 
approach to risk management, the CCG is planning for a £60.3m deficit, which is 
£26.2m adverse to the FIT, but does represent a favourable reduction of £10.4m 
compared with the 2019/20 combined deficit position. 
 
NHS West Sussex CCG has been notified of a total allocation of £1,411.1m in 
2020/21. Allowing for the non-recurrent allocations received in 2019/20, this 
represents an increase in recurrent allocations of £70.8m compared to the combined 
outturn allocation of the three previous CCGs in 2019/20. 
 
Of this increase in recurrent allocations, £16.5m is for the transfer to the CCG from 
NHSE of Delegated Co-Commissioning of Primary Care in the Crawley area and a 
further £4.9m ring-fenced for Delegated Co-commissioning of Primary Care in 
Coastal West Sussex and Horsham and Mid Sussex places. A total of £21.3m 
across NHS West Sussex CCG.  
 
The CCG has also planned to spend its running cost allocation in full. The allocation 
has been reduced by £2.2m to reflect the required savings target set by NHSE and 
NHSI. 
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The increase in recurrent Programme allocation is £51.6m, which will need to cover 
pay rises, inflation, demographic and non-demographic growth and planning 
requirements, such as the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS), Primary 
Medical Care Community Services growth and 0.5% Contingency.  
 
Based on the notified allocation and planned deficit, the CCG has a challenging 
efficiency target of £45.2m for 2020/21 (3.2% of total recurrent allocation). This level 
of efficiency requirement is due to a number of reasons, such as the delivery of the 
2019/20 position by way of a number of non-recurrent measures, which adversely 
impacts the underlying (recurrent) position by £19.6m; the plan to deliver a £10.4m 
improvement to the in-year deficit position; the Long Term Plan ‘Stretch’ Reserve of 
£3.0m; the contingency of £7.1m; additional MHIS growth over-and-above 
programme allocation growth of 1.7% totalling £2.2m and other planning 
requirements and assumptions totalling £3.0m. Against the efficiency target, the 
CCG has included savings of £5.3m against Prescribing (net of potential 
reinvestment of £1.0m) and has identified potential mitigations totalling £16.8m, 
including the £7.1m contingency budget, which partially offset the unidentified 
efficiency risk leaving £23.2m to be found.  
 
However, since the submission of the plan on 5 March 2020 reflecting the above, a 
new financial regime has been introduced as part of the response to the COVID-19 
pandemic.  
 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCG has adopted the revised national 
financial framework from 18 March 2020. It has worked closely with system partners 
to free-up the maximum possible inpatient and critical care capacity through 
additional investment in out of hospital services and supporting goods and services.  
 
System recovery and restoration is likely to have an impact on the assumptions 
underpinning the original planning submission. In particular, responding to the 
planned reduction in non-urgent elective procedures since April 2020 and the lower 
than expected Accident and Emergency (A&E) attendances. In addition, there is a 
heightened risk regarding the delivery of required efficiencies given the revised 
national contracting model and the refocussing of key staff towards the COVID-19 
response. 
 
A revised financial model will be required incorporating the impact of COVID-19 and 
the consequences of the system recovery and restoration programme. 
 
NHSE and NHSI released updated guidance on 14 May 2020 regarding 2020/21 
budget setting and planning and have set revised allocations for April to July 2020 
inclusive (months 1 to 4) in-line with expected expenditure levels. During this period 
NHSE and NHSI expect all CCGs to break-even on an in-year basis. To achieve this, 
actual expenditure reported by the CCG will be reviewed on a monthly basis by 
NHSE and NHSI and a retrospective non-recurrent adjustment will be actioned for 
reasonable variances between actual expenditure and the expected monthly 
expenditure, which will mean the CCG will report a break-even position. The 
prospective allocation issued to the CCG for this period is £487.5m pending any 
retrospective allocation adjustments and the CCG has uploaded its expenditure 
budget equal to this value.  
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Our savings plan 
To identify the 2020/21 schemes, the CCG has undergone an intense cycle of 
identifying and working up efficiency, collaborative working and spend reduction 
opportunities using available benchmarking data and best practice. 
 
Schemes around Medicines Optimisation, improving Continuing Health Care (CHC) 
reviews and contract management of packages, and reduction in Corporate Costs to 
deliver the national headline 20% reduction by 2020/21 have been identified.  
 
The CCG has put in place new ways of commissioning and paying for services that 
will incentivise improved outcomes for patients at an affordable cost. It is recognised 
that where commissioners and providers have agreed to move away from 
transaction contracting models, the positive impact of savings schemes may not be 
reflected by an improved in-year CCG financial performance. In these 
circumstances, the CCG will need robust financial risk mitigation strategies to 
manage the challenging financial agenda. 
 
As highlighted above the current savings plans and delivery risk will need to be 
reassessed and re-evaluated in response to the revised financial and contracting 
framework as part of the restoration and recovery process. 
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Performance summary 

 

This section of the Performance Overview provides a summary evaluation on key 
performance measures and how the CCG checks itself against them.  The section 
is structured to cover our key activities into: 

 How the CCG measures performance 

 CCG performance rating 

 Our performance 

 A year in quality and safety 

 A year in commissioning: our programmes 

 Engaging people and communities 

 Reducing health inequalities 

 Health and wellbeing strategy 

 
CCGs are measured against national and local health priorities to ensure patients 
are receiving a high standard of care within key services. The CCG is continuously 
assessed by the Department of Health and Social Care and NHSE on a number of 
financial and performance measures within various national standards and 
frameworks; this includes our progress against the delivery of newly introduced or 
amended standards and services from the NHSE National Planning Guidance, 
specifically for the NHS Long Term Plan published January 2019. 
 

How the CCG measures performance 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG monitors performance through a monthly Integrated 
Commissioner and Provider Contract and Performance Report. The report has been 
developed as a health intelligence system that ensures standardised, timely, 
accurate and appropriate information is available to our staff. The tool supports the 
CCG to deliver value for money and work within its defined financial envelope. It 
summarises performance against the standards, priorities and mandated 
requirements as described in the key documents and frameworks identified here: 
 

 CCG Operating Plan 

 Improvement and Assessment/NHS Oversight Framework  

 NHS Constitution 

 NHS Long Term Plan  

 NHS Outcomes Framework 
 
The Integrated Contract and Performance Report is a key assurance tool, providing 
evidence to our Governing Body and regulators that the CCG is meeting these duties 
and standards.  It drives our commissioning and contract management actions to 
improve and sustain performance across services and providers. This approach 
provides a consistent framework to serve internal and external performance 
management regimes as well as acting as an early warning mechanism, informing 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-outcomes-framework
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commissioners that corrective measures may be required to support and / or 
address performance improvements. 
 
The Integrated Contract and Performance Report publishes local contractual key 
performance indicators for all our main providers; this includes exceptional risks or 
issues at other providers across Sussex and beyond. Publishing this information, 
actions taken, and risks identified in one document allows the CCG to utilise this 
report at an operational level. It is presented to the Local Management Team and 
Executive Management Team meetings, and is used as an assurance tool presented 
to the Finance and Performance Committee and the Governing Body meetings. 
 

CCG performance rating 
NHSE has a statutory duty (under the Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to conduct 
an annual assessment of every CCG. This has previously been done under the 
auspices of the IAF until 2018/19, with the overall assessment derived from CCGs’ 
performance against the IAF indicators, including an assessment of CCG leadership 
and financial management. The NHS Oversight Framework for 2019/20 has replaced 
the CCG IAF and will inform the assessment of CCGs in 2019/20. It is intended as a 
focal point for joint work, support and dialogue between CCGs, ICSs, NHSE, NHSI, 
providers and Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.  

The NHS Oversight Framework for 2019/20 applies to all CCGs, NHS Trusts and 
Foundation Trusts. Due to the impact and prioritisation of the COVID-19 response, 
data collection and reporting has now been paused. As a result, there will be no 
further updates to the NHS Oversight Framework Dashboard until further notice and 
online data files will not be updated. 
 

 
Our performance 
 

The NHS Constitution Standards 

The NHS Constitution establishes the principles and values of the NHS in England; it 
sets out the legal rights of patients, the public, and staff and further pledges that the 
NHS is committed to achieving these. It also sets out the responsibilities of the 
public, patients and staff. There are a number of NHS Constitutional targets against 
which the CCG is measured in the following areas: planned care and diagnostics, 
cancer, mental health and dementia, urgent care, and CHC. 
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The CCG has achieved a number of these targets successfully over 2019/20. These 
include ensuring timely treatment for CYP mental health (39.5% year to date (YTD) 
against the target of 34%) and 2 week waits for urgent breast cancer referrals 
(94.7% March 2020 YTD against a target of 93%).  
 
In areas where the CCG did not achieve the required standards, it continues to work 
in partnership with its health and care providers to agree actions to improve 
performance and in turn, the healthcare that local people receive. Further detail 
about each of the standards can be found in the table at the end of this section and 
more information on CCG programmes and initiatives can be found within the 
section - A Year in Commissioning: Our Programmes. 
 
It will be important to recognise that the response to COVID-19 will have an impact 
on demand, capacity and performance of NHS services as priorities change during 
the pandemic and the CCG will be closely monitoring this in 2020/21. 

 
Urgent and Emergency Care 
 
Four-hour Accident & Emergency Standard 
The NHS Constitution standard states that 95% of patients should be seen and 
either treated and discharged or admitted within a maximum four hours of arrival in 
A&E.  
 
Nationally, performance against this four-hour target continues to be a challenge, 
with 88.0% of patients being seen within four hours.  For WSHFT the performance is 
89.2% unmapped (89.8% mapped3).  
 
As commissioners, the CCG works closely with its local NHS Trust and partners 
across the health and care system to implement measures that will improve 
performance against this standard while ensuring the population is treated in the 
most appropriate place with the most appropriate care. 
 
One way the CCG does this is to consider the way it looks after and treats the most 
frail and vulnerable patients. The CCG now has services to support these people to 
stay well and when they are unwell, the CCG ensures they are treated at home or in 
the community as appropriate. This has included an acute frailty pathway and 
providing services that sees ambulance crews “see and treat” patients so they do not 
need to be taken to hospital unnecessarily.  

Another aspect of supporting performance in A&E is to make sure the CCG has 
sufficient beds; it managed this by commissioning community resources, allowing 
those who no longer needed to be in hospital to be cared for in more appropriate 
settings. These measures to assist patient flow include expert discharge teams who 
support patients and families in accessing the care they need outside of hospital.  

The introduction of Urgent Treatment Centres (UTC) is expected to provide an 
alternative patient pathway for the management of primary care patients. The UTC 
model is under development in Worthing and St Richard’s A&Es.  

                                                           
3 Mapped refers to patients who are classified as using a type three A&E department (that treats minor injuries 
and illnesses) being allocated to the closest A&E provider for the purposes of monitoring the target 
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Additional work to support improvements in the department include GP streaming 
models and the development of a Same Day Emergency Care model which is 
underway at WSHFT which will see, treat and discharge people on the same day. An 
Integrated Care Hub at Bognor Regis War Memorial Hospital, currently under pilot 
testing, is being developed to manage demand and will include additional primary 
care capacity. 
 
Whilst the four-hour A&E standard focuses on time spent in A&E, it is an indicator of 
performance across a hospital. This is because where it is achieved it indicates a 
good flow of patients through the hospital to access the right care to a timely 
discharge once they no longer need hospital care. This target is the primary indicator 
used to assess and report the performance of a trust in the national performance 
tables. 
 

Please see the section on Urgent and Emergency Care for more information. 
 

Planned Care and Diagnostics  
 
Referral to Treatment  
The NHS Constitution states that 92% of patients should wait no longer than 18 
weeks from a GP referral to starting treatment. This is known as the 18 week 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) standard and nationally across the NHS in 2019/20, 
84.5% of patients were waiting less than 18 weeks.  Locally 84.6% of patients were 
waiting less than 18 weeks.   
 
Our local patients are referred mainly to WSHFT and the CCG has worked closely 
with WSHFT and SCFT to develop and deliver alternative community pathways, 
improve demand management and make greater use of digital solutions, including 
longer-term transformational programmes and process improvements.This includes 
work with GPs and the acute hospital, streamlining outpatient services and improving 
patient pathways through GP referral guidelines and hospital processes. 

 
Diagnostic waiting times 
The diagnostic waiting time standard states that no more than 1% of patients should 
wait longer than six weeks for a diagnostic test.  
 
Nationally, 4.1% of people waiting were waiting more than six weeks for a diagnostic 
test.  In the CCG, 2.5% of people waiting were waiting longer than 6 weeks (2019/20 
year to date (YTD)), a position that has significantly improved during 2019/20. 
 
As diagnostics are often a key part of the patient pathway, the Trust and CCG 
continue to monitor these services closely and have joint action plans to address 
capacity shortages and to secure sustainability for the longer term. These actions 
are central to the performance against the Cancer, RTT and 52+ week’s standards 
and recovery according to agreed plans. 
 
For example, a number of actions have been taken to improve performance 
including improved use of advice and guidance, sourcing additional diagnostic 
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capacity for imaging and histopathology, as well as looking at the threshold for faecal 
protection and extending the scope of Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT) tests to 
include high-risk patients.  
 

Please see the section on Planned Care for more information. 
 
Cancer access 

The NHS Constitution standards for cancer treatment are: 
 

 Patients should be seen by a specialist doctor within two weeks of a referral by 
their GP for suspected cancer 

 Patients should be seen within 31 days from when a decision is made to treat 

 Patients should be seen within 62 days from an urgent referral to the first definitive 
treatment for all cancers 

 

The CCG has focused closely on improving early diagnosis and timely treatment for 
cancer patients in West Sussex and continues to perform very well on cancer access 
targets for the two-week wait. The CCG is working closely with WSHFT on improving 
one and two month waits. The main challenges have been due to some workforce 
resource issues and endoscopy capacity during this period. This has particularly 
impacted on the higher volume specialties, such as patients referred with suspected 
skin cancers and suspected lower and upper gastrointestinal cancers. 

The performance for two-week wait from GP urgent referral to first consultant 
appointment was 90.4% of CCG patients treated within the 93% target, compared to 
90.9% nationally.   

The performance for one-month wait from a decision to treat to a first treatment for 
cancer was 95.8% of CCG patients treated within the 96% target, compared to 
96.0% nationally.  

The performance for two-month wait from GP urgent referral to a first treatment for 
cancer was 78.9% of CCG patients treated within the 85% target, compared to 
77.2% nationally. 

The 31-day compliance fell below the standard for the first time in the period 
November 2019 to January 2020 but has since been achieved.   

The CCG continues to work closely with the Trust regarding 62 day recovery actions 
(together with specific focus across all specialities on pathway redesign towards 
achievement of 28 day Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS) from April 2020) and has 
implemented key initiatives such as direct testing, streamlined pathways, primary 
care and FIT. Implementation plans are ongoing for Cancer ‘Personalised Care’ 
including risk stratified follow up for breast, prostate and colorectal cancers.  To 
support the ongoing monitoring of prostate cancer patients in the community, the 
CCG implemented a revised locally commissioned service (LCS) in primary care, 
which was issued in December 2019. 
 

Please see the section on Improving Cancer Care for more information. 
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Mental Health Access Targets 

The NHS has a number of measures for mental health covering children, eating 
disorders, psychological therapy, and dementia and transforming care for those with 
mental illness and learning disabilities. The CCG has met the majority of the 
standards in 2019/20. 
 
Please see the section on Improving Mental Health for more information.   
 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

There are four Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) standards for 
increasing access to and improve waiting time for and recovery from psychological 
conditions such as anxiety and depression.  The CCG is performing well and above 
standard for the recovery and 6 week waiting time indicators. Further improvements 
to attain the access targets relate to the recruitment and retention of staff and the 
support to trainees in the service.  
 
Patient monthly focus groups started in November 2019 with high attendance 
resulting in the roll out of these in both localities. Further to this, the promotion of 
self-referrals via websites and GP practices has had a positive impact along with 
expansion of clinic time for Step 3 treatments.  
 

Dementia Diagnosis Rate  

Dementia Diagnosis Rate is an estimated diagnosis rate indicator that compares the 
number of people thought to have dementia with the number of people diagnosed 
with dementia, aged 65 and over. The target is for at least two thirds of people with 
dementia to be diagnosed. 
 
The minimum Dementia Diagnosis Rate is being achieved in North West Sussex 
with an agreed plan to do so in Coastal West Sussex by the end of Quarter one of 
2020/21. The three year West Sussex Dementia Strategy will be in place by May 
2020 engaging a critical partnership between the CCG, WSCC, community and 
voluntary organisations, and district and borough councils.  The strategy is being 
mapped against the NHSE transformation framework. 
 
A number of initiatives and actions are being implemented. This includes working 
closely with our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities, which are often under diagnosed, 
and working with local practices. 
 
The CCG has also commissioned a Dementia Assessment Service to reduce waiting 
times (from initial appointment to diagnosis) from five months to 42 days. This will 
provide a “one stop shop” model where the doctor works between multiple Nurse 
Assessment clinic slots supported by the Alzheimer’s Society and providing carers 
support. 
 

Other Commitments 

One of the two targets relating to CHC has not been met in 2019/20. 68.4% of 
eligibility decisions were made within 28 days, compared to 77.8% nationally.  The 
team has worked to improve internal processes to provide more timely assessments 
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and appeals and overall customer satisfaction has remained high. Further 
improvement has been made in the reduction of the number of people receiving their 
assessments in an acute setting; 4% meeting the national standard. 
 
85.2% of children waiting for wheelchairs had their equipment delivered within 18 
weeks, compared to 83.9% nationally. Over the past year whilst significant 
improvements have been made to the pathway of children receiving their wheelchair 
or specialist seating, the recommendation has been made that an overall review of 
the service is conducted across West Sussex incorporating Brighton and Hove with a 
view to aligned service improvement.     
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Summary of Current Performance against NHS Constitution 
Standards4 
 

Measure  
Target / 

Threshold 

Current Performance   

CWS Period 

RTT and Diagnostics 

RTT 18 weeks incomplete >=92% 84.6% YTD to Mar-20 

RTT 52+ week waits 0% 0.01% YTD to Mar-20 

Diagnostics 6 weeks <=1% 2.5% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer       

Cancer - 2 week wait >=93% 90.4% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 2 week wait 
(breast) 

>=93% 94.7% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 31 day first 
treatment 

>=96% 96.3% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 31 day surgery >=94% 95.8% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 31 day anti-cancer 
drugs 

>=98% 99.3% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 31 day radiotherapy >=94% 98.4% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 62 day GP referral >=85% 78.9% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 62 day screening >=90% 86.6% YTD to Mar-20 

Cancer - 62 day consultant 
upgrade 

>=86% 79.1% YTD to Mar-20 

Mental Health and 
Dementia 

      

CPA 7 day follow-up >=95% 96.7% YTD to Q3 2019/20 

Dementia estimated 
diagnosis rate 

>=66.7% 64.3% YTD to Mar-20 

IAPT roll-out >=5.5% 4.5% YTD to Feb-20 

IAPT recovery >=50% 58.6% YTD to Feb-20 

IAPT waiting times - 6 weeks >=75% 98.6% YTD to Feb-20 

IAPT waiting times - 18 
weeks 

>=95% 100.0% YTD to Feb-20 

Psychosis treated within two 
weeks of referral 

>=56% 81.2% YTD to Feb-20 

                                                           
4 NB: the report includes the latest published data as at 15 May 2020 
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Improve access rate to 
CYPMH 

>=34% 39.5% YTD to Feb-20 

Routine referrals to CYP 
EDS (4 weeks) 

95% by 
2020 

N/A 12 months to Q3 2019/20 

Urgent referrals to CYP EDS 
(1 week) 

95% by 
2020 

N/A 12 months to Q3 2019/20 

Urgent Care (provider - 
WSHFT) 

      

A&E 4hrs excluding mapped >=95% 89.2% YTD to Mar-20 

A&E 4hrs including mapped >=95% 89.8% YTD to Mar-20 

A&E 12hrs waiters 0 0 YTD to Mar-20 

Delayed Transfers of Care 
bed days as a % of occupied 
beds 

<=3.5% 3.9% YTD to Feb-20 

Other Commitments       

CHC - eligibility decisions 
made within 28 days 

>= 80% 68.4% YTD to Q4 2019/20 

CHC - assessments taking 
place in an acute setting 

<= 15% 4.0% YTD to Q4 2019/20 

Children waiting less than 18 
weeks for a wheelchair 

>=92% 85.2% YTD to Q3 2019/20 
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A year in quality and safety 
 
The delivery of high quality care is at the centre of the CCG’s Vision and Values. The 
CCG is dedicated to ensuring services commissioned on behalf of the resident 
populations are of the highest quality, delivered with respect and compassion, and 
provide a positive experience for the patient and their family. 
 
The Quality and Safeguarding team uses its extensive clinical knowledge and skills 
collectively in order to influence service provision, to inform the commissioning cycle 
with evidence-based best practice, and to assure stakeholders of the quality of care. 
 
Patient Safety 
To keep patients safe and ensure our providers continue to deliver high quality care 
the CCG has an established patient safety culture in line with the national patient 
safety framework. This includes: 
 

 Always doing the right thing at the right time for the right patient 

 Creating an environment where reporting incidents is encouraged 

 Enabling sustainable team, organisation and system improvements 

 Learning from mistakes and minimising risk of reoccurrence 
 
This year saw governance and assurance strengthened with fortnightly Serious 
Incident Scrutiny Panels. The panel ensures that all investigations undertaken by 
service providers are robust, learning captured in an improvement plan and 
recommended actions followed up at contract quality review meetings with each 
provider. 
  
The CCG has established a robust approach to clinical harm reviews where there is 
non-delivery of key constitutional standards, such as referral to treatment (52 week 
waits), diagnostic and cancer targets.  
 
Learning into action 
Building on the trends and themes from patient safety investigations, the CCG 
convened a system-wide multi-disciplinary learning event. This focused on the health 
and care interventions to prevent falls. The event saw service providers come 
together, including those commissioned by the CCG, to review the evidence and 
agree a number of measures that would make the biggest impact on preventing falls. 
This effective approach included insight, involvement and improvement in line with 
the National Patient Safety Strategy (2019). 
 
Patient experience 
Patients and their families should always be treated with compassion, dignity and 
respect. Through established mechanisms, patient experience is regularly measured 
and learning from service user experiences widely shared. This important 
information informs commissioning intentions and quality improvement plans.   
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During the year, the CCG introduced:  
 

 A learning culture of continuous improvement in provider organisations through 
positively influencing the contracting and monitoring arrangements 

 An approach to managing complaints, listening to the concerns raised by 
patients, service users, carers and staff  

 A strengthened investigation process that saw learning used promptly to improve 
the quality of services experienced by the patient and their families  

 A system to quickly detect adverse events and encourage early reporting 
including errors and near misses, using the information as a basis for continuous 
improvement and learning important lessons  

 Collaborative working across the healthcare system to ensure service provision 
where possible is equitable and sustainable  

 Community representatives to support the CCG’s public engagement activity and 
inform future services commissioned 

 Mechanisms for sharing good practice with, and learning from, other 
commissioning organisations  

 
Friends and Family Tests  
All providers continue to measure experience using the national Friends and Family 
Test. This includes GP practices. Overall, the results show that the majority of 
patients would have recommended the CCG’s commissioned services to their 
friends and family and this compares favourably with the national median 
benchmark.  

  
Quality improvement 
In line with the CCG’s statutory duty for continuous quality improvement and vision 
for quality, the CCG continues to reach out to local people to understand how it could 
help them to improve their health. The established Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Framework enables the CCG to take a proactive and consistent 
approach to improving care. Using an evidence-based methodology, the CCG has 
adopted interventions that demonstrably improve services received by the local 
population.  
 
Care (nursing) homes  
The CCG’s commitment to continuously improving services and outcomes for people 
extends to people living in care homes. This year the Quality and Safeguarding 
directorate focussed on care (nursing) homes’ improvement as a priority area 
working collaboratively with our local authority partners. 
 
During the year, the CCG continued to embed the CCG’s Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Framework to improve quality in a structured way, while managing 
quality concerns and risk. The newly formed Sussex-wide Provider Surveillance Sub 
Group (PSSG) has been the main work stream for implementation of the framework. 
This multi-disciplinary forum oversees the approach to supporting providers of 
concern with a proactive, risk based improvement focus.  
 
There is strong system leadership with a better understanding of risk thresholds, 
rating and review. Improved use of data and enhanced reporting for care homes 
provides assurance to the Quality and Safety Committee and Governing Body.  
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Better engagement and improved relationships with care (nursing) home providers 
has led to a willingness to openly share issues, work together on sustainable 
solutions, and to develop system approaches to detection and management of 
quality and safeguarding concerns. 
 
The Stop Look Care project is on track to improve practice in Coastal West Sussex. 
This project aims to improve patient outcomes by increasing the level of awareness 
and confidence of carers and support workers in identifying deteriorating health and 
acting in a timely way. 
 
Healthcare associated infections 
Healthcare associated infections (HCAI) affect people of all ages. They can 
exacerbate existing or underlying conditions, delay recovery and adversely affect 
quality of life.  
 
During 2019/20, the CCG has continued to deliver its HCAI reduction strategy. The 
CCG has worked with health and social care partners to reduce avoidable harm to 
patients by sustaining a reduction in key infections.  
 
The Sussex CCGs jointly hosted a system-wide ‘E.coli Blood Stream Infection 
Reduction’ event with multi agency partners to strengthen engagement, coordination 
and agree an improvement plan to reduce infections. This included root cause 
analysis and post-infection reviews to assess clinical practice and identify learning.  
 
To share the learning and drive improvement the Sussex CCGs established an 
Infection Review Action Group. The work of this group has seen: 
 

 A collective approach to prevent and manage outbreaks  

 Implementation of the Urinary Catheter Care Passport and a system-wide 
Influenza Prevention plan 

 Improved uptake of ‘flu vaccination rates for staff and high risk populations 

 Sharing of national policies with social care, primary care and care homes 
 
The CCG has a systematic approach to the reduction of Anti-Microbial Resistance 
(AMR), which has been shared as an example of best practice at a regional event. 
The Quality team has worked seamlessly with other directorates to ensure Infection 
Prevention standards are integral to the commissioning function and the CCG 
continues to drive improving the health of local people and enhancing the quality and 
experience of patient care.  
 
Safeguarding Adults and Children 
The CCG has a statutory responsibility for safeguarding vulnerable people. This 
requires commissioners of local health services to assure themselves that 
organisations have established effective safeguarding arrangements inclusive of 
clear lines of accountability for safeguarding, and effective governance. The Chief 
Nursing Officer has executive responsibility for safeguarding supported by a Deputy 
Director and a Head of Service for Safeguarding. The Safeguarding team works on a 
Sussex-wide basis with teams from different geographical boundaries working as 
one team with aligned portfolios linked to both CCG and NHSE priorities. This has 



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    34 

 

enabled consistent representation at pan-Sussex meetings, reduced duplication, and 
provided greater oversight of the wider issues affecting the area. Within West 
Sussex, there was a number of high profile safeguarding reviews and multi-agency 
assurance work with a number of care homes. Learning from this has led to the 
development of a Sussex-wide multi-agency Provider Surveillance Group. During 
this period, Ofsted found WSCC’s Children’s Services to be ‘inadequate’; the CCG is 
a part of the statutory Improvement Board and continue to support as a partner in the 
improvement journey. 
  
Changes to national arrangements for safeguarding children came into effect in 
2019, following the publication of Working Together legislation. This has seen Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) replaced by Safeguarding Children 
Partnerships where there is tripartite statutory responsibility between the CCG, the 
local authority, and the Police. New statutory Child Death guidance introduced in 
October 2019 led to the three previous local Child Death Overview Panels (CDOP) 
amalgamating as one pan-Sussex CDOP. Additional investment to support this 
function has seen a Child Death Review team established with posts funded in 
partnership with Local Authorities. This enables joint reviews of all deaths in children 
under the age of 18 years.    
 
This year saw a number of learning events organised by the team. These included: 
 

 Domestic Abuse learning events 

 Exploitation conferences to raise awareness of child sexual exploitation, county 
lines and radicalisation 

 Launch of the regional Sussex-led safeguarding standards for care homes, 
domiciliary care and hospices; this included training around safeguarding ‘hot 
topics’ 

 Multi-agency staff training around gang crime and youth violence awareness  
 

Looked after Children 
The CCG’s statutory responsibility for Looked After Children includes a duty to 
cooperate with requests to conduct health assessments, ensuring support and 
services are available to these children without delay. Data shows that children can 
become ’looked after’ for a number of reasons. The main reason is one of risk of 
abuse or neglect. Nationally this year, 63% of children who entered care did so for 
this reason. 
 
At the end of Quarter four there were 812 looked after children in West Sussex. This 
year there has been a 15% increase in the looked after child population, with larger 
numbers entering care over the last year and more children needing to be placed 
outside of the county border. National statistics indicate around 40% of children are 
looked after by one local authority yet reside within the geographical boundaries of 
another. There is evidence to suggest that these young people are more likely to slip 
through support systems, more likely to go missing from care and education than 
other looked after children and to experience poorer outcomes. The CCG recognises 
and prioritises the vulnerabilities of all looked after children and is strengthening the 
arrangements that are in place to improve their health outcomes.  
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During the year, the CCG has seen an improvement in the timeliness of statutory 
health assessments. Increasing awareness of the impact of adverse childhood 
experience on health has led to a focus on trauma informed care and emotional 
wellbeing. CCG commissioners and designated nurses have worked closely with 
clinicians and local authorities to redesign the service to align statutory requirements 
and nationally recommended standards. This will see additional capacity in nursing 
and doctor time. The arrangements for commissioning health assessments are being 
aligned across the county with a new service specification implemented in 2020/21. 
 
In September 2019, the West Sussex CCGs were proud to sponsor the ‘Big Heart 
Award’ at West Sussex Extraordinary Young People in Care (EPIC) awards that the 
local authority hosts annually. 

 
Workforce 
 
Workforce Strategy 
The Quality and Safeguarding directorate has played an important role in shaping 
the Workforce Strategy for Sussex including a number of work streams to drive 
successful recruitment, develop a competent confident workforce and retain clinical 
staff.  
 
The CCG has been engaging and collaborating with Universities on future supply 
and clinical placements for trainees. The CCG has developed strategic training plans 
to inform effective education commissioning.  It has adopted a streamlined approach 
to the promotion of careers and careers frameworks in health and social care 
informed by strategic workforce plans. It has also optimised the use of the 
apprenticeship levy and implemented new roles such as Nursing Associates and 
Advanced Clinical Practitioners. 
 
Through this programme of work and by collaborative working with Sussex 
providers, clinical staffing levels have increased (for registered and support workers) 
with the ambulance trust reporting a significantly improved annual increase of over 
10% compared to the previous year (NHS Digital trend data 2018/19).  
 
Career Development Framework 
The Quality and Safeguarding directorate has implemented a Career Development 
Framework for professional staff working in a commissioning organisation.  
 
The Sussex Primary and Community Training Hub  
The CCG has been involved in establishing the Sussex and East Surrey (SES) 
Primary and Community Care Training Hub. The hub has successfully secured 
representation from across the county, set ambitious terms of reference and has 
continued to deliver its agreed priorities in line with the General Practice Forward 
View and NHS Long Term Plan recommendations. These include retention schemes 
in General Practice, New to Practice Fellowships, a focus on the first five years and 
last five years of practice and developing Practice Nurses in line with the national 
General Practice Nurses Ten Point Plan. 
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Transforming Care  
The key achievement has been the development of a local workforce plan to recruit 
and retain the right workforce and meet current and future demand. 
 
Improving care for people with learning disabilities and / or autism 
The CCG is part of a Sussex Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) covering Sussex 
CCGs, three upper tier Local Authorities, NHSE Specialised Commissioning and 
SPFT. The TCP is a national initiative aiming to improve services and tackle wider 
health inequalities for people with learning disabilities and / or autism, in alignment 
with the national Transforming Care strategy and NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
The CCG’s commitment has been to continue the implementation of the 
Transforming Care Strategy and focus on reducing the numbers of people with 
learning disabilities and / or autism who are in hospital care. Alongside this, the CCG 
has committed to delivering the national Learning Disabilities Mortality Review and 
Learning Disability Annual Health Check ambitions.  
 
To address these challenges in 2019/20, the Sussex TCP developed and invested in 
an ambitious delivery plan. Key in year achievements include: 
 

 Establishment of a lived experience group to provide input to key TCP initiatives 

 Investment in additional Case Management, Care and Treatment Review and 
Learning Disabilities Mortality Review resources  

 Mobilisation of a specialist patient facing Autism team 

 Mobilisation of Dynamic Support Registers to proactively identify and support 
those most at risk of admission 

 Working in partnership with the local community to develop an Autism awareness 
video and roll out training to the acute mental health workforce 
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A year in commissioning:  
Our programmes 
 
Joint commissioning  
 
Throughout 2019/20, the CCG continued to commission services in partnership with 
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley CCG and WSCC delivering and 
managing these through the Joint Commissioning and Partnerships directorate in 
areas such as:  
 

 Community and Mental Health services for CYP 

 Services for Learning Disabled adults 

 The Better Care Fund (BCF) Programme managed through the Joint 
Commissioning Strategy Group to the West Sussex HWB. The BCF programmes 
spans both the NHS and local government, joining-up health and care services, 
so that people can manage their own health and wellbeing and live independently 
in their communities for longer 

 
The partnership and joint commissioning arrangements across West Sussex are an 
important part of the journey towards health and social care integration, which is 
further supported this year with the new appointment of a Joint Director of Strategic 
Commissioning. A Collaborative Working Agreement, launched in October 2019, 
supports the co-operative working relationship between the four boards (Safer West 
Sussex Partnership, West Sussex Safeguarding Adults’ Board, West Sussex HWB, 
and West Sussex Safeguarding Children’s Partnerships) in order to improve the 
health, wellbeing, and safety of all residents of West Sussex. 
 
This year the CCG has worked closely with NHS Crawley CCG, NHS Horsham and 
Mid Sussex CCG and WSCC to review and strengthen the governance structure 
required in supporting the high-level joint commissioning strategy. New areas for 
collaboration and integration have been identified which, together with the use of the 
BCF, will support further system-wide collaboration and transformation.  
 

Prevention and Living Well 
To fully realise the benefits of prevention, early intervention and personalisation for 
improving health and wellbeing and reducing health inequalities, the CCG has 
embedded its approach to prevention and living well throughout the health and care 
system.  This is delivered in communities working with voluntary and community 
sector partners, civic interventions and clinical and integrated care services.  
  
This local approach fits with the NHS Long Term Plan’s aims of supporting people to 
live longer, healthier lives through helping to make healthier choices easier, and 
treating avoidable illness early on.    
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The CCG has built on its strong multi-agency approach, working with providers of 
care and support in all settings and with WSCC Public Health and Adult Social Care 
to provide a strong foundation for work on prevention, personalisation and reducing 
health inequalities.  Local clinicians, care professionals, staff and volunteers continue 
to be supported to make the most of their contact with clients and patients in a wide 
variety of settings, including when people have been admitted to hospital, to help 
people to improve their health and wellbeing.  For example, the partners are 
empowering and supporting communities through initiatives such as social 
prescribing, volunteering and community development initiatives. 
 
The CCG’s approach to prevention has ensured that it is embedded into care across 
the whole life course pathway covering:  
 

 Enabling fast discharge to community environments where patients can be 
rehabilitated back to more independent living after an episode or spell in hospital 

 Giving every child the best start in life and supporting people to maintain good 
health and promoting healthy choices  

 Helping people to help themselves and putting people more in control of long-
term conditions through supporting greater levels of self-care, self-management 
and personalisation for example through shared decision-making and personal 
health budgets  

 Intervening early and proactively to prevent conditions and situations from getting 
worse, helping avoid unnecessary hospital admissions through stronger 
community pathways and support   

 

Young People, Prevention and Mental Health 
The West Sussex CYP Local Transformation Plan underpins five years of 
improvement in mental health achieved through collaborative working with children, 
young people and their families.  
 
In particular, over the last year the CCG has: 
 

 Become a trailblazer with a successful application to begin implementing two 
mental health support teams in schools in Bognor and Crawley and an invitation 
to bid for a third team 

 Focused on the youth support offer developing a strategy and implementation 
plan for youth access pathways which will bring existing services together 

 Further improved access exceeding the NHSE target of 32% 

 Further increased choice launching a new face-to-face and online counselling 
service with YMCA Dialogue 

 Invested in the neurodevelopmental pathway  
 

It is recognised that there is still work to do to improve experience and outcomes for 
CYP with emotional wellbeing and mental health issues.  Throughout 2019/20, a 
comprehensive Sussex-wide review of emotional wellbeing and support for CYP was 
undertaken.  The work was independently chaired and heard from nearly 1500 
voices of CYP, their families and carers, as well as professionals working in services.  
The report and recommendations will be published in 2020 and the CCG will work 
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with its partners to develop an action plan to address the areas highlighted in the 
report. 
 

Social Prescribing 
Social prescribing has been developing across the communities in West Sussex over 
the last few years.  Its purpose is connecting people (referred by primary care) to a 
Social Prescriber who can spend time to understand the needs of the 
individual and co-design social approaches to improve their health and wellbeing. It 
offers a person-centred approach, with the Social Prescriber empowering the 
individual to take greater control of their own wellbeing and connect them into the 
most suitable service or activity. 
 
The issues (and complexity) people present with does vary but typically includes 
family background, finance/debt, housing/homelessness issues, loneliness/isolation, 
mental health issues, and work/skills. 
 
Over the last year a significant amount of work has been going on to ensure there 
are Social Prescribers in place across the PCNs, with a range of organisations 
working together to provide support; the voluntary sector, community, social 
enterprise and local government.  This is already demonstrating benefit to 
people, from significant interventions such as preventing people from becoming 
homeless to connecting people to local activities to reduce loneliness. One project, 
Going Local, was nominated for an award this year for innovation. 
 
There is now a West Sussex Strategic Social Prescribing Group in place, which is 
bringing together leaders for social prescribing working with the PCNs and on the 
development of our outcomes for the West Sussex system.   

 
Social Isolation and Loneliness 
The CCG has been working with local partners to address the issue of loneliness 
and isolation in the community.  
 
The CCG’s joint work with key partnership programmes evaluating the strengths and 
assets in communities across the county has facilitated the development of local 
schemes that target social isolation and loneliness. 
 
Local Community Networks (LCNs) have continued to develop over the course of 
2019/20 building strong relationships across partners, who include, but are not 
limited to WSCC Social Care and Public Health, district borough councils, schools, 
the community and voluntary sector and PCNs.  
 
Partnership working has also been key to connecting primary care and schools 
within LCNs, enabling them to work together in more integrated ways that better 
support young people who are struggling, particularly with mental health issues. 
Social isolation is frequently identified as a challenge for individuals across 
communities.  To help understand the issue in more detail the CCG has worked with 
partners in the Worthing LCN to undertake a research project exploring social 
isolation in the context of communities and life transitions.  The evidence generated 
will inform future work promoting intergenerational connections as a means of 
addressing social isolation.  
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Frailty and Ageing Programme 
 
The NHS Long Term Plan sets out as one of its priorities improving care for older 
people living with frailty or multiple long-term conditions through an ambition of 
improving people's health in later life by slowing the development of frailty through 
earlier identification and preventative measures.  
 
The key priorities for supporting people to age well are embedding MDT working 
through PCNs, Enhanced Health in Care Homes (EHCH), Urgent Community Crisis 
Response, and personalised care at the end of life. 
 
Redesign and Recommissioning of Proactive Care 
In 2019/20, the CCG’s key goal was to complete the collaborative redesign and 
recommissioning of Proactive Care to support integration between PCNs and 
Community MDTs. 
  
Following the finalisation of the ten PCNs in Coastal West Sussex, SCFT realigned 
their Community MDTs to match the geographical footprint of the PCNs. 
Subsequently the CCG worked with the PCNs and SCFT to finalise the design of a 
new model of integrated community care for the frail elderly population. 
 
As part of the aspirations of the NHS Long Term Plan, PCNs and Community MDTs 
will need to work together to deliver a number of nationally mandated requirements. 
Much of the work that the CCG has done through its Frail and Ageing Population 
Team has anticipated the key requirements and therefore GP surgeries and 
Community MDTs are well placed to help realise those ambitions. 
 
Falls and Fracture Prevention 
The CCG continued to work with partners, particularly with the Public Health team at 
WSCC, in the development of a falls and fracture prevention strategy. Much of the 
progress around this was undertaken as part of the SHCP’s ‘Unwarranted Clinical 
Variation Programme’. The CCG continues to play an active role in this programme. 
 
End of Life Care 
The CCG has worked alongside GP practices to better understand how to improve 
the health care and support for people who are in their last years of life. All GP 
practices undertook a quality audit of their end of life care and developed and 
delivered quality improvement plans focusing on early identification and support, well 
planned and coordinated care, and support for families and carers. 
 
The CCG worked with SCFT to recommission Echo (End of Life Care Hub). The 
number of patients able to benefit from 24/7 coordination of their end of life care 
continues to grow as a result of the quality improvement work carried out in general 
practice as well as the improved integration with Community MDTs.  
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Compassionate Communities for death, dying and bereavement 
The CCG and the End of Life stakeholder group worked closely with WSCC Public 
Health team on the development of the Compassionate Communities programme. 
 
The aim of this programme is to support the development of Compassionate 
Communities in West Sussex to encourage people to have conversations around 
death and dying with the aim of ensuring that people and their families and friends 
are better prepared for death, dying and bereavement. 
 
Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment  
The CCG, in conjunction with many other health and care providers, has been 
developing plans to implement the Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency 
Care and Treatment (ReSPECT). This is a nationally developed process to support 
those at end of life to make advanced plans around their care. The implementation 
has already begun in some local hospital Trusts and a detailed implementation plan 
across health and care is in development. The CCG will continue to work with the 
local ReSPECT Implementation Collaborative Group to ensure that online templates, 
training and support are provided to community and primary care services during 
2020/21.  

Dementia 
The CCG has implemented the sharing of dementia diagnosis discharge plans 
between SPFT and Sussex Community Proactive Care Teams.  This ensures that 
people diagnosed with dementia by the Dementia Assessment Team are registered 
with the Proactive Care Teams. 
 
This means that these patients should receive the support from the MDT to enable 
them to stay as healthy as possible and live independently at home for as long as 
they are able. 
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Transforming Primary and Community 
Care 
 
Improving Primary Care Access 
100% of patients in Coastal West Sussex have access to Extended Access 
appointments. Service delivery now achieves and regularly exceeds the mandatory 
minimum of 30 minutes per 1,000 patients.  
 
Innovations in primary care continue to provide the GP Improved Access service 
from seven locality hubs including two new sites within WSHFT in Chichester and 
Worthing.  The service has offered over 65,000 appointments in the last year with 
the utilisation rate remaining high, averaging at around 80%.  The utilisation is 
greater in the week and when services are offered at a GP practice hub so work 
continues to improve the use of clinics offered at the weekends and in the hubs co-
located within the hospital sites. 

 
Resilience in Primary Care 
General Practice in Coastal West Sussex continues to be fragile with the number of 
individual practices reducing year on year. A Vulnerable Practice Group has been 
established within the CCG to support practices where particular issues have been 
highlighted.  Additional support of £70,000 was provided from the NHSE GP 
Resilience Fund to support practices in Coastal West Sussex.  
 
The CCG has been working with individual practices on the Productive General 
Practice programme, which aims to provide quality improvement techniques for 
practice staff to improve their working lives and free up time. By working more 
efficiently, the service to the patient is also improved.  To date nine practices have 
participated in the programme with a further one working towards completion. The 
benefits of having a number of different clinical and non-clinical roles employed 
within practices has been recognised by NHSE with the introduction of the Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme as part of the PCN DES. 
 
The CCG has established strong links with most of its practices and has developed a 
practice visit support plan. The CCG has funded designated management support to 
work with PCNs and individual practices within those networks. 
 

Primary Care Networks  
Across Coastal West Sussex, ten PCNs have been established covering 100% of 
the population, with 38 PCNs across Sussex in total.  Each of the CCG’s PCNs has 
now appointed a Clinical Director to oversee the development of the network and its 
partnerships.  During 2019/20, the first year of the Network Contract the PCNs have 
been delivering the extended hours DES and begun recruiting to the first cohort of 
additional roles that will support the delivery of improved health outcomes for the 
PCN population.  In 2019/20 this includes Clinical Pharmacists and Social 
Prescribers and preparations are underway to recruit to further addition roles in 
2020/21 (Physicians Associates and First Contact Physiotherapists).  
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A Sussex wide forum for Clinical Directors to support development and partnership 
working across the health system has been established.  The CCG has specifically 
deployed development and accelerator monies to support organisation, leadership 
and infrastructure maturity within the PCNs.  During 2019/20, the CCG contributed to 
the national consultation on draft PCN service specifications to move forward with 
their evolution in a measured way, and ensure that the CCG is able to support PCNs 
on this transition to integrated care for our population. 
 
The CCG is working closely with PCNs and directly with practices during the 
response to COVID-19 to support them as priorities change during the pandemic. 
The CCG will be closely monitoring this in 2020/21 to fully understand the impacts 
both immediate and longer term for primary and community care. 
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Improving Cancer Care  
 
As shown in the performance summary, cancer services in Coastal West Sussex 
have been challenged this year by a range of factors such as the rise in cancer 
incidence and prevalence in the population, the growing number of treatment 
options, as well as the financial pressures in the system.  However, alongside this, 
the cancer survival rate is also increasing and it is equally important that the system 
is able to focus on patients who are ‘living with and beyond cancer’.  
 
Although an improving picture, performance against the NHS Constitutional 
standards for cancer has seen a sustained period of non-compliance against the 
metric for 85% of patients referred for suspected cancer receiving their first definitive 
treatment within 62 days. Such non-compliance in aggregate cancer metrics at 
WSHFT has a negative impact on the CCG being able to achieve the 62-day target, 
particularly for patients requiring treatment at tertiary centres.  
 
The CCG’s business plan for 2019/20 sets out key plans and commitments to 
improving health outcomes for cancer patients.  The goals for cancer services were 
also identified in a single Cancer Commissioning Plan, which was agreed across the 
Sussex and East Surrey CCGs5.  This strategic plan aligns with both the National 
Cancer Strategy6 and the subsequently released NHS Long Term Plan.   
 
The CCG’s ambition is to achieve transformational change in local cancer services in 
order to meet the above challenges. To this end, the CCG’s cancer commissioning 
team has worked collaboratively with the Cancer Team at WSHFT to agree an 
Integrated Cancer Service Improvement Plan.  This is aimed at improving patient 
experience and outcomes by focusing on earlier diagnosis, sustainable recovery of 
the cancer performance standards, and developing cohesive plans across primary 
and secondary care to respond to the national drive for personalised care by 
supporting patients to live well with and beyond their cancer diagnosis. 
 
This year the CCG has supported the development of a number of straight to test 
pathways that can ensure patients are navigated through the diagnostic phase more 
efficiently.  Such pathways should enable patients to have an earlier diagnosis that 
confirms either they are diagnosed with cancer, or be reassured that they do not 
have cancer within 28 days of being referred by their GP.  
 
The CCG works with the Surrey and Sussex Cancer Alliance to provide a 
transformational framework to promote better prevention and earlier diagnosis and to 
deliver innovative and timely treatments to improve survival, quality of life and patient 
experience. 
 
The ongoing vision is to continue to develop and deliver world-class outcomes in 
cancer care, and the CCG is committed to further transforming cancer services in 
partnership with local providers of primary and secondary care services, as well as 
part of the Sussex ICS.  
 
                                                           
5 Sussex and East Surrey Commissioners Cancer Plan (April 2019) 
6 Achieving world-class cancer outcomes: a strategy for England 2015-2020’ 
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Cancer Prevention 
The SHCP report “Our Population Health Check” identified alcohol misuse, lack of 
physical activity, poor diet, and smoking as being factors responsible for over 30% of 
illnesses.  Over 90% of cases of lung cancer are associated with smoking. Alcohol 
misuse raises the risk of a range of cancers including breast, liver, and oral and poor 
diet and lack of exercise have been associated with increased risk of some cancers.  
 
The One You initiative signposts people to services that help them to access advice 
and support to promote smoking cessation, eating a healthy diet, drinking within the 
recommended ‘lower risk’ guidelines, encouraging physical activity as well as 
maintaining a healthy weight. 2019/20 was the first full year with a Sussex and East 
Surrey Cancer Plan in place, which was co-developed with a wide range of 
stakeholders across the SHCP. The strategy covers prevention, care, treatment and 
living well with and beyond cancer and sets out the ambitions to transform cancer 
care.   
 

Cancer Screening 
The CCG has actively engaged with Cancer Research UK ‘fingertips’ data to better 
understand the population gaps in terms of screening uptake in the local eligible 
population.  This has enabled the development of local plans to target engagement 
in primary care towards improving screening uptake.  
 
During 2019/20, the CCG has been working closely with one of its largest local 
PCNs to develop and test initiatives aimed at increasing screening uptake, 
particularly in hard to reach populations.  This work is starting to show incremental 
improvements in local screening uptake rates, particularly for breast and cervical 
cancer screening.  This work will be ongoing, drawing in other PCNs as a means of 
supporting earlier diagnosis in primary care.  
 
 

Urgent and Emergency Care 
 
Sussex-wide Strategic Integrated Urgent Care 
Throughout 2019/20, the CCG has continued to work across to develop and 
implement the Sussex strategic networked model for integrated urgent care ensuring 
people get the right care in the right place.  
 
The way patients access urgent care services has remained unchanged in that they 
continue to contact NHS 111; however, this service is being improved and extended 
to include a Clinical Assessment Service that provides 24/7 access to clinical advice 
and treatment, available over the telephone and online. 
 
A procurement process was undertaken with other Sussex, Kent and Medway CCGs 
for the new NHS 111 / Clinical Assessment Service.  The contract was awarded to 
SECAmb, working in partnership with Integrated Care 24. The new service will be 
live in early 2020. 
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To support the system over winter 2019/20, the CCG worked with NHS 111 to book 
people into appointments either through the GP Improved Access service or to one 
of the UTCs or Minor Injury Units across Sussex. 
 
The CCG actively worked with the other Sussex CCGs to co-locate six new UTCs, 
with different A&E departments across Sussex hospitals. These new points of 
access are located at: 
 

 Conquest Hospital - Hastings  

 Eastbourne District General Hospital - Eastbourne 

 Princess Royal Hospital - Haywards Heath  

 Royal Sussex County Hospital - Brighton 

 St Richards Hospital - Chichester  

 Worthing District General Hospital - Worthing 
 
These are in addition to the two standalone UTCs at Crawley Hospital and Lewes 
Victoria Hospital (early 2020). 
 

Sussex System Resilience 
The CCG worked with health partners using learning from previous years to prepare 
for surges in demand.  
 
To achieve this, these priorities were agreed:  
 

 To enable patients to access where appropriate alternative pathways to A&E 

 To improve how systems respond to system pressures and surges in demand 

 To improve the use of additional GP primary care appointments or other 
alternative services  

 To increase mental health services when hospitals are under pressure 

 To reduce the number of patients with an acute hospital length of stay of 21 or 
more days 

 
The CCG has worked with partners on plans to ensure more capacity in periods of 
pressure, for example half term holidays, bank holidays, and during winter. 
The SHCP resilience plans for the winter period received a green assurance rating 
from NHSE and NHSI. 
 

Urgent Care across West Sussex 
The CCG is working with PCNs on the co-location of Improved Access services and 
models for a more efficient clinical workforce. 
 
During 2019/20, there has been significant work across the Sussex CCGs in 
developing pathways, which are designed to reduce waits in hospital beds once 
patients are medically fit following an episode in hospital. This work is aligned to two 
key programmes of work – the 40% reduction in Long Length of Stay numbers, and 
the SHCP-wide Step Up Step Down programme. 
 
The HomeFirst pathway, which enables patients to undergo assessments for 
ongoing care needs in their home rather than in a hospital environment, was 
implemented though partnership working across the system during 2019/20. It has 
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required a shift in how patients’ discharges are managed and supported. The 
pathway has been developed through significant work by SCFT, WSCC and the 
Acute Trusts co-designing a discharge pathway that meets immediate needs on 
discharge and enables a timely assessment within a patient’s home. This ensures 
patients can return to their own homes when they are medically ready with the right 
support wrapped around them to improve individual patient outcomes.  
 
SASH began implementing the pathway in July 2019 and completed rolling out 
across all wards during January 2020. WSHT began a phased roll out of the full 
pathway from October 2019 and mobilised across both sites early 2020. Princess 
Royal Hospital began implementing the pathway during December 2019 and expects 
to be fully implemented by the end of 2019/20.  
 
The Step Up Step Down programme ensures there is support for individuals to 
remain as close to home as possible during a crisis of health. There has been 
development work during 2019/20 with SCFT to move towards the model of urgent 
community crisis response described within the NHS Long Term Plan. This requires 
a transformation of existing responsive services to ensure delivery of the new two-
hour crisis response and two day enablement target required for 2020/21 in the NHS 
Long Term Plan.  
 
 

Stroke 
Stroke continues to be a local and national priority with the overall aim of removing 
or reducing unwarranted variation in outcomes for stroke patients.  
 
There has been a refresh of the CCG’s Stroke Review / Stroke Transformation 
programme over the autumn of 2019 and timescale for full delivery against national 
standards and guidelines set for 2021/22.  This refresh included establishing a 
Stroke Clinical Reference Group and a Stroke Operational Delivery Group.   
 
A clinical pathway mapping exercise held in December 2019 brought together key 
stakeholders to map out the current pathway, identify gaps and gain commitment to 
move towards recommended service improvements.  A draft Case for Change was 
developed and options development and appraisal for a compliant acute stroke 
provision will progress over the summer of 2020. 
 
An Early Supported Discharge (ESD) service will commence implementation by April 
2020 with a review scheduled for September 2020.  Further delivery ambitions for 
2020/21 will be incorporated into the CCG’s Business Plan for next year:  
 

 Commissioning and implementation of six-monthly reviews for stroke survivors 

 Commissioning of Stroke Prevention measures specifically for optimising the 
management of Atrial Fibrillation to reduce the ‘protect and perfection’ gaps as 
part of the Cardiovascular Disease Sustainability and Transformation Programme 
Unwarranted Variation work  
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Ambulance Services 
The CCGs across Kent, Surrey and Sussex have been working together with 
SECAmb to improve the delivery of the ambulance service and patient care across 
the region. 
 
The commissioners have committed to additional investment in ambulance services, 
starting in 2018/19, with similar levels of investment over the following two years. 
The additional investment will address the following to help improve performance: 
 

 Ensure the service has the right number of staff, with the right skills, to meet the 
changing needs of its patients 

 Improve the service’s fleet of vehicles, to ensure there are the right number and 
type of vehicles available to respond to all categories of call, and significantly 
increase the number of front-line ambulance staff on the road and in its 
Emergency Operations Centres 

 
The CCG is also working closely with SECAmb to deliver a number of other 
improvements. These include: 
 

 Continued focus on reducing hospital handover delays which has improved but 
will need to be sustained  

 Continued improvement in performance relating to how emergency calls are 
answered and handled 

 Further work with the Trust to support recruitment and fill any gaps in staffing 

 Updating the service specification to ensure the same level of service is provided 
across the whole geography of the contract, ensuring a fair and equitable service 
for the whole population 

 
 

Patient Transport 
The Patient Transport Service (PTS) is a non-emergency service provided for 
medically eligible residents of Sussex who require support in getting to their 
appointments.  The current contract with SCAS is now in its third year with an 
additional year to be mobilised for 2020/21. 
 
The operational and quality performance on the contract has been maintained and in 
some areas improved in 2019/20 compared with 2018/19. The levels of complaints 
and incidents remain relatively low for a contract of this size. There are still some 
challenging areas within the contract on which the CCG is working with SCAS to 
improve, particularly around call answering, discharges, and transfers. 
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Planned Care 
 
The priorities for the Planned Care team for 2019/20 were to manage demand for 
planned care services and to ensure that pathways were clinically effective and 
delivered in a timely and affordable way thereby reducing waiting times for patients.  
 
Although the 18-week RTT was only met once at WSHFT the waiting list size has 
been maintained effectively. The CCG has been working closely with the Trust to 
develop a single referral pathway that has already identified duplications and 
inefficiencies, which will improve the patient experience and access to care. 
 
All Sussex CCGs are part of a national fast mover pilot to reduce the number of long 
waiters (including those waiting more than 26 week for elective treatment) and as 
such, the CCG has been working with WSHFT to offer earlier appointments to some 
patients with alternative providers, for example, ophthalmology and dental services. 
 
In addition, the demand management programme has been focussed on reducing 
variation in GP referrals not easily explained by different demographics, health 
needs or practice populations. 
 

Improving Care for People with Long Term Conditions 
The CCG commissions a number of services from general practices for people with 
long-term conditions including respiratory services, diabetes services, Prostate 
Specific Antigen (PSA) monitoring and serious mental illness services.  
 
For respiratory care, the collaborative respiratory pathway review working group has 
been developing a coordinated, single view and approach to identifying and 
addressing local respiratory priorities in accordance with the National Priority 
Initiative (NPI) guidance. Their recommendations include improving case finding and 
diagnosis through enhanced spirometry, more integrated MDT working at the PCN 
level for the most complex patients, enhanced access to pulmonary rehabilitation, 
and greater support to improve inhaler technique.  The group has also been looking 
to develop improvement plans for the most at risk patients in terms of access to 
home oxygen, Non-Invasive Ventilation and new models of care for breathlessness 
management.  
 
For diabetes care, a similar programme template has been developed for a 
coordinated, single view of the diabetes pathways. Some early successes include 
Board approval of the scope of the diabetes programme of work, the establishment 
of a diabetes working group, and the early development of a data sub group to 
ensure that priority recommendations have a solid evidence base.  
 
For PSA monitoring patients with raised prostate-specific antigen who are 
discharged by secondary care are offered ongoing surveillance of their condition in 
their GP practice, a more convenient and familiar setting. This service is built on the 
premise that primary care is well placed to address the long-term issues of people 
living with and beyond cancer and to minimise future ill health for this group. 
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For serious mental illness the CCG’s LCS works to improve not only the mental 
health of patients but also to ensure their long-term or multiple long-term conditions 
are adequately managed and that all opportunities are given to patients to improve 
both their mental and physical health. 

 

Children, Young People and Maternity 
 
Children’s wheelchair services  
NHSE is working together with a range of people and organisations to improve 
wheelchair services and to ensure that all wheelchair users receive the best possible 
support for their needs.  
 
Over the past year, whilst significant improvements have been made to the pathway 
of children receiving their wheelchair or specialist seating, the target of 92% within 
18 weeks has not been met. Therefore, the recommendation has been made that an 
overall review of the services is conducted across West Sussex incorporating NHS 
West Sussex and NHS Brighton and Hove CCGs, together with SCFT with a view to 
an aligned service improvement.    
 
Neurodevelopmental Pathway  
Children with Special Educational Needs and Disability have been a focus during 
2019/20 and will continue to be during 2020/21.  Children with complex medical 
needs are now identified earlier and their specific needs flagged to community and 
special school nurses before they enter a school setting.  
 
The CCG recognises that the support for children with Special Educational Needs 
and Disability would be improved if the assessment, identification and support of 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder was 
redesigned as families often report long waiting times for diagnosis and care, 
confusion about the roles of professionals on the pathway, and a need for more 
information and individual support before, during and after a diagnosis.  
 
The Neurodevelopmental Pathway programme aims to address all these issues and 
the CCG is increasing the workforce to focus specifically on reducing waiting times 
for assessment.  Families will have access to clear and concise interventions, 
training, and support for when they identify a concern.  
 
Local maternity system (Sussex-Wide) 
In 2019/20, the Sussex and East Surrey CCGs and members of the Local Maternity 
System (LMS), worked with hospitals, Public Health, Local Authorities and maternity 
service user representatives to co-produce and publish the LMS Plan which 
describes the needs of the population and what the CCG is doing with maternity 
services to make them safer, kinder and offer more choice and personalised care.  
 
The LMS partnership has co-produced a new personalised care plan providing 
women with unbiased and supportive information, enabling them to think about 
discussions and decisions they may want during pregnancy.   
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Working with the LMS the CCG has supported the development of four Maternity 
Voices Partnerships (MVPs) and created the Western Sussex Maternity Voices 
Partnership. MVPs, as forums for maternity service users, providers and 
commissioners, have ensured the CCG is co-creating services to reflect the needs of 
individuals who use maternity services.     
 
The LMS has focused on improving health workers’ perinatal mental health skills by 
training Perinatal Mental Health Service Champions and Perinatal Mental Health 
Service Specialists and supported training to deliver ‘Mellow Parents-to-be’, helping 
parents understand and connect with their baby before birth, decrease stress and 
isolation and increase social support in preparation for parenthood.  
 
The local Trusts are on course to reduce rates of stillbirth, neonatal death, and 
maternal death and brain injuries during birth by 20% by end of 2020/21. Additionally 
across the LMS, the CCG is working towards 35% of women accessing Maternity 
Services being in Continuity of Carer models of care by April 2020.  Continuity of 
Care teams offer midwifery care from small numbers of midwives during pregnancy, 
at birth and afterwards which have been shown to improve outcomes and enable 
greater personalised choice for individuals who are pregnant.  
 
Maternity services for Coastal West Sussex 
The majority of women living in Coastal West Sussex deliver at WSHFT at either its 
Chichester or Worthing Hospitals.  Both maternity units were rated as ‘Outstanding’ 
in the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection.  Maternity services across 
Coastal West Sussex continue to be rated as ‘Outstanding’ in the CCG IAF.   
 
Over the past year, WSHFT has set up a MVP to ensure that the voices of the 
women and their partners are integral to any service redesign.  There is a high rate 
of smoking at booking in the Coastal West Sussex area and WSHFT is trialling a 
Maternity Support Worker providing smoking cessation support. St Richards’ 
Hospital provides women with a choice of birth settings: home birth, Midwife Led Unit 
(MLU) and Obstetric Unit.  Worthing Hospital is currently creating a MLU within the 
maternity unit in order to offer women the full range of birth settings. 
 
With the support of the LMS, WSHFT is on track to achieve the national target of 
35% of women receiving continuity of carer by April 2020.   
 

Medicines Management 
The CCG’s Medicines Management Team has worked with local clinical teams and 
providers to help patients get the most from their medicines and for the local health 
system to get effectiveness and value from medicines. Highlights for 2019/20 
include: 
 

 Commissioning the Medicines Optimisation in Care Homes Service, which has 
reviewed medicines with 172 care home residents in the first six months of 
2019/20, estimated to have avoided 30 hospital admissions  

 Safeguarding the use of antibiotics with GP practices and system partners, 
achieving a continual improvement and now being below the national target for 
overall level of antibiotics prescribed    
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 Supporting GP practices to improve prescribing including bringing GP prescribing 
leads together for peer review and learning from shared good practice, and 
supporting audit of high dose of opioid analgesics, respiratory medicines, and 
other areas 

 Working closely with the local acute trust and other partners to increase the use 
of best value specialist and biosimilar medicines resulting in savings between 
April and November of over £1.3m, helping to fund other local health services 

 

Continuing Healthcare 
The West Sussex CHC Team is hosted by the CCG and has delegated 
responsibilities from the three West Sussex CCGs to deliver NHS CHC and 
Children’s Continuing Care (CCC). During 2019/20, the team managed a £72m 
budget. The team manage two statutory functions; to undertake eligibility 
assessments for NHS funding and, when necessary, to commission appropriate care 
and support.  
  
The West Sussex CHC Team has made many significant achievements to 
continually improve the service it provides to individuals, families and their 
representatives with a clear focus on reducing variability, raising consistency, 
reflection and learning as well as creating further efficiencies in service delivery and 
promoting a positive user experience. 
  
The team has worked with system partners to ensure more assessments are now 
taking place in the right location and at the right time and when the individual’s on-
going needs are better known. The impact of this is quicker discharge from hospital 
and fewer CHC assessments taking place in an acute hospital setting. The team is 
working to improve the number of eligibility decisions within 28 days and overall 
reduction in the number of cases exceeding twelve weeks for an eligibility decision. 
 

The team has improved internal processes to provide more timely assessments and 
appeals whilst identifying areas of further improvement and / or learning. Overall 
customer satisfaction remains high based on the feedback questionnaires received 
from individuals and their families and is seen as a key measure of the quality of 
service delivery.  
  
A recent review of Personal Health Budget provision also found the team had made 
good progress with embracing personalisation which is a clear theme and priority 
throughout the service, with over 90% of individuals cared for at home now having a 
Personal Health Budget (about 300 individuals). 
  
A programme of work has been established and embedded to support CHC staff 
experience through the promotion of shared values, inclusivity, innovation and 
continual personal and professional development. 
  
Pan-Sussex CHC Developments 
During 2019/20  a ‘whole system’ review of CHC was completed to understand its 
interdependencies and any areas of conflict or challenge to help ensure the CHC 
function was fit for current and future purpose and able to be aligned to the CCG and 
pan Sussex configuration. 
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This led to an agreement that the CCGs would embark on a transformation 
programme to improve the CHC service, close the significant gaps in assurance that 
currently exist, mitigate future risks, ensure that there is ongoing consistency, and 
focus across the wider area within CHC.  
  
To date the CCG has made positive steps in supporting the establishment of a pan-
Sussex CHC Transformation Board. This has seen the co-production of a Sussex 
wide CHC Improvement Plan to address ongoing compliance with the National 
Framework CHC (revised 2018), provide assurance to the CCG Governing Body 
with regards to service quality, finance and reputation and offer options for safe and 
efficient commissioning that ensure quality and best value. 
  
A number of work streams are being progressed to achieve these including 
workforce planning and development, policies development, performance reporting, 
stakeholder engagement, communications, personalised commissioning, and 
contracting as well as for CCC and transition cases. 
  
A number of priority recommendations have identified actions that are being taken to 
close the assurance gaps and mitigate ongoing risks, which in turn will enable better 
health outcomes, better experiences for staff and service users and better use of 
resources. 
  
In 2020/21, the CCG looks forward to a number of new developments that will further 
improve service user experience and reduce variation of CHC provision.  

  

Clinically Effective Commissioning Programme 
 
The CCG is a member of the Clinically Effective Commissioning (CEC) programme, 
a Sussex-wide NHS initiative established in 2017 which aims to improve the 
effectiveness and value for money of healthcare services by ensuring that 
commissioning decisions across the region are consistent, that they reflect best 
clinical practice, are in line with latest clinical evidence, and that they represent the 
most effective use of limited resources.  
 
During 2019/20, the CEC programme established a Health Policy Group, tasked with 
scrutinising clinical evidence and leading the development of draft clinical policies 
and a Joint Committee with delegated authority from the Governing Body to approve 
draft clinical policies.  
 
The CCG now has a range of approved clinical policies, which have been embedded 
into acute, and community contracts to ensure that service providers adhere to best 
clinical practice. 
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Improving Mental Health 
 
The CCG is party to the countywide contract with SPFT for the provision of specialist 
mental health services.   
 
The most recent CQC report from June 2019 awarded an overall rating of “Good” 
with “Outstanding” for caring for patients.  
 

Parity of esteem 
The aim of achieving greater ‘parity of esteem’ for mental health services is 
supported each year by the national requirement for CCGs to increase spending by 
at least as much as they are awarded from central government to meet the whole 
needs of their populations. Known as the MHIS this extra funding was spent in 
2019/20 on expanding access to psychological therapies, early intervention services 
for people with psychosis, transforming mental health services for CYP, and adding 
capacity to provide more home treatment as an alternative to hospital admission. 
Improvements were also begun in how easily people can find their way to the right 
mental health care they need, and continued spending from MHIS  funds mean that 
alongside all other new initiatives, these will be sustained into and beyond 2020/21 
and help deliver the objectives of the NHS Long Term Plan in each CCG.  
 
Whilst the Governing Body authorises local investment plans, they are jointly 
developed with many partner agencies before being approved, ranging from people 
who use the services to the staff who deliver them and agencies outside the NHS 
such as Local Authorities, third-sector organisations, and GPs working in primary 
care. Finally, the CCG makes sure these new services are delivering what is needed 
by measuring what they do and the clinical and other outcomes they achieve. 
 

Improvements to Mental Health Inpatient Facilities 
Working with SPFT, the CCG has developed proposals to improve inpatient care. 
The programme is focused on moving provision from estate unfit for purpose to 
modern and safer wards meeting the quality standards specified by the CQC and 
creating a Centre of Excellence for dementia care. The proposals have progressed 
through NHSE and NHSI stage 1 and 2 assurance and a formal public consultation 
to engage with patients and families on the options for improvement.  The feedback 
is being considered to determine the final proposals for implementation in 2021.  

 
The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Service 
IAPT services in West Sussex are provided by Time to Talk (TtT), hosted by SCFT.  
National targets for access and recovery rates are consistently achieved.  
 
The service has a number of Quality Improvement Projects focussed on the service 
for perinatal patients, better engagement with the LGBT community, involving 
patients as partners, men’s engagement with TtT, and reducing waiting times for all 
patients.  
 
TtT will expand service delivery from 18.9% to 22% of estimated prevalence (of 
common mental health problems) by 2023.  
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Technology to empower patients 
The CCG recognises the key role of technology in ensuring the NHS can provide 
modern care and services that are convenient for patients, efficient for the NHS and 
which get people the right care as quickly as possible.  New digital services and 
support are empowering people to take control of their health and care through 
secure online access to clinicians, personalised health information, digital tools, and 
advice that helps them to better manage their conditions.  
 
Online Consultation and Video Consultation System 
In January 2020, the CCG started procurement of an online consultation system, 
which will start to be available throughout 2020.  
  
Feedback from early adopter practices in a neighbouring CCG is very encouraging. 
Some practices are reporting that over half of the contacts made online are being 
resolved without the need for an appointment.   
 
Public Wi-Fi 
The CCG has delivered free, secure and reliable public Wi-Fi services at practices. 
Patients can connect to the internet to access patient online services and GPs can 
demonstrate apps that patients may find useful and signpost them to reliable health 
and care information. Having access to Wi-Fi can reduce pre-appointment anxiety in 
patients and improve their patient experience by being able to make good use of 
their time checking emails and social media. 
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Engaging people and communities 
 
The CCG has a legal duty to ensure the services we commission meet the needs of 
our local population; it engages with and involve patients, carers and the public in 
our work in order to make sure the services we commission are responsive to need 
and deliver the best possible standards of care. The CCG also build local networks 
and partnerships in order to extend reach, and work collaboratively with communities 
and partners to ensure we seek as many views as possible.   
 
Our engagement work informs and influences the commissioning work of the CCG in 
a number of different areas, as set out in the diagram below:  

 
 
Over the past year, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has worked closely with the 
other CCGs across Sussex; which allowed us to align our public engagement 
processes and good practice, while also ensuring that the CCG continues to focus 
on engagement with local communities.  
 



57    ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group  

 

Our work during 2019/20 
 
NHSE Assessment of our Patient and Public Involvement  
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has completed the self-assessment for the review 
of our Patient and Public Involvement over 2019/20. This assessment reviews 
governance, how we engage in our commissioning, and how the CCG has reached 
marginalised communities. The self-assessment indicates that, as in 2018/19, the 
CCG has maintained our “Good” status, and have made improvements in some 
areas that will be progressed in the next year in order to reach “Outstanding”.  
 
Sussex Wide developments  
Over the past year, the CCG has begun to develop its “Community Ambassador” 
programme; this will support the inclusion of “public members” in our strategic work, 
add capacity to our public involvement work, and support how we reach and hear 
from some of our most marginalised groups and communities across Sussex. 
 
The CCG has also developed and recruited to its “Sussex People’s Panel”, an online 
panel of people selected to represent those it does not reach through many of our 
other involvement methods. The panel focuses predominantly on reaching working 
age people, and will provide a way of adding to our existing feedback, and providing 
wider views on Sussex wide programmes of work or project areas.   
 
Our Health and Care… Our FUTURE 
Over the period February 2019 to August 2019, an engagement exercise took place 
to inform the Sussex-wide, and local, responses to the NHS Long Term Plan, and to 
our Sussex “Population Health Check”.  Building on our Big Health and Care 
Conversation of 2018, the “Our Health and Care…our FUTURE” engagement 
programme outlined the challenges faced by the NHS, and the subsequent need to 
transform how health care is delivered. The CCG sought views on both national 
plans and local developments, and suggestions and ideas for further change. The 
areas the CCG has focused on are set out below:  
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As part of the engagement, the CCG also asked people how they would prioritise 
resources, which gave a helpful overview on what our public think are priority areas. 
The CCG has put particular focus on seeking views from particular communities 
such as working age people, BAME communities and those who have the greatest 
health inequalities. 

Commissioning Reform 
As part of the proposal to create three CCGs in Sussex, in line with the national 
direction of travel and in line with the system reform outlined in the NHS Long Term 
Plan, discussion events were held across Sussex with key stakeholders and Patient 
Participation Group (PPG) Leads. The objective was to obtain feedback about the 
proposed CCG mergers, which included the proposal to merge NHS Coastal West 
Sussex, NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex and NHS Crawley CCGs, to identify any 
issues and/or concerns, and to provide information to inform our Equality and Health 
Inequality Impact Assessment on the proposals.   

Our ongoing engagement 
 
We involve the public in a wide variety of ways, some of which are set out below: 
 

 
 
Engagement in commissioning 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has continued to ensure that it puts the views of 
patients, carers and the public at the centre of our commissioning. The CCG 
systematically engages with patients, carers and the public in its commissioning 
work, and has recruited several public members to input to specific commissioning 
areas. The CCG keeps records of all its engagement activities and listening events, 
and proactively manage feedback to ensure it informs commissioning decisions and 
activity. The CCG provides support and expert advice to our commissioners to 
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ensure that decisions are effectively informed by patient, carer and public views. 
Over the past year, the CCG has sought feedback on services including Integrated 
Primary Urgent Care, NHS 111, CYP health and wellbeing services, Mental Health 
In-patient beds, Sussex Musculoskeletal Partnership; Children’s and Maternity 
Services and the Integrated Health and Care Hub.  

Patient Participation Groups  
The CCG continues to work closely with PPGs across the Coastal West Sussex 
area, where it has 42 active PPGs. A bi-annual PPG conference is held, where 
updates are provided on key CCG and wider matters, and where feedback on key 
programmes is sought. Over the year, our PPG members have provided feedback 
on Commissioning Reform, Integrated Primary Urgent Care, how PPGs work with 
Primary Care Networks, and with wider local community networks, and approaches 
to patient and public engagement.    
 
Communities, neighbourhoods and community engagement  
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has continued to build on existing work in 
communities across the area by expanding its network of contacts and has used this 
to seek feedback about health and wellbeing information and to extend invitations to 
be involved in its events. 
 
The CCG has strengthened its relationships with colleagues in the Local Authority 
including the district, borough and parish councils and partners such as Healthwatch 
West Sussex, in order to develop a collaborative approach to engagement. The CCG 
has also developed stronger links with its providers, and participates in a number of 
cross sector groups and projects, which seek to join up the different parts of the 
health and care “journey” and take positive action to improve experience.  

The CCG has established some new relationships with community groups and 
organisations in Coastal West Sussex including Action in Rural Sussex, a charity 
that works to support rural communities, Regis Local Community Network, REAL – 
(Rustington, East Preston, Angmering and Littlehampton Patient Group) and 
Chanctonbury Community Group.  

Engaging with diverse groups 
There are groups and communities in Coastal West Sussex who do not engage with 
the CCG through its regular methods; it is particularly important that the CCG takes 
steps to seek these views, as these groups often comprise of people who have 
existing health inequalities, or inequity of access to health and care services. The 
CCG ensures that all engagement takes account of cultural, linguistic and 
communication/accessibility needs, and works closely with groups and forums and 
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations groups, that can help us reach and 
hear from groups and communities who do not engage through our usual methods. 
These include the West Sussex Minorities Health and Care Group, Friends, Families 
and Travellers, West Sussex Carers Support, West Sussex Youth Forum, Older 
People’s forums, Northbrook College (now the “MET”). 
 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG carries out Equality and Health Inequality Impact 
Assessments (EHIAs) when there are plans to make changes to any services, when 
design a new service; this builds on engagement the CCG has done, and guides 
further engagement with protected characteristic or other relevant groups. 
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Engagement with users of maternity services and those with mental health needs 
supported our Equality Delivery System (EDS2) assessment in the past year.   
 
Keeping patients, carers and the public informed  
The CCG has continued to grow our “health network” – who receive regular “Patient 
Roundups” (newsletters), giving key messages on approaches to health and 
wellbeing, and promoting opportunities to be involved.  
 
The CCG uses a variety of other tools to keep people informed about our work, and 
to promote involvement opportunities - such as its public website, GP Practice 
Health Bulletin, Twitter, Facebook and YouTube. Over the past year, the CCG has 
also used social media to promote a range of campaigns, including Flu, Stay Well 
This Winter, Cervical Cancer Screening and Patient Participation Awareness Week. 

 
Reducing health inequalities  
 
The CCG has a legal duty to reduce health inequalities and the NHS Long Term 
Plan commits the NHS to a greater focus on preventing ill health and reducing health 
inequalities by increasing the NHS’ contribution to tackling some of the most 
significant causes of ill health. This includes new action to help people stop smoking, 
overcome drinking problems and avoid Type 2 diabetes, with a particular focus on 
the communities and population groups most affected. 
 
The contributing factors of poor housing, unemployment and lower educational 
attainment, risky lifestyle behaviours such as smoking and inactivity and access to 
services, mean that people in the CCG’s most deprived communities tend to have 
worse health and lower life expectancy compared with other communities. 
 
At the start of 2019, the West Sussex HWB published its updated Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2019 – 2024: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well. The 
strategy set out the vision, goals and ways in which all partners of the HWB, 
including NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG will work together to improve the health 
and wellbeing for all residents in West Sussex.  
 
In 2019/20, the CCG has continued to work with its partners to improve access to 
services, improve health outcomes, and improve the quality of services and the 
experiences of people living in our most deprived communities. Most notably: 
 

 An independent Sussex-wide review of emotional health and wellbeing support 
for CYP, jointly commissioned by the NHS and local authorities. There were a 
number of engagement activities that took place between May and September 
2019, including surveys for CYP, parents and carers and health professionals, 
focus groups, face-to-face meetings and public events. The findings from the 
review will inform our plans moving forward from 2020/21 and beyond 

 In Coastal West Sussex the development of social prescribing is based around 
Local Community Networks, with some led by the councils and others by the 
voluntary sector. Social prescribing is a way of enabling healthcare professionals 
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to refer a person to a link worker, to co-design a non-clinical social prescription to 
improve their health and wellbeing. It works holistically and flexibly with people, to 
understand their whole issues (problems and strengths) and connects them to 
those services and activities to help their health and wellbeing journey 

 The commencement of the YMCA Dialogue counselling service offering low 
intensity cognitive behavioural therapy in Worthing for 11-18 year olds. This 
evidence-based therapy is particularly suited to anxiety, low mood and phobias 
and was an additional offer to their face-to-face counselling service. Dialogue 
also ran a programme of group activities during the summer of 2019 

 The rollout of the West Sussex Tobacco Control Plan April 2019 to March 2022 
describing the actions needed for the next three years. The work is being driven 
forward by the Smokefree West Sussex Partnership providing the opportunity to: 
tell the West Sussex Story; working across organisational boundaries; developing 
a preventative ethos; and, being accountable to residents 

 West Sussex successfully applied to become a trailblazer site in September 2019 
to develop and implement Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) with Arun as 
one of the pilot areas. MHSTs have been introduced in a number of schools and 
colleges during the 2019/20 academic year, with the new staff undergoing 
placements and training with the University of Sussex 
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Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
 
Our Commitment 
2019/20 has been a significant year of development and improvement for the CCG in 
relation to equality, diversity and inclusion and it has invested in a new Head of 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion post (shared across Sussex) to achieve a step 
change in culture. The CCG has created its first Sussex CCGs’ Inclusion Plan, which 
sets out its ambitions for both its populations and staff.  
 
Making a difference for our populations 
Fundamental to the plan, commitment and duty is the aim to commission services 
that meet the diverse needs of our population and tackle health inequalities between 
groups. 
 
Equality 
The Equality Act 2010 established equality duties for all public sector bodies, which 
aim to integrate consideration of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day 
business of all bodies subject to the duty. In particular, the Equality Act 2010 
introduced a new Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requiring public bodies to 
declare their compliance with the duty on an annual basis. This means that the CCG 
must show compliance with both the general and specific duties of the PSED. In the 
exercise of its functions, for the general duty we must have due regard to the need 
to:  
 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 
 

For the purposes of the Act, protected characteristics are defined as age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex (male and female), and sexual orientation.  
 
Equality and Health Inequality Impact Assessments  
Under the Equality Act 2010 and Health and Social Care Act 2012 the CCG is legally 
required to demonstrate due regard to our duties in advancing equality and reducing 
health inequalities. One of the ways the CCG complies with this is through the 
completion of EHIAs. 
 
During the year, the CCG has reviewed the approach to Equality Impact 
Assessments (EIAs) and integrated them with Health Inequality Assessments. This 
means the CCG is considering all aspects of our duties in a fully integrated way 
through an EHIA.  
 
EHIAs help the CCG to understand how decisions may affect people; what the CCG 
needs to do to better to meet people’s needs; and to think clearly about how CCG 
plans may affect all communities or groups, including CCG staff. It also provides the 
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CCG with an opportunity to consider how to further promote equality, diversity, 
inclusion and human rights in everything that we do. The assessment is not static, 
and can be updated several times during a piece of work. 
 
The CCG aims to make available EHIAs so that decision-making is transparent. 
 
You can view a list of completed EHIAs by year on the CCG website: 
 
https://www.westsussexccg.nhs.uk/our-priorities/equality-diversity-and-inclusion/ 
 

If you are seeking a particular EHIA please contact our Equality and Diversity team 
on sxccg.ehia@nhs.net. 
 
In 2019/20, local examples included: 
 
• Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) Model  – UTCs 
• West Sussex Mental Health Inpatient Redesign Programme  
 
Equality Delivery System 2  
The EDS2 is a framework that helps NHS organisations improve the services they 
commission or provide for their local communities and provides evidence of better 
working environments, free of discrimination, for those who work in the NHS. 
  
On advice from NHSE, the CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey undertook a 
combined EDS2 assessment during 2018/19 when maternity and IAPT services 
were assessed. In 2019, the assessment report found good practice in both services 
but also areas for improvement particularly in relation to collecting patient diversity 
data. A full copy of the EDS2 report can be found on our website. 
 

Making a difference for our staff 
 
Staff Networks 
During 2019, the CCG established a new Staff Equality Network and set up groups 
for BAME staff, LGBT staff and disabled staff. The CCG also appointed staff 
ambassadors for faith, age, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership 
and sex (gender). 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard 
During 2019, a Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) report was developed for 
the CCG and a single WRES action plan across Sussex was created as part of the 
inclusion plan described above. The WRES focusses on our need to improve the 
ratio of shortlisting to appointment of BAME applicants and experience of bullying 
and harassment. 
 
Workforce Disability Equality Standard  
The CCG published a collective Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) 
report ahead of the national requirement to do so. This included an assessment of 
performance against the indicators and an action plan to improve the work 
experience of our disabled staff in areas such as career progression and wellbeing.  

https://www.westsussexccg.nhs.uk/our-priorities/equality-diversity-and-inclusion/
https://www.westsussexccg.nhs.uk/our-priorities/equality-diversity-and-inclusion/
mailto:sxccg.ehia@nhs.net
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Furthermore, our Disabled Staff Network also achieved Disability Confident 
Employer Level 2 status in 2019 and is working towards Level 3 status in 2020. 
 
Stonewall Champion 
In 2019, the CCG became a Stonewall Champion through the work of the LGBT 
Staff Forum and is now working towards gaining a place in the top 100 employers’ 
index. 
  
Gender Pay Gap 
During 2019, the CCG undertook a voluntary assessment in relation to the gender 
pay gap and found that the mean pay gap as a whole was 21%.  
 
Engagement with our staff was undertaken to understand some of qualitative drivers 
behind this and found perception of a lack of career progression and flexible working 
and also a sense that the organisation placed leadership value on attributes that are 
traditionally associated with men such as competitive behaviour. 
 
A gender pay gap action plan was developed which included leadership 
development, the creation of a women’s network and flex as part of smarter working. 
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Joint Health and wellbeing strategy 
 
The CCG has a seat on the West Sussex HWB, which has been established as a 
statutory committee of WSCC and is the body responsible for leading on improving 
the co-ordination of commissioning across NHS, social care, and public health 
services. The HWB brings together elected council members from both county and 
district/borough, leaders from the NHS, social care, districts and boroughs, and the 
voluntary and community sector, working together as system leaders. Supporting 
one another to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population, and to 
reduce the gap in health inequalities, and promote joined up working across the 
health and social care system to ensure better quality services for all.  
 
A major responsibility is the development of the health and social care needs 
assessment referred to as the JSNA. HWBs have a statutory duty (together with 
CCGs) to produce both a JSNA and JHWS for their local population. Furthermore, 
the HWB has held regular seminars throughout the year to continue to support 
systems leadership and engagement identifying further opportunities for partnership 
working.  
 
The JSNA identified the health and wellbeing needs of the people of West Sussex 
and the results were used to inform local commissioning of services to create a more 
effective and responsive local health and care system. Challenges include the 
increase in the ageing population and pressures on the working age population, life 
expectancy has increased but considerable inequalities persist in life expectancy at 
birth and the gap between richest and poorest, the need to reduce harms and threats 
to health including immunisation rates, road safety, and screening rates, and the 
need to maximise prevention opportunities particularly around obesity, alcohol, 
smoking rates and physical activity. 
 
The refreshed Joint West Sussex JHWS 2019 - 2024, officially launched on 25 April 
2019, sets out the HWB overarching plan for improving health and wellbeing for 
West Sussex residents and consists of a few carefully selected priorities under three 
key themes; Starting Well, Living and Working Well and Ageing Well.  The Strategy 
provides the framework for the planning, commissioning and provision of services by 
the NHS Trusts, CCGs, Local Authorities and Voluntary and Community Sector. 
 
Our partnership and joint commissioning arrangements across West Sussex are an 
important part of our journey towards health and social care integration, which is 
further supported this year with the new appointment of a Joint Director of Strategic 
Commissioning. A Collaborative Working Agreement, launched in October 2019, 
supports the co-operative working relationship between the four boards WS HWB, 
West Sussex Safeguarding Children’s Partnerships, West Sussex Safeguarding 
Adults’ Board and the Safer West Sussex Partnership in order to improve the health 
and wellbeing and safety of all residents of West Sussex, and to safeguard children, 
young people and adults, particularly those who are vulnerable to abuse and neglect. 
 
This year we have worked closely together with NHS Crawley CCG, NHS Horsham 
and Mid Sussex and WSCC to review and strengthen the governance structure 
required in supporting the high-level joint commissioning strategy. New areas for 
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collaboration and integration have been identified which, together with the use of the 
BCF, will support further system-wide collaboration and transformation. 
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Sustainable development 
During 2019/20 NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG along with the other Sussex CCGs 
have built on their ongoing collaboration.  Alongside work on a new operating model 
for staff, the CCGs have developed a comprehensive ‘Smarter Working’ programme. 
This is aimed at introducing to the CCGs agile, activity based and flexible working 
patterns. NHSE has defined agile working as: 
 
“…a way of working in which an organisation empowers its people to work where, 
when and how they choose –with maximum flexibility and minimum constraints –to 
optimise their performance and deliver ‘best in class’ value and customer service.” 

 
There are a large number of employee and CCG benefits anticipated from the new 
ways of working. The main benefits, which relate to sustainable development, have 
been identified as: 
 

 Meetings can run more smoothly with cloud-based solutions for collaborating and 
sharing documents 
 

 There is far less need to travel to multiple sites for multiple meetings through 
improved telephony e.g. video conferencing and other means 

 

 There will be a reduction in our carbon footprint from reduced travelling reliance 
on paper processes, thereby improving our organisational sustainability 

 
These benefits will build on the increased use of teleconferencing, and Skype for 
Business, which was rolled out to all areas last year.  
 
In responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCG has fully embraced virtual 
working and has accelerated the roll out of new technology such as MS Teams to 
support remote working and maintain business continuity. This has been very 
successful and has been a good illustration of what can be achieved within a short 
space of time. The CCG will continue to build on these technological improvements 
and cultural changes as the CCG moves into the restoration and recovery phases of 
the pandemic. 

The CCG impacts on the environment indirectly through its commissioning activity 
and directly through its own corporate activities. The indirect environmental impact of 
the CCG through the services it commissions is far greater than its direct impact. As 
commissioner of services, the CCG has a responsibility to incorporate consideration 
of sustainability into our procurement exercises. This is included in our procurement 
policies. As an example, we have successfully been able to fill vacant space in 
under-occupied premises and better use the utilities that support these buildings. 
 
In addition, consideration of environmental and socio-economic benefits (social 
value) associated with processes and operations in commissioning including 
procurement, service design and commissioning decisions. The Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012 places a requirement all public bodies to consider economic, 
social and environmental benefits when buying of goods and commissioning of 
services, taking a value for money approach (not lowest cost) to assess contracts. 
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During 2019/20, the CCG will be moving to smaller premises to further reduce our 
carbon footprint. This will be facilitated through the smarter working outlined above. 
 

 

Performance Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Signed 

Adam Doyle 
Accountable Officer 
25 June 2020  
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Section 2:  Accountability Report   
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Corporate Governance Report: 
A year in Governance 
 

This section of the Annual Report enables the CCG to meet key accountability 
requirements to Parliament.  In this section you will find the Corporate Governance 
Report, which includes: 

 The Members’ Report 

 The Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 

 The Governance Statement 

 The Remuneration and Staff Report 

 The Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

 

Members’ Report 
The CCG membership is comprised of each of the GP practices within the 
boundaries of NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. Each practice falls within one of the 
CCGs six localities, which are in turn represented by a GP who is a member of the 
Governing Body. The practices that make up the membership of NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG including the locality of which they are a member are shown below: 

 

Practice name Address 

Arundel Surgery, The Green Lane Close Arundel, BN18 9HG 

Avisford Medical Group 

Yapton Surgery, North End Road, Yapton, BN18 
ODU 
Branch Surgery: 
Middleton Medical Centre, Elmer Road, Middleton-
on-Sea, PO22 7SR 

Ball Tree Surgery 

Western Road North, Sompting, Lancing, BN15 
9UX 
Branch Surgery: 
Ball Tree – Kingfisher Surgery, 19-21 Culver Road, 
Lancing, BN15 9AX 

Barn Surgery, The 22 Ferring Street, Ferring, BN12 5HJ 

Bersted Green Surgery 32 Durlston Drive, Bognor Regis, PO22 9TD 

Billingshurst Surgery The Surgery, Roman Way, Billingshurst, RH14 9QZ 

Bognor Medical Practice 
The Health Centre, West Street, Bognor Regis,   
PO21 1UT 

Broadwater Medical Centre 5-11 Broadwater Boulevard, Worthing, BN14 8JE 

Cathedral Medical Centre 15 Cawley Road, Chichester, PO19 1XT 

Coppice and Angmering 
Medical Centre 

The Coppice Surgery, Herne Lane, Rustington, 
BN16 3BE 
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Practice name Address 

Branch Surgery: 
Angmering Medical Centre, Station Road, 
Angmering, BN16 4HL 

Cornerways Surgery 145 George V Avenue, Worthing, BN11 5RZ 

Croft Practice 

Barnham Road, Eastergate, Chichester, PO20 3RP 
Branch Surgeries: 
Meadowcroft Surgery, Bilsham Road, Yapton, 
BN18 OJG 
Flintcroft Surgery, The Street, Walberton, BN18 
OPJ 

Fitzalan Medical Group 

Fitzalan Road, Littlehampton, BN17 5JR 
Branch Surgery: 
Wick Surgery, 66 Clun Road, Wick, Littlehampton,   
BN17 7EB 

Flansham Park Health 
Centre 

109 Flansham Park, Bognor Regis, PO22 6DH 

Glebe Surgery, The Monastery Lane, Storrington, RH20 4LR 

Grove House Surgery 

80 Pryors Lane, Bognor Regis, PO21 4JB 
Branch Surgery: 
Arthur Griffiths Clinic, The Parade, Pagham, 
Bognor Regis, PO21 4TL 

Harbour View Practice 

Shoreham Health Centre, Pond Road, Shoreham-
by-Sea, BN43 5US 
Branch Surgery: 
Downsway Surgery, 3 Downsway, Southwick, 
BN42 4WA 

Henfield Medical Centre 

Deer Park, Henfield, BN5 9JQ 
Branch Surgery: 
Partridge Green Surgery, Woodlawn, High Street 
Partridge Green, RH13 8HR 

Langley House Surgery 27 West Street, Chichester, PO19 1RW 

Lavant Road Surgery 8 Lavant Road, Chichester, PO19 5RH 

Lime Tree Surgery, The 

Lime Tree Avenue, Findon Valley, Worthing, BN14 
ODL 
Branch Surgery: 
Durrington Health Centre, Durrington Lane, 
Worthing, BN13 2RX 

Loxwood Medical Practice Farm Close, Loxwood, RH14 0SU 

Manor Practice, The Southwick Street, Southwick, BN42 4TA 

Maywood Healthcare Centre 225 Hawthorn Road, Bognor Regis, PO21 2UW 

New Pond Row Surgery 35 South Street, Lancing, BN15 8AN 

Northbourne Medical Centre 
193A Upper Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, 
BN43 6BT 
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Practice name Address 

Orchard Surgery, The Penstone Park, Lancing, BN15 9AG 

Park Surgery, The St Flora's Road, Littlehampton, BN17 6BF 

Parklands Surgery 4 Parklands Road, Chichester, PO19 3DT 

Petworth Surgery The Surgery, Grove Street, Petworth, GU28 OLP 

Phoenix Surgery, The 4 The Waterfront, Goring-by-Sea, BN12 4FD 

Pulborough Medical Group 
Pulborough Primary Care Centre, Spiro Close, 
Pulborough, RH20 1FG 

Riverbank Medical Centre Dodsley Lane, Midhurst, GU29 9AW 

Selden Medical Centre 6 Selden Road, Worthing, BN11 2LL 

Selsey Medical Practice 
Selsey Medical Centre, High Street, Selsey, 
Chichester, PO20 0QG 

Southbourne Surgery 337 Main Road, Southbourne, PO10 8JH 

St Lawrence Surgery 79 St Lawrence Avenue, Worthing, BN14 7JL 

Steyning Medical Practice 

Steyning Health Centre, Tanyard Lane, Steyning. 
BN44 3RJ 
Branch Surgery: 
Upper Beeding Surgery, 14 Dawn Close, Upper 
Beeding, BN44 3WG 

Strand Medical Group 
1 The Causeway, Goring-by-Sea, Worthing, BN12 
6BT 

Tangmere Medical Centre Malcolm Road, Tangmere, Chichester, PO20 2HS 

Victoria Road Surgery 

50 Victoria Road, Worthing, BN11 1XE 
Branch Surgery: 
Durrington Health Centre, Durrington Lane, 
Worthing, BN13 2RX 

West Meads Surgery 
2-8 The Precinct, West Meads, Bognor Regis, 
PO21 5SB 

Westcourt Medical Centre 12 The Street, Rustington, BN16 3NX 

Willow Green Surgery Station Road, East Preston, BN16 3AH 

Witterings Medical Centre, 
The 

Cakeham Road, East Wittering, PO20 8BH 

Worthing Medical Group 23 Shelley Road, Worthing, BN11 4BS 
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Our Governing Body 

Our Governing Body oversees the decisions that the CCG makes about local health 
services, ensuring our activities meet the best standards of quality for the local 
population. The members of the Governing Body as at 31 March 2020 are as shown 
below. Details of members during the year can be seen on pages 79 – 80. 
 

Gill Galliano – Acting Lay Chair and Lay Member, Finance and Performance 

 

Gill Galliano is NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s Acting Lay Chair and has fulfilled 
this role since July 2018.  Prior to being appointed as the 
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Acting Lay Chair, Gill was 
the Lay Member and Chair of the Finance and 
Performance Committee.  

Gill worked in the NHS from 1982 until 2012; her last 18 
years were in very senior NHS Board positions including 
Chief Executive, Finance Director and Commissioning / 
Operations Director. 

She is a founding Governing Body member of a 
community Interest Company and runs her own 
consultancy and coaching business. 

 

Chris Adcock – Chief Finance Officer 

 

Chris Adcock has a wealth of experience, having worked 
in the NHS since 1997. 

He was previously Chief Financial Officer at Portsmouth 
Hospitals NHS Trust. Before that, he was based at 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
where he was Chief Financial Officer and had a period as 
Interim Chief Executive. He has also worked as Director of 
Finance for University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS 
Trust. 

Chris joined NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group as Chief Finance Officer in July 
2019. 
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Dr Tej Bansil – Locality Director for Regis 

 

Dr Tej Bansil is a GP at Avisford Medical Group. He joined 
as a Salaried GP after completing GP Specialist Training 
and did his final year of training at West Meads Surgery, 
Bognor Regis. 

In December 2013, he completed his Post Graduate 
Diploma with distinction in Diabetes at Cardiff University. 
In April 2015, he became a partner at Avisford Medical 
Group. In July 2016, Tej became the Care Quality 
Commission registered manager and later became Senior 
GP Partner. 

He was awarded Post Graduate Certificate in Strategic 
Leadership and Multi-professional Education in Healthcare 
in November 2017 and has been accredited as a GP 
trainer. 

 

Mr Ralph Beard – Independent Clinical Member (Secondary Care Clinician) 

 

Mr Ralph Beard is the CCG’s Secondary Care Clinician 
and chairs our Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
and our Clinical Innovation and Strategy Committee. 

Ralph has more than 40 years’ experience in the NHS.  
He has been on the Council of the British Association of 
Urologists, chaired a regional surgical training committee, 
and led a 'Closer to Home' project for the Department of 
Health. He remains a General Medical Council Associate 
and Medical Advisor. 

 
 

Dr Richard Brown – Local Medical Committee Representative 

 

Dr Richard Brown is our Local Medical Committee 
representative, in his role at the Local Medical Committee 
he has a particular responsibility for supporting GPs 
working in West Sussex. 

Richard has been a GP for more than 30 years, and still 
works one day a week as a partner in a GP practice in 
South Wiltshire. The rest of the week is spent working for 
Surrey and Sussex Local Medical Committees, having 
been appointed as Medical Director in January 2008 and 
Deputy Chief Executive in 2012. 
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Jayam Dalal – Lay Member, Patient and Public Engagement 

 

Jayam Dalal is the CCG's Lay Member with responsibility 
for Patient and Public Engagement. 

She is a Public Appointments Advisor with the Ethical 
Standards Commissioner for Scotland, and a member of 
the Tribunal Procedure Committee [appointment by the 
Lord Chief Justice].   

Jayam is also a Lay Member of the Residential Property 
Tribunal and on the Judicial College’s Panel of Experts for 
Religion and Belief.  She is a graduate member of the 
Chartered Institute of Marketing. 

 

Dr Hannah Davis – Executive Medical Director 

 

Dr Hannah Davis is the Executive Medical Director for 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG.  

Hannah qualified as a doctor in 2002 and subsequently 
completed her GP training in 2006. Since then she has 
worked as a GP in Chichester for ten years, including 
several years as a GP partner. During this time, she also 
gained a Masters in Medical Law and Ethics from Kings 
College London.  

In 2015, she took on the role of Named GP for 
Safeguarding across the three CCGs in West Sussex, 
whilst continuing to practice as a GP locum. She was 
appointed as Executive Medical Director for NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG in November 2018. 

 

Malcolm Dennett – Interim Lay Member, Finance and Performance 

 

Malcolm Dennett is Interim Lay Member for Finance and 
Performance having been with NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG since June 2018. Malcolm chairs the Finance and 
Performance Committee. 

He is an accountant by training with a varied career both 
in the public and private sectors, and has worked as a 
consultant supporting many aspects of change in the 
public sector. Malcolm has worked in the NHS at Director 
level.  

Malcolm brings experience operating as a Trustee within 
the third sector. Malcolm is also the Lay Member for 
Governance at NHS Brighton and Hove CCG. 
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Adam Doyle – Chief Executive Officer 

 

Adam Doyle is the Chief Executive Officer for NHS 
Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group and 
for the other six CCGs in Sussex. Adam is also the Senior 
Responsible Officer for the Sussex Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership. 

Adam started his career as a physiotherapist and has held 
a number of senior healthcare roles over the past 13 
years. 

Before working in Sussex, Adam was the Chief 
Accountable Officer at NHS Merton CCG in London, 
where he worked from its establishment in 2013. Prior to 
this, Adam was the Director of Private Care and 
Community Services at The Royal Marsden NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

 

John Eagles – Lay Member, Audit and Assurance 

 

John Eagles joined NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG in 
June 2018 as Lay Member with responsibility for Audit and 
Assurance.  

John brings significant experience from local government 
having spent many years with West Sussex County 
Council and from his time as Chief Finance Officer to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex. 

 

 

Dr Edward Ford – Locality Director for Chichester 

 

Dr Edward Ford finished his training in Darlington in 2010 
and moved to Chichester to be closer to family. He has 
worked as a partner in Selsey medical practice since 
2011. 

He has trained medical students and plans to become a 
GP trainer in the next few years. Ned has been an active 
member of the locality since 2011 and is passionate about 
ensuring the taxpayer’s money is spent wisely to deliver 
the best quality and safest care to our population. 
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Dr Hannah Hewlett – Locality Director for Cissbury 

 

Dr Hannah Hewlett graduated from Southampton 
University Medical School and spent her foundation years 
working in Hampshire. She initially pursued a career in 
emergency medicine and spent three years working in 
Australia before moving back to West Sussex to complete 
her training in General Practice. She is now a GP Partner 
in Worthing and has been Locality Director since April 
2019.  Hannah is committed to helping to ensure Worthing 
and the wider population gets access to best possible 
care. 

 

Alison Lewis-Smith – Independent Clinical Member (Registered Nurse) 

 

Alison Lewis-Smith is NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG's 
Independent Clinical Member – Registered Nurse and is 
Chair of the Quality Committee and the CCGs ‘Freedom to 
Speak Up Guardian’. 

Trained as a nurse at St Thomas’ Hospital London, she is 
passionate about service quality, patient safety and 
experience. Alison has enjoyed a varied career primarily in 
integrated community services by working clinically, in 
education and by facilitating quality improvement through 
creative and innovative change programmes in numerous 
senior management and leadership roles in the NHS. 
Alison has a Doctorate in Clinical Practice from the 
University of Southampton and most recently focused her 
work on service development and redesign, strategy and 
quality assurance as a Chief Nurse. 

 

Dr Jo Monjardino – Locality Director for Adur 

 

Dr Jo Monjardino has been a GP at Northbourne Medical 
Centre in Shoreham since 2008 and has been training 
junior doctors and GP trainees since 2013. She spent five 
years working weekly sessions in Worthing Accident and 
Emergency bridging the gap between community and 
hospital care. 

Jo’s commitment is to system-wide safe and quality 
patient care delivered by a resilient workforce. 
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Dr Sarah Pledger – Locality Director for Arun 

 

Dr Sarah Pledger has been Locality Director for Arun 
since 2016. She qualified from King’s College London in 
1987, completed her early training in King’s and 
Gloucestershire and has worked as a General Practitioner 
in the Arun Locality since 1992.  

Sarah is also a specialist in Sexual and Reproductive 
Health, has extensive experience as a trainer, and was 
Director of Training in Reproductive Health for a number of 
years. She has been Clinical Lead for NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG in Gynaecology for eight years, and Urgent 
Care Lead for six years, leading on stroke service 
reconfiguration.     

 

Dr Alex Rainbow – Locality Director for Chanctonbury 

 

Dr Alex Rainbow has been a GP for more than 20 years 
and has been a GP at Steyning Health since 1994. 

Alex is motivated to represent the best interests of patients 
in the Chanctonbury area and for them to receive the best 
possible care. 
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Composition of the Governing Body during 
2019/20 

Name Position Terms of Appointment 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair  Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  
 

Chris Adcock 
 

Chief Finance Officer 
(Joint with NHS Brighton 
and Hove CCG, NHS 
Crawley CCG, NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG, NHS 
Hastings and Rother 
CCG, NHS High Weald 
Lewes Havens CCG 
and NHS Horsham and 
Mid Sussex CCG (until 
31 October 2019 also 
joint with NHS East 
Surrey CCG.)) 
 

Appointment from July 2019 
 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director for 
Regis  

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 
 

Mr Ralph Beard  Independent Clinical 
Member (Secondary 
Care Clinician) 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

Dr Richard Brown Local Medical 
Committee 
Representative  
 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

Jayam Dalal  Lay Member, Patient 
and Public Engagement  

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  
 

Dr Hannah Davies Executive Medical 
Director  

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 
 

Malcolm Dennett  Interim Lay Member, 
Finance and 
Performance  
 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Adam Doyle  Chief Executive Officer  
(Joint with NHS Brighton 
and Hove CCG, NHS 
Crawley CCG, NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG, NHS 
Hastings and Rother 
CCG, NHS High Weald 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  
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Name Position Terms of Appointment 

Lewes Havens CCG 
and NHS Horsham and 
Mid Sussex CCG (until 
31 October 2019 also 
joint with NHS East 
Surrey CCG)). 

John Eagles  Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance  

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

 

Dr Edward Ford  Locality Director for 
Chichester  

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

 

Dr Hannah Hewlett  Locality Director for 
Cissbury  
 

Appointment from 2 April 2019  

Alison Lewis-Smith  Independent Clinical 
Member (Registered 
Nurse) 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Jo Monjardino  Locality Director for 
Adur  
 
 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

Dr Sarah Pledger  Locality Director for 
Arun  
 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

Dr Alex Rainbow  Locality Director for 
Chanctonbury  
 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period  

Pippa Ross-Smith  Chief Finance Officer  Appointment from 1 June 2018 
until 30 June 2019 
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Emergency Preparedness Resilience and 
Response  
 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) and the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) place 
responsibilities on CCGs in relation to Emergency Planning, Resilience and 
Response (EPRR). 
 
The CCA identifies CCGs as a Category 2 responder organisation. This means the 
CCG has a legal obligation to support, co-operate and share information with other 
responding organisations in planning for and responding to emergencies. Section 
252A of the NHS Act 2006 requires that CCGs take appropriate steps to prepare for 
and respond to emergencies.  
 
The CCGs in Sussex have worked together during this year to consider align our 
response to emergencies and to develop a single set of plans and processes that 
can be used throughout Sussex. These plans and policies have now been 
embedded within our organisation and our staff have been trained in their use during 
a response. Therefore, I can confirm that the CCG has in place suitable plans 
enabling it to respond to major incidents and emergencies as they may arise. These 
plans are consistent with the NHSE Emergency Preparedness Framework and will 
be regularly reviewed and exercised.   
 
The NHS Act 2006 requires NHSE to establish processes to monitor and seek 
assurance that each CCG is properly prepared for dealing with emergencies. In 
order to ensure that CCGs are meeting their responsibilities under the CCA and the 
NHS Act 2006, NHSE has created a framework for EPRR, including a robust annual 
assurance process under which NHS organisations are obliged to demonstrate their 
compliance. This process identifies a series of core standards for EPRR against 
which commissioner and provider organisations are assessed. As a commissioner of 
services, CCGs use these core standards to seek assurance from service providers 
and in turn provide assurance to NHSE that the CCG, and commissioned 
organisations, are meeting their EPRR obligations. 
 
The last annual assurance process, concluded in November 2019. I am pleased to 
say that NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG was assessed as ‘Fully Compliant’ with the 
NHSE National Core Standards for EPRR. This means that the CCG has shown it 
can meet all the requirements of this process and provide the fullest possible level of 
assurance.   
 
The CCG’s providers have similar responsibilities in respect of EPRR for which the 
CCG’s seek assurance. The seven CCGs in Sussex collectively sought assurance 
from our provider organisations against the national core standards. Many of our 
providers were able to demonstrate that they were fully compliant or substantially 
compliant with the core standards. Having taken this assurance, we will review their 
position again in a year’s time. Unfortunately, a minority of our providers have been 
unable to demonstrate the required standard and we will work with them throughout 
the year to ensure that they are able to make continuous improvements. 



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    82 

 

As the Chief Accountable Officer for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, I have chosen 
to delegate the responsibility for EPRR to an Accountable Emergency Officer (AEO), 
responsible for ensuring that the CCG is compliant with its EPRR obligations. The 
AEO represents the CCG at the Local Health Resilience Forum, taking a strategic 
coordinated view of EPRR activity amongst health organisations in Sussex. I have 
appointed the Executive Director of Corporate Governance Affairs, as AEO for all of 
the CCG’s in Sussex. The AEO is supported by a Deputy AEO and each CCG has 
identified the Audit and Assurance Committee Chair as the Lay Member with 
responsibility for EPRR.  
 

Register of interests 
The CCG keeps a register of interests and a register of gifts and hospitality 
declarations. The registers for Governing Body members and managers classed as 
‘decision makers’ (band 8a and above) can be found on the CCG’s website 
https://sussexccgs.mydeclarations.co.uk/declarations 

 
Personal data related incidents  
There have been no personal data related incidents that required reporting to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) during the course of 2019/20 for the CCG. 
 

Statement of disclosure to auditors  
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  
 

 So far as the member is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report 

 The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it 

 
Modern Slavery Act   
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to 
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements 
for producing an annual Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out 
in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
  

https://sussexccgs.mydeclarations.co.uk/declarations
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
responsibilities  
 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHSE).  NHSE has appointed the 
Chief Executive Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Coastal West Sussex 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  
 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
(in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of 
services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended)) 

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction) 

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities) 

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHSE has directed each 
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of 
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  
 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and 
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year. 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

 Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable 
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 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHSE, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosure set out below, 
I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
Disclosures: 
 

 Legal Directions issued by NHSE in March 2017. These were focused on four 
key areas: production and implementation of an action plan following a capability 
and capacity review; notify and involve NHSE in the recruitment of any Executive 
level and next tier appointments; completion of a governance review and 
production and implementation of an Action Plan following the review; and 
development and implementation of a credible Financial Recovery Plan. The 
Legal Directions were lifted in June 2019 

 

 Legal Directions issued by NHSE to all CCGs in March 2020 to enable NHSE to 
commission healthcare from independent sector providers to support the 
provision of services by the NHS to address coronavirus (COVID-19) emergency.  
The Directions expire on 31 December 2020.  The full Directions can be found on 
the government website: 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-
 functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020 

 
I also confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s auditors are unaware and that, as Accountable Officer, I have 
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that 
information.  
 
 

 
 
Adam Doyle 
Accountable Officer 
25 June 2020 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-%09functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-%09functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020
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Governance statement 
Introduction and context 
 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a body corporate established by NHSE on 1 April 
2013 under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the 
purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, required to 
arrange for the provision of certain health services to the extent it considers 
necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   
 
As at 1 April 2019, the CCG was subject to legal directions from NHSE, (issued 
under Section 14Z21, of the NHS Act 2006 on 20 March 2017). The legal directions 
focused on four areas: 
 

 Complete a Capability and Capacity Review and implement its findings 

 Commission a review of the CCG’s governance arrangements and implement its 
recommendations 

 Executive team and senior appointments 

 Production of a credible FRP which is approved by the CCG’s Governing Body 
and implement its findings 

 
The legal directions were lifted in June 2019. NHSE recognised the significant 
improvement made in the governance, capability, capacity and leadership of the 
organisation and praised the CCG for the “consistent and confident delivery over the 
past year.” 
 
In March 2020, Legal Directions were applied to all Clinical Commissioning Groups 
to enable NHSE to commission healthcare from independent sector providers to 
support the provision of services by the NHS to address the coronavirus (COVID-19) 
emergency. The Directions expire on 31 December 2020.  The full Directions can be 
found on the government website: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-
functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020 
 
In addition to my substantive role as Accountable Officer of NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG, I have also been appointed as Accountable Officer for NHS Horsham 
and Mid Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley CCG, NHS Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS 
Eastbourne Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG and NHS 
High Weald Lewes Havens CCG. Additionally I was Accountable Officer for NHS 
East Surrey CCG until 31 October 2019. 
 
During the period I have been the Accountable Officer for NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG I have been especially mindful of the need to ensure that the individual 
statutory responsibilities of each of the Sussex CCGs are not in any way undermined 
by my wider responsibilities.  The governance structure of NHS Coastal Sussex 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-exercise-of-commissioning-functions-by-the-nhs-commissioning-board-coronavirus-directions-2020
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CCG has been fully utilised and adhered to at all times to ensure decision-making is 
taken in the best interest of the CCG. Conflicts of interest have been declared and 
managed in the appropriate way where they have arisen. 
 
Throughout 2019/20 I have, with the support of the Governing Bodies, continued to 
develop the governance processes and commissioning functions of the CCGs for 
which I am responsible. Throughout the year our Governing Body worked closely 
with the Governing Body of NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG including meeting ‘in 
common’ to make the most of our leadership resources and to ‘do things once’ for 
the benefit of our populations. 
 
During 2019, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has worked with the other Sussex 
CCGs to consider even closer ways of working. These discussions culminated in 
proposals to the GP memberships to merge NHS Coastal West Sussex, NHS 
Crawley, and NHS Horsham Mid Sussex CCGs into a new statutory body of NHS 
West Sussex CCG and for NHS Eastbourne Hailsham and Seaford, NHS Hastings 
and Rother, and NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCGs to merge to become a new 
statutory body of NHS East Sussex CCG. 
 
Our neighbouring CCGs identified such changes as being key to delivering better 
joined up healthcare provision for our populations as these reconfigurations aligned 
them to their local authority footprints.  

 
Clinical Leadership 
During 2019/20, I have worked with the Clinical Chairs across the Sussex CCGs to 
develop our model of clinical leadership and engagement to ensure that the vision 
for CCGs as clinically led organisations is not lost while we address the considerable 
financial challenges.  
 
One significant development has been the introduction of the role of Chief Medical 
Officer into the Executive Management Team. This role will further strengthen the 
clinical leadership for the benefit of the CCG’s populations. 
 

Staff Engagement  
A significant amount of engagement was undertaken with our staff during 2019/20. 
This was largely as the result of a structural review of the directorates across all of 
the Sussex CCGs. Our consultation included one-to-one meetings for staff members 
with their directors, regular standing briefings and email newsletters, and an email 
box for people to raise questions and concerns.  
 
The proposed operating model was revised in light of suggestions raised by 
members of staff during the consultation period and, on 1 February 2020, we started 
to transition to the new operating model across the seven CCGs. 
 
The Sussex CCGs had planned for the whole organisational change process to 
conclude with a People Conference in April 2020; however during the COVID-19 
incident response the CCGs are ensuring that all the staff have regular opportunities 
to come together via an extensive virtual programme of webinars, communications 
and team meetings to celebrate the great work being done to improve healthcare 
provision for our populations. 
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I continue to be determined that the Sussex CCGs become exemplar organisations, 
which value the diverse backgrounds, heritages and skills of our teams.  It is by 
harnessing our collective talents that we are able to commission the best can we can 
for patients.   
 
In addition, to the above, we have made changes to the organisational development 
leadership structure and continue to undertake staff surveys, temperature checks 
and circulate weekly communications reports.   
 

Conclusion 
I have appointed an Executive Management Team to provide greater leadership and 
executive resilience across the seven Sussex CCGs, which enables me to ensure 
that the full benefits of collective working are realised.  I am continuing to develop 
our structures to ensure that the CCG has the right executive and clinical leadership 
to enable it to meet the challenge of commissioner reform and moving to ICS in line 
with the national direction outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
Taken together, the above actions have given me sources of assurance that I have 
been able to reference as part of this Governance Statement.  
 
 

Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money (HM Treasury, 23/01/17). I also acknowledge my responsibilities as 
set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
Governance Statement. 
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the CCG has made 
appropriate arrangements to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and that the CCG complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. The main features of the governance of NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG are described in detail below, including the governance 
structures within the CCG and relationship between the CCG and its membership. 
 

CCG Membership  
 
The CCG is a membership organisation for the 47 GP practices within Coastal West 
Sussex. Each practice within Coastal West Sussex falls within one of six localities 
(Adur, Arun, Chanctonbury, Chichester, Cissbury, and Regis) and each locality 
meets on a regular basis, which enables the representatives of each GP practice to 
discuss the direction of the CCG, its plans for commissioning services, and seek 
assurance that commissioned services are performing effectively.  
 
Each locality is represented by a GP who is also a member of the Governing Body. 
As a clinically led organisation, it is important for us to have clinical leadership, which 
represents the views of our membership at the most senior level.  
 
Under the scheme of delegation, contained within the Constitution, the CCG’s 
membership has reserved to it a number of key decisions of the CCG. A copy of the 
scheme of reservation and delegation may be found on the CCG’s website. 
 
From 1 April 2016, the CCG took on delegated authority for the commissioning of 
primary medical care. This has enabled the CCG, guided by its membership, to take 
greater control of primary medical care commissioning within Coastal West Sussex 
and to do so in a way that supports the CCG’s overall strategic plans for robust and 
resilient primary care services in the area. 

 
The Governing Body  
 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently, and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it.  
 
The CCG Governing Body has responsibility for ensuring good governance 
arrangements and as well as its main function the membership has assigned the 
following specific duties to the Governing Body: 
 

 Approving budgets prepared and submitted by the Chief Finance Officer prior to 
the start of the Financial Year 

 Approving a report, received from the Chief Finance Officer, showing the total 
allocations received and their proposed distribution including any sums held in 
reserve 
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 Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations 

 Approving the timetable for producing the annual report and preparing the 
accounts 

 Determining the remuneration, fees, and other allowances payable to employees 
or other persons providing services to the CCG and the allowances payable 
under any pension scheme it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 
1A of the 2006 Act 

 Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently, and economically and in accordance with the 
CCG's principles of good governance (its main function) 

 Leading the setting of vision and strategy 

 Monitoring performance against plans 

 Performing any of the functions in paragraph 5.2 and/or any other paragraph of 
this Constitution and the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, which have 
been identified as being delegated to the Governing Body 

 Providing assurance of the management of strategic risk 

 Receiving and approving (where necessary) reports from the Chief Finance 
Officer which monitor financial performance against budget and plan 

 Recommending to the CCG the annual commissioning plan, annual report and 
annual accounts by presentation of the same to the Members 

 Such other functions as may be conferred or delegated to the Governing Body 
from time to time 

 
 
The Governing Body meets formally in public. The Governing Body also meets 
informally to discuss matters that arise and to give an opportunity for development 
and training. This is part of an ongoing process, which will be further strengthened 
through our organisational development activities. 
 
As a clinically led organisation, it is necessary for there to be strong clinical 
representation on the Governing Body and on the committees of the CCG. This has 
been further developed during the year with the introduction of the role of Chief 
Medical Officer. 
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CCG Membership Governing Body

Audit  and Assurance
Committee

Finance and Performance 
Committee

Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee

Quality Committee

Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee

CCG Committee Structure 
 
The Governing Body is supported by a robust committee structure; this is illustrated 
in the following diagram. 
 

 
CCG Governance Structure 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Within this structure, consistent with governance best practice, each Committee has 
a robust set of terms of reference describing its membership and the scope of its 
authority and each Committee has a detailed work programme. These terms of 
reference are reviewed annually and amended in respect of the evolving needs of 
the CCG. As part of the review of each Committee, we maintain a record of 
attendance of the Committee’s membership. These records of attendance can be 
found later on in this report. 
 
The full Terms of Reference for each Committee are published on the CCG’s 
website. A brief description of each Committee is set out below: 
 

Audit and Assurance Committee 
The Audit and Assurance Committee provides the Governing Body with assurance 
that the CCG’s systems of internal control are working effectively and the CCG is 
acting in compliance with law and best practice. In addition to the normal functions of 
an audit committee, the Audit and Assurance Committee also has an enhanced 
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responsibility to provide assurance in respect of the CCG’s management and 
oversight of risk. 
 
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Audit and Assurance who has the 
necessary qualifications, expertise, and experience such as to enable him to express 
informed views about financial management and audit matters. The Lay Member for 
Audit and Assurance does not chair any other Committee in order that he remains 
fully independent as is consistent with good governance practice.  
 

Finance and Performance Committee 
The Finance and Performance Committee was specifically created to provide 
scrutiny to the CCG’s delivery of key financial and performance targets as identified 
in our strategic and operational plans.  In addition to its oversight of the CCG’s 
annual financial and operational plans, the Committee seeks to provide year round 
assurance in respect of financial and performance issues including performance 
against QIPP targets. 
 
The Committee is chaired by the Interim Lay Member for Finance and Performance 
and its membership includes the organisation’s most senior staff with responsibilities 
for performance and financial matters. The Committee also includes the Lay Member 
for Audit and Assurance amongst its membership. 
 
The Finance and Performance Committee has extensively focused on the CCG’s 
financial position thus providing the Governing Body with a greater degree of 
assurance in this key area. 
 

Quality Committee  
The Quality Committee is responsible for providing the Governing Body with 
assurance that there are effective quality arrangements in place and that patient 
safety is being monitored effectively.  The Committee is additionally responsible for 
ensuring that the CCG is effectively engaging with patients and the public in the 
commissioning of our services. 
 
The Committee supports the Governing Body in ensuring that commissioning 
decisions are based on evidence of clinical effectiveness and influenced by patient 
experience, feedback, and need. In this way, the Committee promotes patient safety 
and a positive patient experience in line with the principles of the NHS Constitution, 
the CCG’s values, and the requirements of the CQC. 
 
The Committee is chaired by the Independent Clinical Member – Registered Nurse 
and its membership consists of the organisation’s most senior staff focused on 
patient quality and safety. The Committee also includes the Lay Member for Patient 
and Public Engagement amongst its membership. 
 
The Committee has provided extensive focus on the quality and safety of 
commissioned services, including within primary care, as well as on serious 
incidents, complaints, safeguarding, and patient and public engagement.  
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
When a CCG agrees to take on the responsibility for commissioning primary medical 
care it is necessary to put in place a committee constructed in accordance with 
NHSE guidance to manage the potential conflicts of interest which may arise as the 
CCG commissions services provided by its own members. 
 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee has overseen the strategic 
development of transformational change within primary care in Coastal West Sussex 
and the strategic commissioning of primary care in the area since the CCG became 
responsible for the commissioning of primary medical care on 1 April 2016. 
 
The Committee is chaired by the Independent Clinical Member – Secondary Care 
Clinician and its membership consists of a number of the Governing Body members. 
The full membership of the Committee is consistent with NHSE guidance, which can 
be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/pc-co-comms/resources 

 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee  
All CCGs are required to have a Remuneration and Nominations Committee to 
decide on matters relating to the remuneration policy within the CCG and 
considering nominations for the appointment of new members of the Governing 
Body. The Committee makes recommendations on the remuneration, benefits, and 
terms of service of employees of the CCG.  
 
Additionally the Committee oversees the appraisal process of the Governing Body 
members. The Committee membership consists of the Independent and Lay 
Members on the Governing Body.  
 
During 2019/20 NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG met ‘in common’ with the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees of the other Sussex CCGs (including 
NHS East Surrey CCG until 31 October 2019). 

 
 
 

  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/pc-co-comms/resources
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UK Corporate Governance Code  
 
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing 
upon best practice available including those aspects of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code we consider relevant to the CCG and best practice. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 and up until the date of signing this 
statement we have complied with the provisions of the Code as would be expected 
of a CCG. NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG seeks to comply with the following 
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code. 
 

Leadership 
The CCG has an effective Governing Body, which has a collective responsibility for 
the CCG’s long-term success. Although the Governing Body is not a board as 
described in the Code, it is established in a similar way and carries out many of the 
same functions. 
 
The CCG Governing Body clearly divides its responsibilities between its executive, 
lay, and independent clinical members. No single member of the Governing Body 
has unfettered powers of decision-making and all members are encouraged to 
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy. 
 
NHSE’s evaluation of the quality of the CCG’s leadership can be found on the My 
NHS website at https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search . The latest 
published evaluation (from summer 2018) is ‘requires improvement’. As outlined in 
this annual report the CCG has taken a series of actions to strengthen the 
governance arrangements and leadership of the CCG during 2019/20. 
 

Effectiveness 
The Governing Body ensures that within its own membership and within the 
membership of its committees, there is an appropriate balance of skills, experience, 
independence, and knowledge of the CCG and its activities to enable them to 
discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively. 
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee ensures that there is a rigorous and 
transparent procedure for the appointment of new members to the Governing Body 
and ensures that they are able to allocate sufficient time to the CCG to discharge 
their responsibilities effectively. 
 
  

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search
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The Governing Body regularly assesses its own performance, seeking the views of 
stakeholders across the local health economy and within the CCG.  
 
The quality of data received by the Governing Body is reviewed regularly and 
suitable information is provided to members to ensure that they are able to discharge 
their obligations effectively. 
 
I am also assured that the presentation in particular of performance, quality, and 
contracting data to the Governing Body and to the Finance and Performance 
Committee has been reviewed on an ongoing basis during the course of 2019/20 to 
make this not only clearer but also including a greater degree of benchmarking data 
and trend analysis. 
 

Accountability 
The Governing Body has throughout 2019/20 been presented with a fair, balanced, 
and understandable assessment of the CCG’s position and performance. The 
Governing Body is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the principal 
risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The Governing Body 
maintains sound risk management and internal control systems. 
 
The Governing Body, via the Audit and Assurance Committee, has established 
formal and transparent arrangements for considering how corporate reporting, risk 
management, and internal control principles are applied and for maintaining an 
appropriate relationship with the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 
 

Relations with member practices 
Whilst the CCG does not have shareholders, the organisation is accountable to the 
public and its stakeholders.  The CCG involves patients, the public, and stakeholders 
at every level of the organisation from statutory lay members on the Governing Body 
to patient representatives on committees and groups. We have also led on a highly 
effective programme of public engagement through our ‘Big Health and Care 
Conversation’ during 2019/20 and this has been covered in more detail earlier in the 
Annual Report. 
 
The CCG, via the Locality Directors, has had throughout 2019/20 an ongoing 
dialogue with member practices based on the mutual understanding of objectives. 
The Governing Body as a whole has the responsibility for ensuring that a satisfactory 
dialogue with member practices takes place. The CCG also uses a variety of 
methods to engage and communicate with its member practices most notably 
through regular locality meetings to which all member practices are encouraged to 
attend. The CCG also held towards the end of March 2019 a membership 
engagement event to which all CCG member practices were invited. The event 
provided an opportunity to share with member practices what has been achieved by 
the CCG in 2019/20 and to highlight some of the key areas of work in 2020/21. 
Further activities are planned for 2020/21. 
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Discharge of statutory functions 
 
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review the CCG has reviewed all of 
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) 
and other associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the 
CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director 
throughout 2019/20. During 2019/20, directorates subsequently had in place the 
structures that provided the necessary capacity and capability to undertake all of the 
CCG’s statutory duties. 
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Risk management arrangements and 
effectiveness 
The CCG recognises that risk management is an integral part of good management 
practice and to be most effective it must be embedded within the organisation’s 
culture. The overall structure and content of the CCG’s risk management 
arrangements replicate best practice principles and provides me with assurance as 
Chief Executive Officer that the CCG’s overall risk management arrangements are 
robust and fit for purpose.  
 
The CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Policy was updated in 2019 to reflect the 
new organisational structure and the fact that risk is now managed centrally across 
all seven CCGs. The purpose of the document is to define the strategy and policy 
that the CCGs use to ensure rigorous risk management processes, and provide the 
tools to assist staff to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, that all risks are 
identified and controlled appropriately. It also sets out the process for risk 
management and includes how each risk is identified, assessed, recorded, and 
managed.  
 
Risks are identified from a variety of internal and external sources such as staff 
resource issues, workforce recruitment problems, lack of assurance on areas of 
quality and performance data, or information from staff and or patients. 
 
There is now an integrated risk register, assurance framework, and set of strategic 
goals. During 2019/20, the CCG had a Corporate Risk Register and BAF both of 
which were aligned to the integrated corporate goals:  
 
The former BAF has now been replaced by a unified balanced scorecard approach, 
agreed by the Executive Management Team (EMT), Audit and Assurance 
Committee and Governing Body in June 2019.  The new BAF brings together in 
summary form the headline indicators from each area of organisational performance 
to give an overall picture of the CCG. The document is framed by the CCG’s 
Corporate Objectives for 2019/20 and considered alongside the NHSE IAF for 
CCGs, which provides the national measures of success for CCGs.   
 
In addition, the BAF seeks to provide some insight into not just the current 
performance but also the future performance. This is being addressed through the 
inclusion of a set of ‘early warning indicators’ aligned to each corporate goal.  The 
document also includes the elements of a “traditional” BAF, namely significant risks 
that could impact on delivery of our corporate goals (i.e. those currently rated 15 or 
above); and an indication of whether we are on track to deliver individual objectives.  
 

Capacity to handle risk  
As the Chief Executive Officer, I have the overall responsibility for ensuring that an 
effective risk management system is in place and that that there is an adequate 
control system in place. The work of ensuring this system is in place is, in practice, 
delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Governance.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that systems and structures are 
in place for the effective management of financial risk and organisational controls.  
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The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) has responsibility for managing 
information risks across the organisation. During 2019/20, this responsibility was 
taken on by the Chief Medical Officer on his appointment in January 2020.  The 
Chief Nursing Officer is responsible for ensuring that systems and structures are in 
place for the effective management of clinical quality and safety.  The Chief Medical 
Officers provide clinical leadership for the CCG and are accountable for the 
governance and quality assurance of the services the CCG commissions.  They 
have specific responsibility for providing strategic and operational leadership and 
management of the clinical risk within the CCG and for organisational assurance on 
all matters of clinical risk and clinical outcomes to the CCG’s Governing Body.  The 
Executive Managing Directors have delegated responsibility for managing local risks 
within their own areas of responsibility. 
 
Staff are supported to manage risk as appropriate to their level of authority and 
duties and the policies and procedures are available on the CCG’s website. Training 
is provided to staff on risk management and on the use of the electronic risk 
management system. 
 
The Governing Body’s oversight of risk is underpinned by a number of systems of 
control. The committee structure of the CCG allows for risk to be addressed at 
several key levels all linking up to provide assurance to the Governing Body. The 
Audit and Assurance Committee is primarily responsible for overseeing the 
management and reporting of risk throughout the organisation via its key role in 
overseeing the BAF and Corporate Risk Register and the systems and structures 
within the CCG for regularly reviewing and overseeing these two key risk 
management tools.  
 
The Finance and Performance Committee considers the finance and performance-
related risks, the Quality Committee considers the quality and safety focused risks, 
and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee reviews the primary care risks. 
This committee oversight ensures that the BAF and Corporate Risk Register are 
being regularly reviewed and scrutinised.  
 
The Corporate Risk Register records the high-level risks (those scoring 12 and 
above) which may affect the achievement of the CCG’s objectives and the actions 
required to counter this. The Corporate Risk Register is reported at each Audit and 
Assurance Committee, ahead of which it receives scrutiny and oversight at the 
appropriate committees of the Governing Body and is scrutinized in full by the CCG’s 
Local Management Team meeting on a monthly basis.  
 
All risks are reviewed by risk owners and assessors on a regular basis. A formal 
review is undertaken with the central Risk Team, which meets bi-monthly with each 
risk owner to review changes in the scores, controls, assurances, and progress 
against actions agreed since the previous review.  
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Key controls and assurances  
Having identified strategic risks the CCG must ensure that it has key controls 
(mitigating actions) in place to manage these. These controls should make the risk 
less likely to happen or reduce the impact should it eventuate, and they may take 
many forms.  
 
Controls are documented and their design is subject to scrutiny by independent 
reviewers, which can include internal and external auditors and other specialists 
where necessary.  
 
The Governing Body relies on a number of methods to provide assurance on these 
controls as it cannot assure itself of all actions directly. The process for gaining 
assurance of the effectiveness of the key controls is fundamentally about bringing all 
of the relevant evidence together and arriving at informed conclusions.  
 
The most objective assurances are derived from independent reviewers which 
include internal and external auditors and these are supplemented by independent 
sources such as NHSE and the NHS Counter Fraud Authority and from semi- 
independent sources such as performance management and self-assessment 
reports.  
 

Risk assessment  
The CCG recognises that it is impossible to eliminate all risk and that the aim of risk 
management is to mitigate risks using control measures and action plans. All risks 
are assessed on the basis of two elements; severity and likelihood. Each element is 
given a score between one and five and the multiplication of these scores generates 
a risk score. Risks with a score of 12 or above are managed on the Corporate Risk 
Register whilst lower scoring risks are managed at a team level within the CCG.  
 
Each risk has been assigned an assessor and an owner. The assessor has 
operational oversight of the risk whilst the owner is the senior manager of the risk 
area. Where a risk is reported on the Corporate Risk Register its owner will usually 
be a member of the Executive Management Team. The risk owner is accountable to 
the Governing Body for the management of the risks assigned to them.  
 
In September 2019 NHS Coastal West Sussex agreed with Governing Bodies of the 
other Sussex CCGs, to adopt a shared risk appetite which sets the level at which the 
CCGs are prepared to tolerate the risk, although the risk appetite is not necessarily 
static and may change depending on the circumstances. 
 
At year-end, the BAF (as reported to the Part One meeting of the Governing Body) 
contained the following risks with a current score of 15 and above:  
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Risks with a score of 15 and above as at 31 March 2020 

Corporate Goal A: Improved population health outcomes and patient experience 

Reference Risk Title  Initial Score  
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 
(IxL) 

Initial Score  
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 
(IxL) 

SX0051 Coronavirus outbreak in Sussex 16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

Total level of risk against the objective  
 

16 16 

Corporate Goal B: Improved quality of services, access and operational 
performance 

Reference Risk Title Initial Score  
(IxL) 

Current Score 
(IxL) 

SX0003 Delivery of key constitutional 
standard improvement plans for 
providers  

16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

SX0005 Cyber Attacks affecting providers 
and GP practices within Sussex  

16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

SX0018 Access to care for children and 
young people for mental health or 
neuro developmental conditions 

15 (3 x 5) 15 (3 x 5) 

SX0034 Patient flow and lack of system 
resilience 

16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

CWS0008 Ability to meet national service spec 
and quality standards for Stroke 

16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

Total level of risk against the objective  
 

79 79 

Corporate Goal C: Improved financial performance 

Reference Risk Title Initial Score  
(IxL) 

Current Score  
(IxL) 

CWS0001 Delivery of the 2019/20 Control Total 
£240k surplus 

12 (4 x 3) 16 (4 x 4) 

Total current level of risk against the objective  
 

12 16 

Corporate Goal D: Delivering system reform 

Reference Risk Title Initial Score  
(IxL) 

Current Score  
(IxL) 

SX0040 Primary Care Workforce 15 (5 x 3) 15 (5 x 3) 

Total current level of risk against the objective  
 

15 15 
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Corporate Goal E: Effective and well led organisation with an empowered and 
inclusive workforce 

Reference  Risk Title  Initial Score  
(IxL) 

Current Score  
(IxL) 

SX0011 CCG Cyber Security 16 (4 x 4) 16 (4 x 4) 

Total current level of risk against the objective  
 

16 16 
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Other sources of assurance  
 

Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a 
reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The CCG’s internal control framework is constructed around the CCG’s risk and 
assurance framework and the CCG’s Committee structure. The committees of the 
CCG have oversight of and seek assurance in respect of specific elements of the 
CCG’s responsibilities. During the course of the year, the CCG has strengthened its 
management arrangements which provide oversight of the ongoing operational 
performance and governance work of the organisation and which ensure that 
information which is progressed to the CCG’s committee meetings is of a suitable 
standard for those committees to obtain the requisite level of assurance.  
 
The Governing Body arrangements, including the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework, are outlined above. The financial controls are outlined in more detail in 
the annual accounts. 
 
The CCG has adopted a set of Standing Orders and Standing Financial Instructions / 
Prime Financial Policies. These are published as appendices to the CCG’s 
Constitution. The CCG also has more detailed financial policies and a detailed 
financial scheme of delegation, which have been approved by the Audit and 
Assurance Committee. 
 
The Governing Body receives assurance that the organisation and commissioned 
providers are meeting the defined set of standards across domains of performance, 
safety, quality, and patient experience through the Provider and Commissioner 
Performance and Contract Report that is presented to the Finance and Performance 
Committee and to the Governing Body. This report provides detailed information on 
the performance in key areas of activity commissioned by the CCG. 
 
 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task NHSE has 
published a template audit framework. 
 
During 2019/20, the CCG has not identified any breaches of its policy on conflicts of 
interest. 
 
The annual internal audit of conflicts of interest was carried out in 2019/20 and 
provided an assessment of ‘Reasonable Assurance’.  
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The CCG carries out a Conflicts of Interest Indicator quarterly and annual self-
assessment as part of the adherence to the national managing conflicts of interest 
guidance.  

 
Data quality 
The Governing Body has in place comprehensive reporting through which it can 
monitor the performance of its commissioned services. The Provider and 
Commissioner Performance and Contract Report provides assurance to the 
Governing Body and to the Finance and Performance Committee that the 
organisation and commissioned providers are meeting the defined set of standards.  
 
The data received by the Governing Body and the committees of the CCG is 
continuously reviewed and the contents of reports are refreshed regularly to ensure 
that the appropriate and necessary information is available to the CCG’s committees. 
Throughout the year, the data outputs from the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) 
and the in-house Performance and Intelligence Team are checked and any outlying 
or unexpected values are questioned. The reports are further checked against other 
available data sources such as NHSE reports, IAF indicators, and Public Health data 
sets. 
 

Information Governance  
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees in particular 
personal identifiable information.  
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security and 
Protection (DSP) Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the CCG, to other organisations, and to individuals that personal information is dealt 
with legally, securely, efficiently, and effectively.  
 
The CCG has completed the DSP Toolkit for 2019/20. Using the toolkit the CCG is 
able to demonstrate compliance with the ten data security standards, set out by 
Dame Fiona Caldicott’s independent review, and assess against Department of 
Health and Social Care IG policies and standards. The CCG is performing at the 
required level and achieved ‘Standards Met’ for the DSP Toolkit for 2019/20.  
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious 
incidents. The CCG has developed information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme to embed fully an information risk culture throughout 
the organisation. During 2019/20, there have been no IG Serious Incident Requiring 
Investigations (SIRI). The CCG continues to monitor both root and cause of low-level 
Information Governance breaches to inform training needs and potential operational 
review. 
 
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information 
governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate 
information. The CCG has established an information governance management 
framework and has developed information governance processes and procedures in 
line with the requirements of the DSP Toolkit. It has ensured all staff undertake 
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annual information governance training and have implemented IG guidance to 
ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities.  
 
Individual Rights Requests are dealt with effectively, within the constraints set out by 
data protection legislation. A log of all requests is maintained. 
 
An internal Strategic Information Governance Group (SIGG) is established, chaired 
by the SIRO, and with attendance of the Caldicott Guardian, Data Protection Officer, 
the IG team, IT service representatives and relevant directorate reps where required. 
The SIGG is accountable to the Audit and Assurance Committee. Its purpose is to 
support and drive the information governance agenda and provide the Audit and 
Assurance Committee with assurance that effective information governance best 
practice mechanisms are in place in the organisation.  
 
There have been no personal data related incidents for the CCG, which required 
reporting to the ICO during the course of 2019/20. 
 

Business critical model 
The CCG recognises the principles reflected in the Macpherson report as a direction 
of travel for business modelling in respect of service analysis, planning, and delivery. 
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to support the quality 
assurance of business critical models within the CCG. 
 
The CCG’s business-critical models primarily rely on activity and financial data 
produced by the South Central and West CSU, which is assured through their own 
processes. The CCG reviews CSU data regularly and its use is checked internally by 
the executive team and externally through an audit of the CSU’s key systems and 
processes. The output of business critical models is validated by NHSE through their 
assurance process of the CCG. 
 

Third party assurances 
In 2019/20, the CCG commissioned support services from the following CSUs:  
 

 North East London (NEL CSU) provides Information Technology 

 South Central and West (SCW CSU) provides Human Resources, Financial, 
Business Intelligence, Contract Management, Health and Safety 

 
The CCG obtains assurance regarding CSU-provided services through Service 
Auditor Reporting. Service Auditor Reporting is undertaken by an independent 
auditor (Deloitte as appointed by NHSE) to review the key business process controls 
of a service organisation and to give an opinion on whether control activities are 
designed and operating effectively for control objectives to be achieved. The CSUs 
provide the CCG with reports outlining the scope and findings of the audits and 
these, together with CCG management controls for monitoring the performance of 
the CSU, provide coverage for a significant portion of the year in relation to CSU 
activities.  
 
The CCG receives activity and finance data produced from SCW CSU, which is 
assured through their own processes. The CCG also employs its own analysts who 
review the data and reports provided by CSU and may comment on their accuracy. 
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The CCG also has its own processes for checking the quality of information received 
by third parties recognising the importance of reliable information both in terms of 
commissioning services and the efficient management of the CCG’s day-to-day 
business and resources. 
 
Where the CCG relies on third party providers (for example NHS Digital which 
provides Information Governance training modules and payroll which is provided by 
East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust) mechanisms are built into the contract to 
provide the assurances required by the CCG throughout the duration of the contract. 
The contracts with the CSUs are monitored by senior managers within the CCG and 
any issues reported to the executive team.  
 

Control issues 
 
No control issues have been identified which are likely to be prejudicial to the CCG’s 
ability to meet its objectives, that increase the risk that the CCG will be susceptible to 
fraud, that will have a material impact on the accounts, or that will put at risk the 
security of data integrity. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources 
 
As described above, the membership has delegated authority to the Governing Body 
and its committees to act effectively, efficiently, and economically. The Quality 
Committee oversees provider performance for the CCG. The Finance and 
Performance Committee oversees financial performance including undertaking 
scrutiny of financial planning and ensuring the transparency of underlying 
assumptions in building financial plans and budgets. This Committee also 
undertakes reviews of operational performance against targets.  
 
The delivery of savings from the QIPP programme is always a key component of the 
assurance given to the Governing Body on the effective use of resources. The Audit 
and Assurance Committee has delegated responsibility for providing assurance that 
the CCG is acting effectively, efficiently, and economically and this includes receiving 
and reviewing all recommendations made by the internal auditors. Formal reports on 
financial performance are presented at every Governing Body meeting and at every 
meeting of the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
The Accountable Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The CCG’s rating for the Quality of Leadership indicator of the CCG IAF 2019/20 has 
not yet been published. Due to the impact and prioritisation of the COVID-19 
response, completion of the 2019/20 annual assessment process will be delayed 
until at least Q2 2020/21.  This was confirmed to the CCG by a letter dated 21 April 
2020 from the Regional Director for Transformation, NHSE and Improvement – 
South East. 
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Delegation of functions 
 
The CCG has not made any significant arrangements to delegate its functions either 
internally or externally.  
 
A formal Memorandum of Understanding exists between the CCGs in Sussex.   
The CCG also has a formal agreement known as a Section 75 agreement in place 
with WSCC. 
 

Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The CCG takes its responsibilities towards fraud, bribery, and corruption very 
seriously and has in place thorough systems and practices to ensure that the 
organisation does not become a victim of fraud. We have appointed a Local Counter 
Fraud Specialist who works with the CCG to ensure that our policies are appropriate 
and up-to-date with the necessary legislation and who provides our staff with annual 
counter-fraud training.  
 
The Local Counter Fraud Specialist is a regular attendee of the CCG’s Audit and 
Assurance Committee where they report to the Committee on progress made 
against active fraud investigations where the CCG is a potential victim. 
 
The Local Counter Fraud Specialist’s regular reporting to the Audit and Assurance 
Committee also includes the CCG’s progress against national standards and the 
compliance of the CCG’s providers against their counter fraud reporting 
requirements under the standard NHS contract. 
 
The specialist Counter Fraud Service undertakes proactive work to detect abuse or 
fraud as well as investigating suspicions of fraud. There is a full set of policies and 
procedures in place and contact information is available on staff notice boards, 
screensavers, and fraud newsletters throughout the CCG offices. During 2019/20, 
the activities of the fraud service included: 
 

 Fraud Awareness presentations to staff and members 

 Issuing a staff Fraud Survey, which will provide benchmarking against other CCG 
clients 

 Issuing national and local Fraud Alerts to the CCG and GP Practices 

 Monitoring the National Fraud Initiative for the CCG 

 Registration concerns at GP surgeries 

 Thematic reviews into personal health budgets 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion  
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance, 
and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
 
“My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently.  However, some 
weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk.”   
 
During 2019/20, internal audit issued the following audit reports: 
 

Internal Audit Reports 2019/20 
 

Area of Audit Type 
Assurance 

Assessment 

Development of Sussex and East Surrey 

Governance arrangements 
Advisory No Opinion 

HR Policies - Absence Management  Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

HR Policies - Appraisals Assurance Limited Assurance 

Safeguarding Assurance 
Substantial 

Assurance 

GBAF and Risk Management (Interim) Assurance No Opinion 

GBAF and Risk Management Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

Key Financial Systems (non-pay) Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

Key Financial Systems (Payroll) Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

NHS Mandated Conflict of Interest Review Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

Primary Care Governance (NHSE Internal 

Audit Framework) 
Assurance 

 Due to COVID-

19, C/f to 2020/21 

Commissioning and Procurement of Primary 

Medical Services (NHSE Internal Audit 

Framework) 

Assurance 
 Due to COVID-

19, C/f to 2020/21   
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IG - Data Security and Protection Toolkit Assurance 
Substantial 

Assurance 

IT - Cybersecurity Assurance To be advised 

Urgent Care Advisory No Opinion  

Financial Reporting Investigation  Investigation No Opinion 

Preliminary Review of Forecast Budgetary 

Position 
Preliminary No Opinion 

CCG Merger Closedown and Transition Plan Advisory No Opinion 

Better Care Fund Assurance 
 Due to COVID-

19, C/f to 2020/21 

Continuing Healthcare (CWS/CRAW/HMS) Assurance 
Reasonable 

Assurance 

Follow up Assurance  N/A 

Benchmarking Advisory N/A - advice only 

 
The outcomes of the internal audit assurance assessments undertaken in 2019/20 
demonstrate a significant commitment to the internal audit process. The CCG has 
throughout 2019/20 used internal audit to investigate areas where it was felt there 
would be benefit from improved processes and accordingly one area of limited 
assurance has been identified and the audit findings have been used to enhance our 
systems, structures, and processes where required. Subsequent progress against 
individual audit report findings are reported and monitored at the management team 
level and also by the Audit and Assurance Committee. 
 
Importantly the outcomes of the internal audit assurance assessments undertaken in 
2019/20 demonstrate an improvement on the position in 2018/19. This gives further 
confidence that the governance arrangements across NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG have become stronger and more embedded during the course of the past year. 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and internal control 

 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers, and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on the performance information available to me. My review 
is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their Annual Audit 
Letter and in other reports.  
 
Our BAF provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage 
risks to the CCG achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.  
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  
 

 Internal audit 

 The Audit and Assurance Committee 

 The Finance and Performance Committee 

 The Governing Body 

 The Primary Commissioning Committee 

 The Quality Committee  

 
Conclusion 
 
In 2020/21 the CCG will continue to strengthen its governance structures and 
financial controls and build on the Head of Internal Audit Opinion stating that the 
CCG can take ‘reasonable assurance’ that there is a generally sound system of 
internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently. 
 
The factors described in this statement have given me increased assurance and I 
am therefore satisfied that the CCG operates effective and sound systems of internal 
control and that these will be further improved during 2020/21. 
 
 

 
Adam Doyle 
Accountable Officer 
25 June 2020 

 



109    ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group  

 

Attendance at Governing Body and 

Committees 2019/20 

Governing Body  
 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair (Normally Lay 
Member - Finance and 
Performance) (Chair) 

7/7 

Chris Adcock 
Chief Finance Officer 
(from July 2019)  

6/6 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director - Regis 6/7 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member 
(Secondary Care Clinician) 

6/7 

Dr Richard Brown Local Medical Committee 
Representative 

6/7 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

7/7 

Dr Hannah Davies Executive Medical Director 5/7 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member,  Finance 
and Performance 

7/7 

Adam Doyle 

(or deputy) 

Chief Executive Officer 7/7 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

6/7 

Dr Edward Ford Locality Director - Chichester 7/7 

Dr Hannah Hewlett Locality Director - Cissbury 7/7 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) 

6/7 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director - Adur 7/7 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director - Arun 6/7 
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Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director - Chanctonbury 7/7 

Pippa Ross-Smith  
Chief Finance Officer  
(Until 30 June 2019) 

1/1 

 

Audit Committee  
 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Governance (Chair)  

5/5 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member 
(Secondary Care Clinician) 

4/5 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

5/5 

Malcolm Dennett 
Interim Lay Member, Finance and 

Performance  
4/5 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair  3/5 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) 

4/5 

 

Finance and Performance Committee  
 

Name Position  
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance (Chair) 

12/12 

Chris Adcock Chief Finance Officer 7/9 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director - Regis 10/12 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member 
(Secondary Care Clinician) 

11/12 
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Name Position  
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

12/12 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 11/12 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) 

12/12 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director - Chanctonbury 5/6 

 

Quality Committee  

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) (Chair) 

6/6 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

3/6 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

3/6 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair  5/6 

 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member 
(Secondary Care Clinician) (Chair) 

5/6 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

3/6 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

6/6 

Dr Edward Ford Locality Director - Chichester  5/6 
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Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair  1/1 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) 

6/6 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer 

(Until 30 June 2019) 

1/1 

 

Remuneration and Nominations Committee 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Ralph Beard  Independent Clinical Member 
(Secondary Care Clinician) 

4/5 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

0/5 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

2/5 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 5/5 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member 
(Registered Nurse) 

1/5 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  

Remuneration Report 
The remuneration report discloses all relevant information with respect to senior 
managers in NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. Senior managers are defined as: 
 
“Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the CCG.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decision of individual directorates or 
departments”. 
 
The Accountable Officer has confirmed that the definition of senior manager in 
respect to NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG encompasses both members and regular 
attendees of Governing Body meetings.  This definition, for the purposes of this 
report, has been taken to include both employee and officer voting members of the 
Governing Body, which includes the members listed within the Governing Body 
composition table on pages 79 – 80. 
 
Where a senior manager and member of the Governing Body works across more 
than one CCG the appropriate proportion of remuneration is reported and their total 
remuneration across relevant CCGs is shown separately in order to ensure full 
disclosure.  

Remuneration and Nominations Committee 

 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee is responsible for determining the 
remuneration including fees, allowances and pension contributions for senior 
employees and, from the Membership via the Constitution, to determine the 
remuneration including allowances for members of the Governing Body, which 
includes Executive remuneration and Office holders. The CCG Constitution reflects 
statute and requires the Remuneration and Nominations Committee to make 
recommendations to the Governing Body with regard to determining the 
remuneration, fees and allowances for CCG employees and other persons providing 
services to it.  
 
Only members of the Governing Body may be members of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee.  
 
The CCGs in Sussex meet as a Remuneration and Nominations Committees in 
Common.  The Committees in common agree which Chair will act as a Coordinating 
Chair for the Committees in Common.  Where a decision relates to a specific CCG, 
that CCG has held its own Committee. 
 
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Finance and its membership 
consists of the Lay and Independent members of the Governing Body. All members 
of the Governing Body other than the Lay Members are disqualified from being the 
chair of the Committee. 

The Committee is quorate with a minimum of two members 
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The Chief Executive Officer and other clinical or senior officers may attend the 
Committee meetings as directed by members of the Committee, but do not have 
voting rights.  
 
The Committee has met no less than twice a year, as provided in its terms of 
reference. The details of Remuneration and Nominations Committee membership 
and attendance is shown in the annual governance statement. 
 
The CCG contracts with a CSU under a service level agreement to deliver HR 
services. This includes provision of specialist HR advice to its Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. The Committee therefore has access to and takes advice 
from a named HR Lead, employed by the CCG’s HR provider South, Central and 
West CSU.  Specialist advice covered employment law, NHS terms and conditions, 
the interpretation of NHSE remuneration guidance for CCGs, and the provision of 
benchmarking information relating to local and regional CCG Governing Bodies. 
 
This has been supplemented by the Director of HR, OD and workforce and the 
Deputy Directors of HR. 
 
The information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to external audit includes: 
 

 The table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative 
notes on pages 117 to 120. 

 The table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on 
pages 121 to 123. 

 The narrative disclosure of pay multiples on page 125, and 

 Employee staff numbers outlined in note 3 to the Accounts and in section 3. 
 

The work of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and 

decisions made 

 
The Committee has worked to its agreed annual work plan over the past year and 
has reached decisions on the following: 
 

 Recruitment process, remuneration and time commitment of GB members for 
newly formed CCGs on 1 April 2020 

 Remuneration of Local Medical directors 

 Remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 

 Remuneration of the Chief Medical Officer 

 Remuneration of the Executive Management Team 
 
 
In reaching decisions, the Committee was provided with relevant benchmarking and 
up to date guidance from its specialist HR provider to ensure all decisions are robust. 
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Remuneration of very senior managers 

 
In setting levels of remuneration, the Committee takes into account national and 
local pay guidance from the NHS, local, regional and national benchmarking, locally 
prevailing employment conditions and the levels of responsibility associated with the 
post.  
 
The pay and conditions for senior managers are determined by taking into account 
relevant national pay frameworks and other guidance as appropriate, to ensure that 
remuneration is reasonable having regard to their individual contributions while 
having proper regard to the CCG’s circumstances and performance.    
 
Where interim senior managers of the CCG have been paid more than £150,000 as 
of (1 January 2020) per annum, this has been in consultation with NHSE with 
business cases agreed by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee before 
being submitted for NHSE review and approval.    
 
The CCG has a number of individuals whose total remuneration (when pro-rated) 
exceeds £150,000pa.  The CCG is satisfied that this remuneration is reasonable 
based on the benchmarking data and analysis undertaken by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees in Common.    
 
In determining the emoluments for Governing Body members, the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee considers the rates for previous and current NHS 
organisations as well as the best practice terms of appointment provided by NHSE.  
 
The current remuneration policy does not specify performance related rewards or 
targets, and amendments to remuneration are considered and determined annually 
by the Committee.    
 
The performance of the senior executive team is monitored through an annual 
appraisal process based on organisational and individual objectives.   
 
Members of the Governing Body are either elected by the membership, selected by 
the Governing Body, or employed by the CCG.  The method of appointment for each 
role is described within the CCG’s Constitution.  
 
Non-executive members of the Governing Body are appointed for a term of three 
years with potential for reappointment. This is to ensure that their independence is 
maintained and that the membership can be reviewed at regular periods.    
 
Notice periods for senior managers are generally set at such a period as to allow 
adequate opportunity to identify a replacement. The CCG considers that three 
months is generally an acceptable notice period for senior managers although 
certain key posts, including those on the Governing Body, have notice periods of six 
months.  
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension 
entitlements)  
 
(Note: The disclosures in the salary and pensions tables are auditable). 
 
The following tables detail the remuneration of the CCG’s Senior Managers.  The 

total salary for joint appointments are shown in salary disclosure table followed by 

the share apportioned to the CCG.  In the salary disclosure table and the pension 

disclosure table, all pension related benefits are calculated with respect to the total 

for the joint appointment. 
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2019/20 Salary Disclosure Table 

     2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 

Name Title Notes Senior 
Manager 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
to nearest 

£100** 

All pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Total Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
to nearest 

£100** 

CCG’s 
Share of 

Total Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £'000 £'00 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'00 £'000 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer 1,2 190-195 - 62.5-65 255-260 45-50 - 45-50 

Allison Cannon Chief Nursing Officer 1 125-130 4 182.5-185 310-315 35-40 1 35-40 

Chris Adcock Chief Finance Officer from 01/07/2019 1 125-130 3 30-32.5 155-160 25-30 - 25-30 

David Cryer Executive Director of Strategy from 
01/04/2019 

1,12 130-135 1 60-62.5 195-200 30-35 - 30-35 

Dominic Wright Managing Director (Coastal West Sussex 
CCG) to 30/09/2019 

1,3 60-65 - - 60-65 15-20 - 15-20 

Dr Elizabeth Gill Chief Medical Officer from 01/01/2020 1 20-25 - 7.5-10 30-35 5-10 - 5-10 

Dr Tim Caroe Chief Medical Officer from 01/01/2020 1 20-25 - 12.5-15 35-40 5-10 - 5-10 

Jessica Britton Executive Managing Director (East) from 
01/04/2019 

1 120-125 3 62.5-65 185-190 30-35 1 30-35 

Karen Breen Deputy Chief Executive Officer from 
23/04/2019 

1 155-160 5 260-262.5 415-420 40-45 1 40-45 

Lola Banjoko Executive Managing Director (South) from 
01/04/2019 

1 120-125 - 55-57.5 175-180 30-35 - 30-35 

Pennie Ford Executive Managing Director (West) from 
01/10/2019 

1,12 60-65 1 22.5-25 85-90 15-20 - 15-20 

Peter Kottlar Executive Managing Director (Complex 
Commissioning) 

1 120-125 1 57.5-60 180-185 30-35 - 30-35 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer to 30/06/2019 1 ,11 30-35 - 
 

30-35 5-10 - 5-10 

Terry Willows Executive Director of Corporate 
Governance 

1,12 125-130 2 55-57.5 180-185 30-35 1 30-35 

Tom Gurney Executive Director of Communications, 
People and Public Involvement from 
01/04/2019 

1 120-125 - 85-87.5 210-215 25-30 - 25-30 
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     2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 

Name Title Notes Senior 
Manager 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
to nearest 

£100** 

All pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Total Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
to nearest 

£100** 

CCG’s 
Share of 

Total Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £'000 £'00 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'00 £'000 

Wendy Carberry Executive Director of Primary Care 1 130-135 1  130-135 35-40 - 35-40 

Dr Su McCole Clinical Chair to 30/04/2019   0-5 -  0-5 0-5 - 0-5 

Gill Galliano Lay Member Finance & Performance and 
Interim Lay Chair in 2019/20 

  35-40 3 
 

40-45 35-40 3 40-45 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member (Registered 
Nurse) 

  10-15 3 
 

10-15 10-15 3 10-15 

Anna Raleigh Public Health Representative, West 
Sussex County Council 

8 
   

0 0-5 - 0-5 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director (Chanctonbury)   15-20 - 
 

15-20 15-20 - 15-20 

Dr Edward Ford Locality Director (Chichester)   25-30 - 7.5-10 30-35 25-30 - 25-30 

Dr Hannah Davies Executive Medical Director   145-150 - 25-27.5 170-175 145-150 - 145-150 

Dr Hannah Hewlett Locality Director (Cissbury) from 
01/04/2019 

9 25-30 -  25-30 25-30 - 25-30 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director (Adur)   20-25 - 0-2.5 20-25 20-25 - 20-25 

Dr Richard Brown Local Medical Committee Representative 8    0 0-5 - 0-5 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director (Arun) 9 70-75 - - 70-75 55-60 - 55-60 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director (Regis)   25-30 - 
 

25-30 25-30 - 25-30 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member (Patient and Public 
Engagement) 

  10-15 2 
 

10-15 10-15 2 10-15 

John Eagles Lay Member (Audit and Assurance)   10-15 3 
 

10-15 10-15 3 10-15 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member Finance and 
Performance (CWS) 

 
25-30 - 

 
25-30 15-20 - 15-20 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member (Secondary 
Care Clinician) 

  15-20 - 
 

15-20 15-20 - 15-20 
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2018/19 Salary Disclosure Table 
 

  
    2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 

Name Title Notes Total 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
Senior 

Manager 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share of 

Total 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer 1,2 160-165 5-7.5 30-35 20-25 

Allison Cannon Chief Nursing Officer 1 100-105 17.5-20 45-50 25-30 

David Cryer Executive Director of Strategy from 01/07/2019 1,12 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Dominic Wright Managing Director to 30/09/2019 3 125-130  125-130 125-130 

Glynn Dodd Director of Corporate Programmes to 31/03/2019 1 105-110 2.5-5 5-10 0-5 

Margaret Ashworth Interim Chief Finance Officer to 31/05/2018 10 50-55  50-55 50-55 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer to 30/06/2019 1,11  95-100  95-100 95-100 

Sarah Valentine Director of Contracting to 31/03/2019 1,12 110-115 n/a 25-30 25-30 

Terry Willows Executive Director of Corporate Governance 1 105-110 n/a 105-110 0-5 

Wendy Carberry Executive Director of Primary Care 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Dr Su McCole Clinical Chair to 30/04/2019   90-95  90-95 90-95 

Gill Galliano 
Lay Member Finance & Performance and Lay Chair for 
2019/20   30-35  30-35 30-35 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member (Registered Nurse)   10-15  10-15 10-15 

Anna Raleigh 
Public Health Representative, West Sussex County 
Council 8 0-5  0-5 0-5 

Chris Moore Lay Member for Audit and Assurance to 30/05/2018   0-5  0-5 0-5 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director (Chanctonbury)   15-20  15-20 15-20 

Dr Edward Ford Locality Director (Chichester)   30-35 112-5-115 145-150 30-35 

Dr Hannah Davies Executive Medical Director   190-195 17.5-20 210-215 190-195 
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    2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 

Name Title Notes Total 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
Senior 

Manager 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCG’s 
Share of 

Total 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Dr Hannah Hewlett Locality Director (Cissbury) from 01/04/2019 9 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director (Adur)   25-30 0-2.5 25-30 25-30 

Dr Richard Brown Local Medical Committee Representative 8 0-5  0-5 0-5 

Dr Robert Henderson 
Locality Director Cissbury from 01/05/2018 to 
30/09/2018   

10-15 127.5-130 135-140 10-15 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director (Arun) 9 70-75 330-332.5 405-410 70-75 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director (Regis)   30-35 242.5-245 275-180 30-35 

Dr Victoria Beattie 
Co-ordinating Clinical Lead Role from 15/08/2018 to 
30/11/2018 9 

75-80 12.5-15 90-95 75-80 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement)   10-15  10-15 10-15 

John Eagles Lay Member (Audit and Assurance)   10-15  10-15 10-15 

Malcolm Dennett 
Lay Member (Governance) (B&H) / Interim Lay 
Member Finance and Performance (CWS)  

20-25  20-25 20-25 

Ralph Beard 
Independent Clinical Member (Secondary Care 
Clinician)   

15-20  15-20 15-20 
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Pension Disclosure Table 
 
In the salary disclosure table and the pension disclosure table, all pension related 
benefits are calculated with respect to the total for the joint appointment. 

2019/20 Pension Disclosure Table 
 

2019/20 

Name Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
at 
pension 
age 
(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 
pension 
age at 
31/3/20 
(bands 
of 
£5,000) 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
related 
to 
accrued 
pension 
at 
31/3/20 
(bands 
of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1/4/19 (to 
the 
nearest 
£1,000) 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value (to 
the 
nearest 
£1,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31/3/20 (to 
the nearest 
£1,000) 

Employers 
contribution 
to 
Stakeholder 
pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adam Doyle 2.5-5 0 15-20 0 144 19 194 0 

Allison Cannon 7.5-10 17.5-20 45-50 110-115 660 161 856 0 

Christopher Adcock 2.5-5 0-2.5 50-55 105-110 816 26 895 0 

David Cryer 2.5-5 0 20-25 0 266 40 332 0 

Edward Ford 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 20-25 125 6 138 0 

Hannah Davies 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 20-25 152 8 185 0 

Jessica Britton 2.5-5 2.5-5 30-35 60-65 468 51 547 0 

Joana Monjardino 0-2.5 0 10-15 30-35 207 2 218 0 

Karen Breen 12.5-15 27.5-30 65-70 155-160 983 244 1,290 0 

Pennie Ford 0-2.5 0-2.5 45-50 110-115 913 27 997 0 

Peter Kottlar 2.5-5 2.5-5 25-30 45-50 301 34 359 0 

Sarah Pledger 0-2.5 0 15-20 40-45 318 18 354 0 

Terry Willows 2.5-5 0 0-5 0 0 21 41 0 

Tom Gurney 5-7.5 0 15-20 0 150 41 213 0 

Lola Banjoko 2.5-5 7.5-10 25-30 75-80 491 67 585 0 

Tim Caroe 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 10-15 34 10 88 0 

Elizabeth Gill 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 15-20 71 8 118 0 
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2018/19 Pension Disclosure Table 
 

Name Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

at 
pension 

age 
(bands 

of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

lump 
sum at 

pension 
age 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 

at 
pension 
age at 
31/3/20 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

Lump 
sum at 

pension 
age 

related 
to 

accrued 
pension 

at 
31/3/20 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1/4/19 (to 

the 
nearest 
£1,000) 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value (to 

the 
nearest 
£1,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31/3/20 (to 
the 

nearest 
£1,000) 

Employers 
contribution 

to 
Stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adam Doyle 0-2.5 0 0-5 0 12 5 21 0 

Glynn Dodd 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 26 6 33 0 

Alison Cannon 2.5-5 0-2.5 5-10 20-25 136 31 175 0 

Sarah Valentine 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 40-45 269 26 307 0 

Dr Tej Bansil 10-12.5 30-32.5 10-15 30-35 0 187 192 0 

Dr Victoria Beattie 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 20-25 136 31 175 0 

Dr Hannah Davies 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 15-20 107 14 152  

Dr Edward Ford 5-7.5 12.5-15 5-10 20-25 39 80 125 0 

Dr Robert Henderson 5-7.5 15-17.5 5-10 15-20 0 88 89 0 

Dr Jo Monjardino 0 0 10-15 30-35 197 1 207 0 

Dr Sarah Pledger 15-17.5 40-42.5 15-20 40-45 0 307 318 0 

 

Note 1: Joint appointment between Sussex & East Surrey CCGs from 01/04/2019 to 31/10/2019.  
(NHS Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG, NHS East Surrey CCG, NHS 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley CCG NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Hastings 
& Rother CCG and NHS Eastbourne Hailsham & Seaford CCG). At this point, the salary shares were 
based upon each CCG’s Administration allocation.     
 
Note 2: Formally appointed as Chief Executive Officer in January 2019 and holds Accountable Officer 
status for each of the CCGs. 
 
Note 3: Seconded from NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG. The secondment for Dominic Wright 
ceased on 30/09/2019. 
 
Note 4: There are nil entries for annual performance related bonuses, long-term performance related 
bonuses.  The all pension related benefits are shown for those senior managers shown in salary 
disclosure table that are employees of the CCG. 
 
Note 5: Lay Members, the Governing Body Independent Nurse, and Governing Body Secondary Care 
Consultant remuneration are non-pensionable and therefore there are no entries in respect of 
pensions for these members. The Clinical Directors are office holders of the CCG and are self-
employed GPs. The employment status is as an 'off payroll worker' for NHS statutory accounting 
purposes, although the individual is paid via payroll.  In accordance with HMRC guidance, they are 
deemed 'office holders' of the organisation requiring the organisation to deduct income tax and 
National Insurance at source. The practitioner pension information cannot be obtained by the CCG in 

respect of cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) or lump sum. As the role carried out by the 
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GPs at the CCGs will only form a part of their overall work it is also considered inappropriate to 
disclose information on CETV or lump sum even if the CCGs were party to the information.  
 
Note 6: All Pension Related Benefits: This will apply to those receiving pension contributions only. 
The amount included here comprises all pension related benefits, including: 
  
• The cash value of payments (whether in cash or otherwise) in lieu of retirement benefits; and 
• All benefits in year from participating in pension schemes. 
  
For defined benefit schemes, the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement 
determined in accordance with the 'HMRC' method. In summary, this is as follows:  
Increase = ((20 x PE) +LSE) - ((20 x PB) + LSB) less employee contributions  
 
Where:  
 
• PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the director if they became entitled to it 

at the end of the financial year; 
• PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the director if they 

became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year; 
• LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the director if they became entitled to it 

at the end of the financial year; and 
• LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the director if they 

became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.  
 
Note 7: The inflation applied to the accrued pension, lump sum (where applicable) and CETV is the 
percentage (if any) by which the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) for the September before the start of 
the tax year is higher than it was for the previous September. For 2019/20, the difference in CPI 
between September 2018 and September 2019 was 2.4%. Therefore for transfers and benefit 
calculation purposes in 2019/20 CPI is 2.4%. Applying this inflation adjustment to the 31 March 2019 
value has in some cases resulted in an adjusted value, which exceeds the 31 March 2020 value.  
 
Note 8: Individuals are not remuneration by the CCG in relation to their roles on the Governing Body 
 
Note 9: The figures disclosed include remunerations for secondary clinical roles 
 
Note 10: Services provided via Agency and the disclosed costs include irrecoverable VAT. 
 
Note 11: Change in role within CCG outside of the agreed definition of a Senior Manager. 
 
Note 12: For part of the year, these Senior Managers were on secondment from NHSE, the 
remuneration of the secondment and subsequent substantive contract with the CCGs are disclosed in 
the tables.  
 

 The secondment for Terry Willows ceased on 30/04/2019.   

 The secondment for David Cryer ceased on 30/6/2019.  

 The secondment for Pennie Ford was from 31/10/2019 to 31/01/2020. 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

A CETV is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement, which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement). 
 
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 
(Note: The exit package disclosure is auditable) 

There have been four ‘payment in lieu of notice’ exit packages in 2019/20 for posts 
where the cost, or a share of the cost, was attributable to the CCG. 

Type of Exit Package 
Number Total 

£’000 
CCG’s Share 
£’000 

Payment in Lieu of Notice 4 185 156 

Redundancy 0 0 0 

 
As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will 
be counted separately in this Note, the total number above will not necessarily match 
the total number of individuals.  The total number of individuals is four.   
 
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value 
was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.  
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit payments payable to 
individuals named in that Report.  
 
 
 



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    125 

 

Payments to past members 

(Note: Payment to past members disclosure is auditable) 

In 2019/20 there were no payments made to past Senior Managers. 

Pay multiples  

(Note: The pay multiples disclosure is auditable). 

 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid Senior Manager in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 
 
The values are all calculated at full time equivalent basis.  The CCG working 
collaboratively, initially as Sussex and East Surrey CCGs until 31 October 2019, then 
as Sussex NHS Commissioners, is apportioned its share of the costs. 
 
The banded full time equivalent remuneration of the highest paid Senior Manager in 
the CCG in the financial year 2019/20 was £145-150k (2018/19: £355-360k).  This 
was 3.4 times (2018/19: 8.9) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£41.7k (2018/19: £40-45k).  
 
In 2019/20, one employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
Senior Manager, calculated on the share of costs apportioned to the CCG.  On a full 
time equivalent basis, twenty-nine employees received remuneration in excess of the 
highest-paid senior manager. Five of these employees were members of the CCGs 
Executive Management Team, and five a Clinical Lead.  Eighteen were employed via 
agencies or companies on an interim basis and the remuneration includes the 
agencies’ fees and commission (where applicable).  
 
Remuneration of all staff on full time equivalent basis ranged from £17k to £360k 
(2018/19: £15k to £360k). The range of the share of costs apportioned to the CCG 
was £1k to £150k. 
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Staff Report  

Number of senior managers, staff numbers and composition 

(Note: This disclosure is auditable). 

Staff details disclosed are permanently employed staff with a permanent (UK) 
employment contract with the CCG and includes the relevant CCG share of any 
shared posts.  The Headcount represents the establishment in post at the end of the 
financial year.  The whole time equivalent (WTE) value shown is the average across 
bandings for the full financial year to better provide a view of the CCG’s share of the 
establishment.  
 

The composition of the Governing Body is shown below. The table below shows the 
staff composition by band. This includes those GPs working as clinical leads, and 
paid through the payroll, but who are not employees or officers. 
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  Headcount  Average WTE 

Governing Body 

Chair 1.0  

Lay Members 4.0  

Chief Executive Officer 0.3 0.3 

Medical Director 0.6  

Chief Finance Officer 0.3 0.2 

Senior Manager 2.8 2.4 

Clinical Director/Locality Leads 7.6  

Governing Body and Executive Team Total 16.5 2.9 

Employees of the CCG 

Apprentice 0.0 0.2 

Band 2 1.2 0.3 

Band 3 36.3 25.2 

Band 4 14.0 13.2 

Band 5 31.0 28.8 

Band 6 59.5 51.9 

Band 7 32.3 29.4 

Band 8a 40.5 37.6 

Band 8b 15.8 15.3 

Band 8c 10.3 11.0 

Band 8d 4.2 5.1 

Band 9 1.7 1.8 

VSM 1.4 1.7 

Clinical Lead 14.4  

Employees Total 262.6 221.4 

Grand Total 279.1 224.3 
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Staff costs 

(Note: This disclosure is auditable). 

The tables below show the total employee benefits for the costs attributable to the 
CCG. 
 

2019/20 Employee Benefits Table 

2019/20 Employee 
Benefits 

2019/20 total Admin Programme 

Total Perm Other Total Perm Other Total Perm Other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employee Benefits 

Salaries and wages 9,773 8,264 1,509 5,839 4,887 952 3,934 3,377 557 

Social security costs 1,047 1,047 0 536 536 0 511 511 0 

Employer contributions to 
the NHS Pension Scheme 

1,717 1,717 0 1,087 1,087 0 630 630 0 

Other pension costs 3 3 0 1 1 0 2 2 0 

Apprenticeship Levy 38 38 0 38 38 0 0 0 0 

Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Net Employee Benefits 12,578 11,069 1,509 7,501 6,549 952 5,077 4,520 557 

 

2018/19 Employee Benefits Table 

2018/19 Employee 
Benefits 

2018/19 total Admin Programme 

Total Perm Other Total Perm Other Total Perm Other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employee Benefits 

Salaries and wages 8,562 7,226 1,336 5,693 4,912 781 2,869 2,314 555 

Social security costs 915 915 0 521 521 0 394 394 0 

Employer contributions to 
the NHS Pension Scheme 

1123 1123 0 597 597 0 526 526 0 

Other pension costs 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 

Apprenticeship Levy 30 30 0 30 30 0 0 0 0 

Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Net Employee Benefits 10,631 9,295 1,336 6,841 6,060 781 3,790 3,235 555 

 

The CCG feels that it is not appropriate to provide a gender split for all staff until we 

can produce this with an appropriate level of detail. We are working with our HR 

provider in order to be able to do this in future reporting. 
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Sickness absence data 
NHS Digital publish information on NHS Sickness Absence Rates. 
 
The CCG continues to actively manage sickness absence. 
 

Staff policies 
 
The CCG has a suite of employment policies, which it keeps regularly under review.   
Alongside other Sussex CCGs, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a member of a 
joint committee where the CCGs and the Staff Side representatives can keep the 
agreed policies under review to ensure that they remain up to date.  
 
We are proud to be accredited under the “Two Ticks” scheme. Our recruitment and 
selection policy states that where a person applies for a role with the CCG, who 
meets the essential criteria and notifies us that they have a disability, we will always 
offer them an interview. We will of course be happy to make any reasonable 
adjustment to enable the applicant to attend an interview.  
 
In relation to staff members with disabilities, we will make all reasonable adjustments 
to facilitate them in their role with us. If necessary we will liaise with external 
professionals, such as “Access to Work” and our occupational health provider, who 
will assess the employee and make recommendations as to what adjustments can 
be made to assist them in the workplace. 
 
It is the CCG’s policy to develop a personal development plan for each member of 
staff, which is kept under review as part of the staff appraisal process. Our policy on 
equal opportunities is clear that we will treat staff with disabilities no less favourably, 
if they have a disability. It is our intention to at all times comply with the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and meet our wider obligations under the Equality Act 2010. 
 

 
Staff equality network 
A staff equality network has been formed during the reporting period. This network 
covers all of the CCGs within Sussex and East Surrey. The network has strong 
leadership support and commitment, and is beginning to achieve progress. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are proud to note that on 30 January 2019 the Sussex and East Surrey 
Commissioners (DCS012299) was certified as ‘disability confident committed’ 
employer. 
 
As a Disability Confident Committed Employer, we have committed to: 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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 Anticipating and providing reasonable adjustments as required 

 At least one activity that will make a difference for disabled people 

 Communicating and promoting vacancies 

 Ensuring our recruitment process is inclusive and accessible 

 Offering an interview to disabled people 

 Supporting any existing employee who acquires a disability or long term health 
condition, enabling them to stay in work 
 

 
To find out more about Disability Confident you can visit www.gov.uk/disability-

confident. 
  

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements  
The CCG is a relevant public sector employer as defined by the Trade Union (Facility 
Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 and has one full time employee to 
report, who spent 1% to 50% of their working hours on facility time. 

 
Expenditure on consultancy 
During the year the CCG spend on consultancy services was £395k (£396k in 
2018/19) as can be seen in note 4 of the Annual Accounts. Consultancy was used to 
support the implementation of the new Sussex wide operating model. 
 

Off-payroll engagements  
(Note: Off-payroll engagements disclosures are not auditable). 

 
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020 for more than £245 per day and 
that last longer than six months:  

  Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020 23 

Of which, the number that have existed:  

For less than one year at the time of reporting 10 

For between one and two years at the time of reporting 13 

For between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting  

For between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  

For 4 or more years at the time of reporting  

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements  

Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all 
new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 

http://www.gov.uk/disability-confident
http://www.gov.uk/disability-confident
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1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer 
than 6 months: 

  Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 

duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 
6 

Of which:  

Number assessed as encompassed by IR35 6 

Number assessed as not encompassed by IR35 0 

  

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on 

the departmental payroll 
0 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance 

purposes during the year 
0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 

consistency review  
0 

 

Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

There were four senior managers that were initially off payroll in 2019 due to a 
secondment arrangement being in place.  One placement has now ended; this was 
the interim Managing Director post.  Three are now on payroll and both the payroll 
and the payments to the counterparty NHS organisation are disclosed in the Salary 
and Pension tables in this report.   
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Parliamentary accountability and 
audit report  
 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary 
Accountability and Audit Report but has opted to include disclosures on remote 
contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this 
Accountability Report at notes 1.1 to 1.4 below. An audit certificate and report is also 
included in this Annual Report in Section 3. 

1.1 The CCG does not have any remote contingent liabilities in 2019/20 
1.2 The CCG did not have any losses and special payments in 2019/20 
1.3 The CCG publishes a register of gifts and hospitality on the internet on a 

quarterly basis, and 
1.4 The CCG did not have any fees and charges to disclose in 2019/20. 
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Accountability Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Adam Doyle 
Accountable Officer 
25 June 2020 
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Section 3:  Annual Accounts   
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 
31st March 2020 
 

    2019-20   2018-19   
  Note £'000   £'000   
            
Income from sale of goods and services 2 (976)   (2,111)   
Other operating income 2 -   (1)   

Total operating income   (976)   (2,112)   
            
Staff costs 3 12,578   10,734   
Purchase of goods and services 4 836,925   797,648   
Depreciation and impairment charges 4 54    
Provision expense 4 293   337   
Other Operating Expenditure 4 (765)   190   

Total operating expenditure   849,085   808,909   
           
Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year   848,109   806,797   

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year   848,109    806,797   
 

Of which: 

 
    

Administration Income and Expenditure     

Employee Benefits 3 7,501  6,945 
Operating Expenses 4 4,163  5,411 
Other Operating Revenue 2 (640)  (1,514) 
Net Administration Costs before Interest  11,024  10,842 
       
     

Programme Income and Expenditure     
Employee Benefits 3 5,077  3,789 
Operating Expenses 4 832,344  792,764 
Other Operating Revenue 2 (336)  (597) 

Net Programme Expenditure before Interest  837,085  795,956 

 

Surplus / Deficit for Year  2019-20 2019-20 2019-20  

 Total Admin Programme  

 £'000 £'000 £'000  

The CCG's performance for the year ended 31 

March 2020 is as follows: 

    

 

Total Net Operating Cost for the Financial Year 848,109 11,024 837,085  

Revenue Allocation 848,361 11,305 837,056  

(Under)/Overspend Against Revenue Resource 

Limit (RRL) 
(252) (281) 29 

 

 



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    137 

 

 
Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2020 

  2019-20   2018-19  
         
 Note £'000   £'000  
Non-current assets:         
Property, plant and equipment 7 1,071   213  
Total non-current assets  1,071  213  
      

Current assets:      
Trade and other receivables 8 14,401   8,208  
Cash and cash equivalents 9 427   79  
Total current assets  14,828  8,287  
      
Total assets  15,899  8,500  
      
Current liabilities         
Trade and other payables 10 (49,986)   (55,370)  
Provisions 11 (243)   (468)  
Total current liabilities  (50,229)  (55,838)  
      
Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current 
Assets/Liabilities  (34,330)  (47,338)  
      
Total non-current liabilities  -  -  
      
Assets less Liabilities  (34,330)  (47,338)  
      
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity      
General fund  (34,330)   (47,338)  
Total taxpayers' equity:  (34,330)  (47,338)  

 

 

The notes on pages 140 to 171 form part of this statement     
     
The financial statements on pages 136 to 139 were approved by the Audit 
Committee on delegated authority from the Governing Body on 19 June 2020 and 
signed on its behalf by:     
 
 
 
 
Adam Doyle 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31st 
March 2020 
 

  

31 
March 
2020 

General 
fund 

31 
March 
2019 

General 
fund 

  £'000 £'000 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20    
    
Balance at 01 April   (47,339) (48,222) 

    
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20    
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (848,109) (806,797) 

    
    

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year  (848,109) (806,797) 

Net funding*  861,118 807,681 

Balance at 31 March   (34,330) (47,338) 

    
*The Net funding represents the cash drawdown received from NHS England.    

 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 140 to 171 form part of this statement     
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2020 
 

 

  2019-20   2018-19 

 Note £'000   £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities        
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (848,109)   (806,797) 
Depreciation and amortisation 4 54  - 
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 8 (6,192)   4,548 
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 10 (5,891)   (5,609) 
Provisions utilised 11 (516)   (265) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 11 293   337 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating 
Activities  (860,361)   (807,786) 

        
Cash Flows from Investing Activities        
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment  (408)   (67) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing 
Activities  (408)   (67) 

        
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing  (860,769)   (807,853) 

        
Cash Flows from Financing Activities        
Net Funding Received  861,118   807,681 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing 
Activities  861,118   807,681 

        

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash 
Equivalents 9 348   (172) 

        
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 
Financial Year  79   251 

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank 
overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year  427   79 

 

Note: Capital Payables balances from Note 8- Trade & Other Payables are included 
within the (Payments) for property, plant and equipment of the Statement of Cash 
Flow not within Increase/ (decrease) in trade & other payables. 
 
 

The notes on pages 140 to 171 form part of this statement     
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

1. Accounting Policies 
 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning 
groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual 
(GAM) issued by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). Consequently, 
the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group 
Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. 
The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow 
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, 
which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy 
which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical 
commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the accounts. 
 
1.1  

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of 
the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. 
 
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public 
sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final 
set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial 
statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
The statement published by NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE&I) on 27th 
May 2020 states that “the financial statements of all NHS providers and CCGs will be 
prepared on a going concern basis unless there are exceptional circumstances 
where the entity is being or is likely to be wound up without the provision of its 
services transferring to another entity in the public sector.”   
 
In relation to the COVID-19 emergency in March 2020 NHSE&I announced revised 
arrangements for NHS contracting and payment to apply for the first four months of 
the 2020/21 year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The contracting arrangements for 
the rest of 2020/21 and beyond have not yet been definitively announced but it 
remains the case that the Government has issued a mandate to NHS England for 
the continued provision of health services in England in 2020/21 and CCG 
allocations have been set for the remainder of 2020/21 and 2021/22. The CCG does 
therefore continue to expect NHS funding to flow at similar levels to that previously 
provided where services are reasonably still expected to be commissioned. 
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NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group was dissolved on 31st 
March 2020 having joined with NHS Crawley Clinical Commissioning Group and 
NHS Horsham & Mid Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group to establish NHS West 
Sussex CCG with effect from 1st April 2020. This followed approval at the NHS 
England Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 14th October 2019. 
 
Whilst NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group ceased to exist on 
31st March 2020, the underlying services became the responsibility of a successor 
CCG, NHS West Sussex CCG. Management is satisfied that the outgoing CCG 
should continue to prepare accounts on a ‘going concern’ basis because:  
 
• NHS West Sussex CCG has received notification of 2020/21 financial 

allocations from NHS England; 
 
• A draft 2020/21 financial plan for NHS West Sussex CCG has been prepared 

and submitted to, and reviewed by, the Governing Body and NHSE&I; 
 
• This draft financial plan underscores the ongoing financial viability of NHS West 

Sussex CCG, noting constituent target efficiencies equivalent to 3.2% of 
allocation; and 

 
• The delivery of the merger transition plan is sufficiently advanced to assure the 

executive directors that NHS West Sussex CCG has the necessary 
management capacity to deliver its ongoing commissioning responsibilities from 
1st April 2020. 

1.2 Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Operating Segments 

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are 
reported in line with management information used within the clinical commissioning 
group. 

1.4 Employee Benefits 

1.4.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet 
taken. 

1.4.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in 
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the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period. 
 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension 
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning 
group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

1.5 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the 
consideration payable. 

1.6 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at 
the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the 
lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of 
the lease obligation to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical 
commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and 
subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are 
separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance 
leases. 
 
1.7 Pooled Budgets 
 
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement the 
partners are NHS Crawley CCG, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Horsham & 
Mid Sussex CCG and West Sussex County Council [in accordance with section 75 of 
the NHS Act 2006]. The arrangements relate to the Better Care Fund and the Joint 
Commissioning Unit and Note 16 provides details of the income and expenditure. 
 
NHS Horsham & Mid Sussex CCG hosts the pool. The clinical commissioning group 
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from 
the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget 
agreement. 

1.8 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
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In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical 
commissioning group’s cash management. 
 
1.9 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 
commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision 
is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of 
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. 

1.10 Contingent liabilities 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning 
group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a 
payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the 
possibility of a payment is remote. 
 
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets are disclosed at their present value. 
 
1.11 Financial Assets 
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes 
party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when 
the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following category: 
 

 Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics 
of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 
 

1.11.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade 
receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition, these 
financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 
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1.11.2 Impairment 

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in 
accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, 
lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an 
amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1). 
 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 
3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference 
between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  
Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss. 

1.12 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 
clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has 
been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 
 
1.12.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 
 

 The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less 
cumulative amortisation; and, 

 

 The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance 
with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 
1.12.2 Other Financial Liabilities 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and 
Social Care and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life 
of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised 
using the effective interest method. 

1.13  Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of 
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is 
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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1.14 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty 
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are 
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 

1.14.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

Until 31st March 2019, High Weald Lewes Havens CCG hosted the Patient Transport 
Service on behalf of Brighton and Hove CCG, Coastal West Sussex CCG, Crawley 
CCG, Eastbourne Hailsham and Seaford CCG, Hasting and Rother CCG and 
Horsham and Mid-Sussex CCG.  From 1st April 2019, Coastal West Sussex CCG 
has hosted the service.  The Patient Transport Service is a non-emergency service 
provided for medically eligible residents of Sussex who require support in getting to 
their appointments. 
 
A contract for patient transport with a former provider was terminated early in 
2016/17 due to failure to perform the service adequately.  Additional costs of £7.2m 
were incurred over and above the contract price funding the survival of the service 
until a replacement provider was in place.  NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG, on 
behalf of the Sussex CCGs, is currently seeking to recover these additional costs by 
calling upon the former provider’s parent company under a guarantee to remedy 
performance and / or to reimburse the costs.  The matter is in the hands of the 
CCG’s solicitors who have confirmed that all costs fall within the remit of the Parent 
Company Guarantee. 
 
A risk analysis has been carried out to assess the recoverability of the debt.  The 
current estimated risk represents between 0.03% and 0.06% of the CCGs’ resource 
limits and would not, therefore, material to the accounts.   
 
1.15 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been 
Adopted 
The Department of Health and Social Care and Social Care GAM does not require 
the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These 
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 
implementation deferred until 2021-22, and the government implementation date for 
IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

 IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and 
interpreted by the FReM. 

 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early 
adoption is not therefore permitted. 
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2. Other Operating Revenue 
 

    2019-20   2018-19 
    Total   Total 

    £'000   £'000 
          
Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)         
Prescription fees and charges   184   303 
Other Contract income   792   1,808 

Total Income from sale of goods and services   976   2,111 

          
Other operating income         
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS   -  1 

Total Operating Income   976   2,112 

 
  

Revenue arose totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) receives no revenue from the sale of goods. 
 

2.1. Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services 
(contracts) 

              

    

Education, 
training 

and 
research 

Non-
patient 

care 
services to 

other 
bodies 

Other 
Contract 
income 

  
Prescription 

fees and 
charges 

    £'000 £'000 £'000   £'000 
Source of Revenue             
NHS    - - 581   - 
Non NHS   - - 211   184 

Total   - - 792   184 

              
              
              
    £'000 £'000 £'000   £'000 
Timing of Revenue             
Point in time   - -  792   184 

Total   - - 792   184 
 

 

2.2. Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations  
 
The CCG has no Contract revenue expected to be recognised in the future periods 
relating to contract performance obligations not yet completed at the reporting date. 
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers 
3.1. Employee benefits 

  
Total  2019-20 

 
Permanent 
Employees   Other  Total 

 £'000   £'000  £'000 
Employee Benefits         
Salaries and wages 8,264  1,509  9,773 
Social security costs 1,047  -  1,047 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,717  -  1,717 
Other pension costs 3  -  3 
Apprenticeship Levy 38  -  38 
Termination benefits -  -  - 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 11,069  1,509  12,578 

         
         
 
 Total  2018-19 

 

Permanent 
Employees   Other  Total 

 £'000   £'000  £'000 
Employee Benefits         
Salaries and wages 7,226  1,336  8,562 
Social security costs 915  -  915 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,123  -  1,123 
Other pension costs 1  -  1 
Apprenticeship Levy 30  -  30 
Termination benefits 103  -  103 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 9,398  1,336  10,734 
 

 

Employer Contributions to the NHS Pension scheme in 2019-20 include the 
additional 6.3% uplift following the recent revaluation of public sector pension 
schemes.   

 
 

3.2. Average number of people employed 
 
 

  2019-20   2018-19 

  

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total   

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total 

  Number   Number   Number   Number   Number   Number 

                        
Total  224.40  13.50   237.90   206.80  9.11   215.92 
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From the 1st November NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG became a member of 
Sussex NHS Commissioners.  The disclosures incorporate the CCGs share of the 
establishment in 2019-20. The “Other” Headings refer to Agency spend. 

 

3.3. Exit packages agreed in the financial year 
 

The CCG had 4 exit packages agreed in the year.  The total payment made was 
£185k and this cost of this was shared with Sussex NHS Commissioners.  The 
Share for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is £156k. In 2018-19 the full cost of exit 
packages was borne by Coastal West Sussex alone. 

Redundancy and other departure costs were paid in accordance with the provisions 
of the employee contract. 

 

 2019-20  2018-19 

   Other agreed departures  Total 

 Number £  Number £ 

Less than £10,000 3 11,607  - - 

£10,001 to £25,000 - -  1 18,283 

£25,001 to £50,000 - -  1 36,889 

£50,001 to £100,000 - -  2 148,151 

£100,001 to £150,000 1 144,575  - - 

Total 4 156,182  4 203,323 

 

 

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures                

  2019-20   2018-19 

  

Other agreed 
departures   

Other agreed 
departures 

  Number   £   Number   £ 

Voluntary redundancies including 
early retirement contractual costs -  -   2   103,119 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 4  156,182   2   100,204 

Total  4  156,182   4   203,323 
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3.4. Pension costs 
 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable 
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 
formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows: 
 
3.4.1. Accounting valuation 
 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in 
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount 
rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
 
3.4.2. Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the 
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 
contribution rate payable from April 2019 at 20.68%, and the Scheme Regulations 
were amended accordingly.  
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The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative 
to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from 
the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part 
of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
 
For 2019-20, employers’ contributions of £1,717k were payable to the NHS Pensions 
Scheme (2018-19: £1,123k) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 
20.68% of pensionable pay.  These costs are included in the NHS pension line of 
note 3.1. 
 
Central payments Central payments have been made by NHS England and the 
Department of Health and Social Care (‘DHSC’) for their respective proportions of 
the outstanding 6.3% on local employers’ behalf. 
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4. Operating expenses 
 

  2019-20   2018-19 
    Total   Total 
    £'000   £'000 
          
Purchase of goods and services         
Services from other CCGs and NHS England   2,146   4,048 
Services from foundation trusts   519,071   490,562 
Services from other NHS trusts   32,592   30,682 
Services from Other WGA bodies   -   1 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies   90,183  86,956 
Purchase of social care  83  - 
Prescribing costs   88,529   86,765 
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS   77,125   74,323 
Supplies and services – general   22,042   15,899 
Consultancy services   395   23 
Establishment   1,890   2,083 
Transport   13   1 
Premises   1,277   2,582 
Audit fees – external   85   91 
Other non-statutory audit expenditure         
·          Other services   -   10 
·          Internal audit fees  49  59 
Other professional fees   1,120   1,258 
Legal fees   47   7 
Education, training and conferences   278   460 

 Total Purchase of goods and services   836,925   795,810 

        
Depreciation and impairment charges     
Depreciation  54   - 

Total Depreciation and impairment charges  54   - 

     
     
Provision expense       
Provisions   293   337 

Total Provision expense   293   337 

        

Other Operating Expenditure       
Chair and Non-Executive Members  119  190 
Clinical negligence   2   - 
Expected Credit Loss on Receivables  (886)  1,838 

Total Other Operating Expenditure   (765)   2,028 

       
Total operating expenditure   836,507   798,175 

 
 

*Additional Information provided for these notes below. 
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Consultancy services 
Additional Consultancy Costs were incurred in 2019/20 associated with designing 
and implementing the revised governance structure of Sussex Commissioners and 
the proposed merger of the CCGs. 
 
Premises 
Premises costs have reduced year on year due to a reduction in the space the CCG 
was able to occupy at its headquarters. 
 
Depreciation 
CWS did not previously have any capital assets and this is the first year that 
depreciation has been applicable. 
 
Expected Credit Loss on Receivables  

The figure (£886k) represents a net reduction in the provision for irrecoverable debt. 

This is due to a reassessment of the likelihood of recovering outstanding sums. 

Limitation on auditor's liability 
Limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work carried out in 2019-20 is £2 

million.  
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5. Better Payment Practice Code 

        
Measure of compliance 2019-20  2019-20  2018-19  2018-19 

 Number  £'000  Number  £'000 

Non-NHS Payables               
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the 
Year 53,299   235,427   54,983   203,548 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within 
target 53,089   234,040   54,791   201,172 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices 
paid within target 99.61%   99.41%   99.65%   98.83% 

                

NHS Payables               

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 3,869   621,021   3,417   562,040 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within 
target 3,813   619,661   3,381   561,544 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid 
within target 98.55%   99.78%   98.95%   99.91% 

 
 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.   
The target percentage to be reached is 95% and in 2019/20, the CCG achieved this 
across all measures. 
 
 

6. Operating Leases 
 
 

6.1. Payments recognised as an Expense 

  2019-20   2018-19  

   Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total 
 

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 

Payments recognised as an 
expense                 

 

Minimum lease payments     699 4 702 1,841 - 1,841 
 

Total     699 4 702 1,841 - 1,841  

 

 

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition 
of operating leases, rental charge for future years have not yet been agreed. 
Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for the 
arrangements. 
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7. Property, plant and equipment 
 

  2019-20 

2019-20 2019-
20 2018-19 

  
Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total Information 
technology 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cost or valuation at 01 April  213 - 213  
Additions purchased  495 417 912  213 

Cost/Valuation at 31 March  708 417 1,125  213 

       
Depreciation 01 April   -  - 
Charged during the year  54 - 54 - 

Depreciation at 31 March  54 - 54  - 

       

Net Book Value at 31 March  654 417 1,071 213 

        
Purchased  654 417 1,071 213 

Total at 31 March  654 417 1,071 213 

        
Asset financing:        

      
Owned  654 417 1,071 213 

Total at 31 March  654 417 1,071 213 
 
 

 
Additions 
The CCG moved from dilapidated offices to a new working environment in the last 
quarter of the year which, required extensive refurbishment and new equipment. 
 
 

7.1. Economic lives 
 

  
Minimum Life (years) 

  
Maximum Life (Years)     

Information technology  5   5 
Furniture and fittings  5  5 
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8. Trade and other receivables 
 

 Current Current 
  2019-20 2018-19 
  £'000 £'000 

     
NHS receivables: Revenue 348 1,063 
NHS prepayments 1,490 2,013 
NHS accrued income 10,074 3,234 
NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 1,268 - 
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 807 580 
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 850 94 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 424 3,005 
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (952) (1,838) 
VAT 76 39 

Other receivables and accruals 16 18 

Total Trade & other receivables 14,401  8,208 
 
 

NHS accrued income – The increase mainly relates to system partner contributions 
to efficiency not yet invoiced (£4m) and imputed cash balances related to joint 
arrangements (£1.1m). 
 
The NHS receivables - not yet invoiced balance in 2019/20 relates to pay and non-
pay recharges to other Clinical Commissioning Groups, which have yet to be invoiced.   
 
The non-NHS receivables – yet to be invoiced balance includes an accrual for the 
recovery of debts in relation to patient transport.  The seven Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Groups are jointly taking legal steps to enforce the terms of a parent 
company guarantee submitted as part of the non-emergency patient transport services 
contract, which was terminated with effect from 31st March 2017, to recover these 
amounts. 
 
Non-NHS and Other WGA refers to Non NHS organisations including those that are 
consolidated into the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) for example Local 
Authorities.  
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8.1. Receivables past their due date but not impaired 
 

    2019-20  2019-20  2018-19  2018-19 

    
DHSC Group 

Bodies  

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies  

DHSC Group 
Bodies  

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies 

    £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
By up to three months   70   216   154   54 
By three to six months   98   224   11   65 
By more than six 
months 

  
175   279   2   316 

Total   343   719   167   435 
 
 

DHSC Group Bodies are organisations consolidated in the Whole of Government 
Accounts. 
 

8.2. Other financial assets: Expected Credit Losses on Financial Assets 
 

    Trade and other 
receivables - Non 

DHSC Group 
Bodies 

    £’000 
Balance at 1st April 2019 (1,838) 

Allowance for credit losses at 1st April 2019 (1,838) 
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2 886 
Financial assets that have been derecognised   - 

Allowance for credit losses at  31 March 2020 (952) 
 

 

The seven Sussex Clinical Commissioning Groups have reviewed the expected 
credit loss at the balance sheet date. Best estimates of the expenditure required to 
settle obligations have been recognised as a provision in line with IAS37. For CWS 
the figure (£886k) represents a net reduction in the provision for irrecoverable debt. 
This is due to a reassessment of the likelihood of recovering outstanding sums and 
an increase in confidence of recovery. 
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

          
    2019-20   2018-19 
    £'000   £'000 
Balance at 01 April   79   251 
Net change in year   348   (172) 

Balance at 31 March   427   79 

          
Made up of:         
Cash with the Government Banking Service   427   79 
Cash in hand   -   - 
Current investments   -   - 

Balance at 31 March   427   79 
 
 
 

10. Trade and other payables 
 

   Current  Current 
    2019-20  2018-19 
    £'000  £'000 
         
NHS payables: Revenue   7,981   7,998 
NHS accruals   9,023   9,676 
NHS deferred income   -   6 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue   2,294   3,937 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital   -   146 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals   29,275   31,694 
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income   837   700 
Social security costs   137   153 
Tax   102   137 
Other payables and accruals   337   923 

Total Trade & Other Payables   49,986   55,370 
         

Other payables include £169k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 
(2018-19 £192k). 
 
There are no liabilities shown above that are due in future years under arrangements 
to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2019: £0). 
 
Non-NHS and Other WGA refers to Non NHS organisations including those that are 
consolidated into the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) for example Local 
Authorities.  
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11. Provisions 
 
 

 Current Current 

 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 

 £'000 £'000 
Legal claims 94 118 
Continuing care 149 349 

Total 243 467 
 

 

 

Legal  
Claims 

Continuing 
Care Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

       
Balance at 01 April 2019 118 349 467 

       
Arising during the year - 292 292 
Utilised during the year (24) (492) (516) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 94 149 243 

       
Expected timing of cash flows:       
Within one year 94 149 243 

Balance at 31 March 2020 94 149 243 
 
 

The CCG, in association with NHS Horsham & Mid Sussex CCG and NHS Crawley 
CCG, has entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the provision for 
Continuing Health Care (CHC).  The CHC service is hosted by Coastal West Sussex 
CCG on behalf Horsham & Mid Sussex CCG and Crawley CCG and accounted for 
under net accounting rules.  Each CCG reflects in their own accounts the CHC 
provisions in respect of the MoU. The £149k shown above represents the CCG's 
share of the CHC provision.  
  
Continuing care provisions relate to retrospective claims identified for periods after 1 
April 2013.  
 

 

12. Commitments 
12.1. Capital commitments 

   2019-20  2018-19 

   £'000  £'000 
Information Technology     -   146 

Total     -   146 
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13. Financial instruments 
 

13.1. Financial risk management 
 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body 
faces in undertaking its activities. 
 
Because NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group is financed 
through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in 
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities 
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change 
the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities. 
 
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the 
Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS Coastal West 
Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors. 
 

13.1.1. Credit risk 
 

Because the majority of the NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning 
Group revenue comes from parliamentary funding, NHS Coastal West Sussex 
Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum 
exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note 
 

13.1.2. Liquidity risk 
 

NHS Coastal West Sussex clinical commissioning group is required to operate within 
revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted 
annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 
expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, 
exposed to significant liquidity risks. 
 
13.1.3. Financial Instruments 
 

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, 
financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than 
would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate 
to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase 
and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, 
liquidity or market risk. 
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13.2. Financial assets 
 

 

  2019-20 2018-19 

  £'000 £'000 

      
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies  3,419 3,042 
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies  8,714 4,005 
Trade and other receivables with external bodies  805 836 
Other financial assets  - 18 
Cash and cash equivalents  427 79 

Total at 31 March  13,365 7,980 
 
 

13.3. Financial liabilities 
 

 

  2019-20 2018-19 

  £'000 £'000 

      
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies  7,180 2,107 
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies  22,139 27,971 
Trade and other payables with external bodies  19,591 23,376 
Other financial liabilities  - 923 

Total at 31 March  48,910 54,377 

 
 

14. Operating segments 
 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG contributes to a Section 75 commissioning 
agreement between West Sussex County Council, Coastal West Sussex CCG and 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG for the joint commissioning and pooled funding of 
various services. Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG is the host CCG for the Section 75, 
which accounts for more than 10% of the CCGs consolidated total Revenue 
Resource and so is considered a separate operating segment. 
 

  
Gross 

expenditure 
Income 

Net 
expenditure 

Total 
assets 

Total 
liabilities 

Net 
assets 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Joint Commissioning Unit 85,551 - 85,551 2,166 (2,166) - 

Commissioning of Healthcare 763,534 (976) 762,558 13,733 (48,063) (34,330) 

Total 849,085 (976) 848,109 15,899 (50,229) (34,330) 
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14.1. Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE 
 

  2019-20 

  £'000 

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments 848,109 

Reconciling Items - 

Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure 

848,109 

 
 

14.2. Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP 
 

  2019-20 

  £'000 

Total assets reported for operating segments 15,899 

Reconciling Items - 

Total assets per Statement of Financial Position 15,899 

 
 

  2019-20 

  £'000 

Total liabilities reported for operating segments (50,229) 

Reconciling Items - 

Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position (50,229) 

 
 

15. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations 
 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is part of two section 75 agreements with Pooled 
Budget arrangements in 2019-20. Both section 75s are accounted for as Joint 
Operations.  Breakdown of the areas within the two section 75 arrangements are 
detailed below.  Parties for all arrangements are West Sussex County Council and 
the West Sussex CCGs: Coastal West Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex and Crawley 
CCGs.  Both section 75s principle activity is for the provision of health and social 
care schemes. 
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15.1. Interests in joint operations 
 
 

      2019-20 

Name of arrangement     Assets   Liabilities   Income    Expenditure 

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

Better Care Fund Pooled Budget     -   -   -   35,166 

Learning Disabilities     147   (147)   -   12,267 

Mental Health Working Age Pool     487   (487)   -   51,751 

Mental Health Older Adults Pool     1,532   (1,532)   -   13,441 

Children & Young Peoples Services     -   -   -   13,314 

 
 
 

      

 
 

2018-19 

Name of arrangement     Assets   Liabilities   Income    Expenditure 

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

Better Care Fund Pooled Budget     
-   -   (33,221)   33,221 

Learning Disabilities     
167   (167)   (11,493)   11,611 

Mental Health Working Age Pool     
620   (620)   (40,677)   41,040 

Mental Health Older Adults Pool     
1,661   (1,661)   (15,813)   16,138 

Children & Young Peoples Services     
-   -   (14,113)   13,997 

Community Equipment Services     
-   -   (2,564)   2,564 

Telecare     
-   -   (105)   105 

 
 
 

Section 75 for the Joint Commissioning and Pooled Funding of Various 
Services 
 
The NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has continued in a pooled budget arrangement 
with West Sussex County Council (WSCC), NHS Crawley CCG and NHS Horsham 
& Mid Sussex CCG. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under Section 75 of 
the NHS Act 2006 for the following services: Working Age Adults Mental Health, 
Mental Health Services for Older Age and Dementia (hosted by Horsham & Mid 
Sussex CCG) and Learning Difficulties (hosted by WSCC). 
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There is a lead commissioning arrangement between the three Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, with Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG as the lead CCG for 
the Joint Commissioning Unit for both pooled and non-pooled funds for the other 
CCGs. Due to this lead commissioning arrangement within the CCGs, the whole pool 
activity between the West Sussex County Council and the CCGs is shown in the 
Horsham & Mid Sussex CCG accounts, and then proportioned (according to 
weighted capitation income proportion) out to West Sussex County Council and the 
CCGs to give net accounting in each of the contributors accounts. Within the 
arrangement, there is a risk sharing agreement between the CCGs, whereby 
underspends and overspends are shared according to the CCG contributions.  
 
 
 
 

Mental Health Working Age Pooled Memorandum Account for the period 
01/04/19 to 31/03/20 

      

      

 Services Staff  TOTAL  

      
Contribution provided to the pooled 
budget £'000 £'000  £'000  

      

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 42,316 -  42,316  

      

Non-pooled Contribution provided       

      

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 8,177 -  8,177  

      

Total Contribution (a)    50,493  
            

-      
   

50,493  (a) 

      

      

Expenditure £'000 £'000  £'000  

      

West Sussex County Council 7,883 -  7,883  
NHS providers 40,456 -  40,456  
Other Non NHS providers 3,151 260  3,411  
Total Expenditure (b) 51,490 260   51,750 (b) 

      

      

Net deficit (a) - (b)    (1,258)  
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Mental Health Older Age & Dementia Pooled Memorandum Account for the 
period 01/04/19 to 31/03/20 

      

 Services Staff  TOTAL  

      

Contribution provided  £'000 £'000  £'000  

      

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 12,903 -  12,903  

Total Contribution (a)    12,903  
            

-      
   

12,903  (a) 

      

      

Expenditure      

      

NHS providers 10,502 -  10,502  
Other Non NHS providers 2,837 101  2,939  
Total Expenditure (b) 13,339 101   13,441 (b) 

      

      

Net deficit (a) - (b)    (538)  

      
 

Learning Difficulties Pooled Budget Memorandum Account for the period 
01/04/19 to 31/03/20 

      

      

 Services Staff  TOTAL  

      
Contribution provided to the pooled 
budget £'000 £'000  £'000  

      

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 12,089 -  12,089  

Total Contribution (a)    12,089  
            

-      
   

12,089  (a) 

      

      

Expenditure      

      

West Sussex County Council 12,269 -  12,269  
Total Expenditure (b) 12,269 0   12,269 (b) 

      

      

Net deficit (a) - (b)    (180)  



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    165 

 

Children & Young People Aligned Budget Memorandum Account for the period 
01/04/19 to 31/03/20 

      

 Services Staff  TOTAL  

      
Contribution provided to the pooled 
budget £'000 £'000  £'000  

      

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 13,295 -  13,295  

Total Contribution (a)    13,295  
            

-      
   

13,295  (a) 

      

      

Expenditure      

      

West Sussex County Council 904 -  904  
NHS providers 11,325 -  11,325  
Other Non NHS providers 937 148  1,085  
Total Expenditure (b) 13,166 148   13,314 (b) 

      

      

Net deficit (a) - (b)    (19)  

      
 
 

Better Care Fund 
 

In 2019/20, the CCG continued a Pooled arrangement under a section 75 of the 
NHS Act agreement with West Sussex County Council for the Better Care Fund.  
West Sussex County Council is the host of this arrangement. 
 
The principle of the BCF is a transition toward a healthier society supported by a 
more proactive care approach. The BCF utilises the section 75 agreement for Health 
and Social Care for pooling of resources with all commissioning partners to provide a 
joint programme of work to deliver better outcomes for patients, and improve 
services. It is a mandated NHS England venture. 
 
The aim is to streamline care services for the population of West Sussex that are 
supported by the CCG's (NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley CCG and 
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG) and West Sussex County Council. 
 
Details of Better Care Fund can be found at 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/. 
 
For 2019-20, the committed funding for BCF has increased to £87.8m, and schemes 
are in place for the delivery of this funding in 2019-20.  
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The financial schedules are noted below: 
 

 Committed  2019-20 

 Funding  Expenditure 

Grant Funding £'000  £'000 

Disabled Facilities Grant (West Sussex District and 
Boroughs) 

8,298 
 

8,298 

iBCF 16,703  16,703 

Winter Pressures Grant 3,303  3,303 

 28,304  28,304 

Revenue Funding     

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 35,201  35,166 

NHS Crawley CCG 8,098  8,098 

NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 14,309  14,309 

    

Total Revenue 57,608  57,573 

    
West Sussex County Council additional 
contribution 

1,878 
 

1,878 

    

Total Better Care Fund Budget 87,790  87,755 
     

Underspend   35 

    
For 2019-20, the pool has underspent by £35k on Prevention Initiatives.  The total 
expenditure was £87.8m of the committed funds.   
 
There is a cumulative underspend of £264k, including balances from 2018-19 and 
interest earned on balances. Use of the under spend on the pooled budget will be 
decided by the Joint Commissioning Strategy Group. It may be returned to partners 
or reinvested in new or other schemes. 
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West 
Sussex 

Total  

CWS CWS 

Funding 
Share 

Spend 
Share 

BCF Schemes £'000  £'000 £'000 
  

 
  

Grant Funding  
 

  

Disabled Facilities Grant 8,298  - - 

Winter Pressures Grant 3,303  - - 
 11,601  - - 
     

West Sussex County Council hosted schemes     

Maintaining (Protecting) Social Care 15,451  9,583 9,583 

Meeting adult social care needs 7,638  - - 

Care Act Initiatives 2,096  1,300 1,300 

Carers Services 3,771  1,174 1,174 

Telecare 861  539 539 

Community Equipment 3,951  2,450 2,450 

Reducing pressures on the NHS – hospital 
discharges 

6,448  - - 

Supporting the local social care provider network 2,617  - - 
 42,833  15,046 15,046 
     

West Sussex CCG hosted schemes     

Proactive Care / Communities of Practice 10,789  6,567 6,567 

BCF Programme Support 180  110 110 

Step Up Step Down (Responsive Services) 16,999  10,079 10,079 

Prevention Initiatives 939  335 300 

Community Equipment (Health) 4,449  3,064 3,064 
 33,356  20,155 20,120 
  

 
  

Total Funds 87,790  35,201 35,166 
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16. Related party transactions 
 

The clinical commissioning group is required to disclose all transactions in the year 
with any parties that are related to or connected with members of the Governing 
Body or members of key management staff. The members of the Governing Body 
have declared an interest in the following organisations; these organisations are 
therefore regarded as related parties, and the details of the clinical commissioning 
group's transactions with these organisations are as follows: 
 

Related Party Name 

Payments 
to 

Related 
Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Alison Lewis-Smith - Chair of Fostering and 
Adoption Panels , Children's Services, Hampshire 
County Council 

- (55) - - 

Dr Alex Rainbow - GP Partner at Steyning Health 
Centre 

3,544 - 119 - 

Dr Sarah Pledger - Salaried GP at Fitzalan Medical 
Centre 

5,048 - 91 - 

Dr Sarah Pledger - Salaried GP at Fitzalan Medical 
Centre - IPC Shareholder through Practice 

5,626 - - - 

Dr Tej Bansil - Senior Partner Avisford Medical 
Group 

3,656 - 81 - 

Dr Tej Bansil - Senior Partner Avisford Medical 
Group - IPC shareholder through Practice 

5,626 - - - 

Dr Edward Ford - Locality Director for Chichester - 
Shareholder in IPC 

5,626 - - - 

Dr Jo Monjardino - GP Partner of Northbourne 
Surgery 

3,146 - 55 - 

Dr Jo Monjardino - IPC shareholder 5,626 - - - 

Dr Alex Rainbow - GP Partner at Steyning Health 
Centre - IPC Shareholder through GP Practice 

5,626 - - - 

Malcolm Dennett - Trustee and Vice Chair of 
Independent Lives (Disability), Worthing 

115 - 4 - 

Allison Cannon - Chief Nurse of 5 CCGs - Here 
(Care Unbound) 

2 - - - 

Dr Tim Caroe - Extended Access shift work through 
‘Here’ (Care Unbound) 

2 - - - 

Dr Tim Caroe - Chief Medical Officer - Integrated 
Care 24 Ltd 

3,771 - - - 

Dr Hannah Hewlett - Salaried GP at Lime Tree 
Surgery 

6,924 - - (14) 

Anna Rayleigh - Faculty of Public Health - West 
Sussex County Council 

37,036 - 93 (62) 

Total 91,374 (55) 443 (76) 
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NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a membership organisation made up of the GP 
Practices within Coastal West Sussex. GPs and Practice Managers from these 
practices are involved in the commissioning activities of the CCG. Practices have GP 
partners and Practice Managers sitting on the Governing Body and on the Clinical 
Commissioning Executive as well as acting as Clinical Leads, Locality Directors and 
attending locality meetings and other CCG commissioning meetings. 
 
The total expenditure of CWS CCG with its constituent GP practice membership is in 
excess of £5 million. The majority of this expenditure will be for Locally 
Commissioned Services, Local Incentive Schemes and Prescribing. The transactions 
relating to the GP Partners and Practice Managers who sit on the Governing Body 
and on the Clinical Commissioning Executive are included above. 
 
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the clinical 
commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with 
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The NHS 
organisations listed below are those where transactions over the year 2019-20 have 
exceeded £500k:  

 
NHS England 
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 
NHS NEL CSU 
Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust 
Surrey & Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 
Non Contracted Activity (NCA) Accruals and unassigned part-completed 
episodes with NHS Trusts 
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust 
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust 
Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
Queen Victoria Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
NHS Property Services 
NHS South, Central and West CSU 
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 
 

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other 
government departments and other central and local government bodies. 
Transactions with other Government Departments over the year, 2019-20, which 
have, exceeded £500k: 
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West Sussex County Council 
Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

 

17. Events after the end of the reporting period 

18. Financial performance targets 
 

Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows: 
 

  2019-20 2019-20   2019-20 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 

 

 
Target 
(£'000) 

Performance 
(£'000)   

Duty 
Achieved  Target 

(£'000) 
Performance 

(£'000) 

Duty 
Achieved 

 
Expenditure not to 

exceed income 

2
2
3

I (1
) 

849,337 849,085  Yes 808,912 808,907 Yes 

Capital resource use 
does not exceed the 
amount specified in 
Directions 
 

2
2
3

I (2
) 

912 912  Yes 213 213 Yes 

Revenue resource use 

does not exceed the 

amount specified in 

Directions 

2
2
3

I(3
) 

848,361 848,109  Yes 806,803 806,797 Yes 

Revenue resource use 

on specified matter(s) 

does not exceed the 

amount specified in 

Directions 

 

2
2

3
J
 (2

) 

- -   - -  

Revenue administration 

resource use does not 

exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 

2
2
3

J
(3

) 

11,305 11,024  Yes 10,876 10,842 Yes 
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The CCG has achieved all of its set performance duties for 2019-20. 
 
Note: For the purposes of 223H(1), expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross 
expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year. Income is defined as the 
aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and 
all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under 
provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis). 
    
*The difference between the two figures is the CCG’s surplus of £252k [2018-19: £6k 
surplus] for the period as reported on the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure on page 136. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING 
BODY OF NHS WEST SUSSEX CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2020 under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement 
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the 
related notes 1 to 19. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 
2019/20 HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (the 2019/20 FReM) as 
contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2019/20 and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with 
the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in 
England (the Accounts Direction). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Coastal West Sussex 
Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2020 and of its net operating costs 
for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report below. We are independent of the clinical 
commissioning group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
and the Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG)  AGN01, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of matter – Disclosures in relation to the effects of COVID-19 and 
merger of Coastal West Sussex CCG with Crawley CCG and Horsham and Mid 
Sussex CCG 
 
We draw attention to Note 1.1 – Going Concern of the financial statements, which 
describes the financial and operational consequences the CCG is facing as a result 
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of COVID-19 which is impacting future financial planning and contractual 
arrangements for patient care within the NHS . Our opinion is not modified in respect 
of this matter. 
 
We also draw attention to 1.1 – Going Concern and note 18 - Events after the end of 
the reporting period to the financial statements which explains that NHS Coastal 
West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group was dissolved on 31st March 2020 
having joined with NHS Crawley Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Horsham & 
Mid Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group to establish NHS West Sussex CCG with 
effect from 1st April 2020. In accordance with Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 the financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis. Our opinion is not modified in this respect of this matter. 
 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 
 

 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

 
 
Other information 
 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out 
on pages 3 to 135, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 
In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the 
Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 

 in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance 
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or 
an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves 
or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or 
has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 
31 March 2020. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects.  
 
 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set 
out on pages 85 to 86, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and 
is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for 
assessing the Clinical Commissioning Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable Officer either intends to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is 
responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the use of the CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires 
that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper 
arrangements are in place. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.   
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements 
to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve 
planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller 
and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider 
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in 
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a 
view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 
 
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our 
opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Regularity opinion 
 
We are responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income 
in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 
"Code of Audit Practice"). 
 
We are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to 
the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts ofNHS Coastal West 
Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS West 
Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the 
CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Helen Thompson (Key Audit Partner) 
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor) 
Southampton 
25 June 2020 
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Glossary 
 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

AEO Accountable Emergency Officer 

BAF Board Assurance Framework 

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

BCF Better Care Fund 

BSUH  Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 

CCA  Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

CCC Children’s Continuing Care 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CDOP Child Death Overview Panels 

CETV Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 

CHC Continuing Health Care 

CPA Care Programme Approach 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CSU Commissioning Support Unit 

CYP Children and Young People 

DSP Data Security and Protection 

EDS2 Equality Delivery System 2 

EHIA Equality and Health Inequality Impact Assessments 

EPRR Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response 

HWB Health and Wellbeing Board 

IAF Improvement and Assessment Framework 

IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office 
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ICS Integrated Care System 

JHWS Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

LCS Locally Commissioned Service 

LGBT Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 

LMS Local Maternity System 

MHIS Mental Health Investment Standard 

MLU Midwife Led Unit 

MVP Maternity Voices Partnerships 

NHS National Health Service 

NHSE NHS England 

NHSI NHS Improvement 

PCN Primary Care Network 

PPG  Patient Participation Groups 

PSED Public Sector Equality Duty 

QIPP Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

ReSPECT Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care 

RTT Referral to Treatment  

SCAS  South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

SCFT Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 

SECAmb 
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust 

SHCP Sussex Health and Care Partnership 

SIGG Strategic Information Governance Group 

SIRO Senior Information Risk Owner 

SPFT  Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 



NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20    179 

 

TCP Transforming Care Partnership 

TtT Time to Talk 

UTC Urgent Treatment Centre 

WDES Workforce Disability Equality Standard 

WRES Workforce Race Equality Standard 

WSCC West Sussex County Council 

WTE  Whole Time Equivalent 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


